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“Genitope Corporafion

Delivering on the promise of personalized medicine™

To Qur Stockholders:

Genitope Corporation was founded on the premise that personalized immunotherapy represents the next
generation of cancer therapies and’ a breakthrough in patient care, with the potential to enhance the lives of
thousands of cancer patients worldwide. ' '

Over the years, cancer patienis have benefited from advances in surgery, radiation and chemotherapy. We
believe personalized immunotherapy is the next leap forward in patient care. Personalized immunotherapy is
designed to harness the power of a patient’s own immune system to develop a therapy made individually and
specifically for that patient to fight his or her cancer. This approach is exhilarating, as it offers the possibility of a
treatment option with an enviable safety profile, durable remission and improved long-term survival.

Genitope Corporation’s lead compound, called MyVax® personalized immunotherapy, represents our first
application of this breakthrough approach. We remain focused on investigating My Vax® personalized immuno-
therapy to address non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma (NHL) and related B-cell cancers, many of which, including follicular
non-Hodgkin’s lymphoms (fNHL) are viewed as incurable. NHL is the sixth most common cancer and the sixth
leading cause of death among cancers in the United States. There are currently more than 300,000 people in the
country living with NHL, and approximately 55,000 new cases are diagnosed annually. Our goal is nothing short of
changing the course of this disease.

We are committed to bringing MyVax® personalized immunotherapy for follicular pon-Hodgkin’s lymphoma
(fNHL) to market as soon as possible. In 2006 we focused our efforts on advancing MyVax® personalized
immunotherapy toward regulatory approval, expanding our clinical and monoclonal antibody development
program, and continuing to evolve into a commercial organization.

From a clinical perspective, following a review of the second planned interim analysis of data for efficacy and
safety in our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial of MyVax® personalized immunotherapy. Our Data Safety Monitoring
Board recommended that we continue the trial as planned. Although we had hoped for a more definitive positive
outcome from this interim look, we anticipate that we will obtain the initial analysis of the final results from our
Phase 3 clinical trial by the end of 2007. This initial analysis should indicate whether a statistically sigaificant
increase in progression-free survival was observed in patients receiving MyVax® personalized immunotherapy
compared to patients receiving the control substance. We continue to work closely with the FDA in preparation for a
potential Biologics License Application (BLA) filing in 2008 if the results of this trial are successful, We are also
pleased that we received fast track status for MyVax® personalized immunotherapy from the Food & Drug
Administration in 2006.

Our clinical efforts continued in 2006 as we began to explore how MyVax® personalized immunotherapy
might integrate with existing fNHL treatment protocols. We presented data from an ongoing Phase II clinical trial
evaluating MyVax® personalized immunotherapy following rituximab at last year’s American Society of Clinical
Oncology annual meeting, and this year, we are planning to initiate trials to explore the use of MyVax® personalized
immunotherapy after treatment with rituximab and chemotherapy. Further, we believe in the potential for MyVax®
personalized immunotherapy to treat other types of B-cell cancers. In February 2006, we initiated Phase I/l clinical
trials of MyVax® personalized immunotherapy for the treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL).

In anticipation of our next phase of development, we enhanced our expertise and continued to develop the
infrastructure and operations necessary to support commercialization. We finished the build-out and then moved to
our new headquarters in Fremont, California at the end of 2006. In addition Lo our executive staff, this facilitv houses
all of our operations and includes a state-of-the-art manufacturing facility that will enable us to produce MyVax®
personalized immunotherapy quickly and efficiently.




Beyond the MyVax® personalized immunotherapy clinical program, we advanced our other R&D initiatives,
including our program to develop personalized monoclonal antibody therapies to treat B-cell NHL and other B-cell
cancers. We are optimistic that, if successfully developed, our monoclonal antibodies, coupled with MyVax®
personalized immunotherapy, could provide a more personalized treatment than current therapies and a chemo-
therapy-free regimen for the treatment of NHL. In 2006, we continued to make progress on the initial development
of the monoclonal antibody panel and moved forward with plans for the filing of an Investigational New Drug (IND})
application, a prerequisite to initiating clinical trials.

In support of our corporate goals, we continue to strengthen and expand our management team. In May 2006,
Mary Ellen Rybak, M.D., joined the company as Vice President of Medical Affairs and Chief Medical Officer.

Dr. Rybak’s extensive experience in oncology drug development and clinical trial management provides invaluable
expertise to our efforts to bring MyVax® personalized immunotherapy to market and broaden our product pipeline.

We would like to express our gratitude to the employees of Genitope Corporation who come to work everyday
so that cancer patients might have another option in their fight against the discase. We also pay tribute to the patients
and their families, and to the physicians who have participated in our clinical trials and put their trust in our
therapies. We would not have accomplished all that we have without their help.

In closing, 2006 was a challenging and productive year for Genitope Corporation. We recognize that many
challenges remain as we continue our efforts to transform into a commercial enterprise, but believe that we have
great potential for success.. We look forward to what lies ahead.

Thank you for your continued support.

Sincerely,

Dok By

Dan W. Denney, Jr., Ph.D.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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PART 1

Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report on Form 10-K, including the section entitled "Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” contains “forward-looking” statements within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, which are subject to the “safe harbor” created by those sections. These forward -looking statements
include, but are not limited to, statements about; :

s the progress of our research, development and clinical programs, the timing of the final analysis of our
pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial, the timing of submission of a Biologics License Application, or BLA, for MyVax
to the Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, and the timing of commercialization of MyVax, or any other
immunotherapies we may develop; ‘

« our ability to develop, market, commercialize and achieve market acceptance for MyVax, or any other
immunotherapies we may develop;

the timing of completion of, and expenses associated with the equipping and qualification of our new
manufacturing facility and corporate headquarters and any further build-out that may be required 1o
provide additional manufacturing capacity for commercialization;

s our ability to protect our intellectual property and operate our business without infringing upon the
intellectual property rights of others;

our estimates for future performance and growth of the company;

the breadth of applications of our immunotherapies, potential benefits of our monoclonal antibody panel
and the timing of filing of a related investigational new drug, or IND, application; and

our estimates regarding anticipated operating losses, future revenues, capital requirements, sufficiency of
our capital resources and our needs for additional financing.

These forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations, assumptions, estimates and pro-
jections about our business and industry and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that
could cause our or our industry’s actual results to differ materially from any results, levels of activity, performance
or achievements expressed in or contemplated or implied by the forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements are generally identified by words such as “believe,” “should,” “could” “estimate,” “schedule,” "may,”
“potential,” “future,” “predict,” “continue,” “might,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “expects,” “will” “intends” and
other similar words and expressions. The risks discussed in “Risk Factors,” under Part I, Item 1A below, and
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, should be considered in evaluating our prospects and future
financial performance. We undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements, whether as
a result of new information, future events or otherwise, after the date of this report.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

BUSINESS
Overview

We are a biotechnology company focused on the research and development of novel immunotherapies for the
treatment of cancer. Immunotherapies are treatments that utilize the immune system to combat diseases. Our lead
product candidate, MyVax personalized immunotherapy, is a patient-specific active immunotherapy that is based on
the unique genetic makeup of a patient’s tumor and is designed to activate a patient’s immune system to identify and
attack cancer cells. MyVax is currently in a pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for the treatment of follicutar B-cell nen-
Hodgkin’s lymphoma, or B-cell NHL. We anticipate that we will obtain the initial results of the primary analysis,
that is, whether a statistically significant increase in progression-free survival is observed in patients receiving
MyVax compared 1o patients receiving the control substance, from our Phase 3 clinical trial by the end of 2007;
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however, it will take several months following the last patient visit, currently planned for November 2007, to
complete all the final analyses of the data from our Phase 3 clinical trial. Results from our completed and ongoing
clinical trials of My Vax for the treatment of B-cell NHL indicate that MyVax is generally safe and well tolerated.
We believe that, if successful, the results of our Phase 3 clinical trial will support our application for regulatory
approval of MyVax for the treatment of follicular B-cell NHL.

We believe that patient-specific active immunotherapies can also be applied successfully to the treatment of
other cancers. As a result, we initiated a Phase 2 clinical trial in February 2006 to evaluate MyVax for the treatment
of chronic lymphocytic leukemia, or CLL. This clinical trial is being conducted at eight sites across the
United States. Patients in this Phase 2 clinical trial are administered 16 immunizations over 52 weeks. The
primary endpoint of the Phase 2 clinical trial is whether or not an immune response can be generated. We have
completed enrollment of 76 patients in this trial and the immunization phase has begun,

We are also developing a panel of monoclonal antibodies that we believe potentially represents an additional
novel, personalized approach for treating NHL, both alone and in synergistic combination with MyVax. We recently
filed patent applications for the composition and therapeutic use of this panel. The monoclonal antibodies could
eventually be used alone or in synergistic combination with MyVax and might reduce or eliminate the need for
chemothetapy in the eafly treatment of NHL. We currently intend to file an investigational new drug application, or
IND, in the first half 2008 and initiate clinical trials thereafter.

In addition, we recently completed the construction build-out of cur new corporate headquarters and
manufacturing facility in Fremont, California, During the third and fourth quarters of 2006, we moved all of
our operations from our facility in Redwood City, California to our new facility in Fremont, California.

MyVax Pivotal Phase 3 Clinical Trial

In November 2000, based on positive interim Phase 2 clinical trial results, we initiated a pivotal, randomized,
double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 3 clinical trial, our 2000-03 trial, to assess the safety and efficacy of My Vax
in treating patients with previously untreated follicular B-cell NHL. This Phase 3 clinical trial of MyVax is being
conducted at 34 treatment centers in the United States and Canada. In this clinical trial, patients first received
chemotherapy to reduce their tumor burden, followed by a rest period. Patients who maintained at least a partial
response through the rest period were then randomized to receive either MyVax or a non-specific immunotherapy,
which serves as the control for this trial. We have enrolled 287 patients in this trial; the treatment phase is completed
and the detailed follow-up period of the clinical trial is scheduled to conclude in approximately the fourth quarter of
2007. In July 2006, our independent Data Safety Monitoring Board, or DSMB, met and reviewed the second
planned interim analysis of data for efficacy and safety in our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial and recommended that
the trial continue as planned. We anticipate that we will obtain the initial results of the primary analysis, that is,
whether a statistically significant increase in progression-free survival is observed in patients receiving MyVax
compared to patients receiving the control substance, from our Phase 3 clinical trial by the end of 2007; however, it
will take several months following the last patient visit curvently planned for November 2007, to complate all the
final analyses of the data from our Phase 3 clinical trial.

Sales and Marketing

We have exclusive worldwide sales and marketing rights for My Vax. Subject to regulatory approval, we intend
to manufacture and commercialize MyVax and to establish a North American sales force to market and sell MyVax.,
Due to the concentrated nature of the oncology market, we believe that we can sell MyVax in North America with a
small sales force.

Manufacturing

Active immunotherapies similar to MyVax have been studied in clinical trials for over 8 years. Results from
clinical trials at Stanford University Medical Center and the National Cancer Institute, or NCI, suggest that active
immunotherapies may induce long-term remission and may improve survival in follicular B-cell NHL patients.
Despite the results of the Stanford and NCI clinical trials, further development of an active immunotherapeutic
approach to the wreatment of NHL historically has been limited by significant manufacturing difficulties. We have
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developed a proprietary manufacturing process, which includes our patented Hi-GET gene amplification tech-
nology, which is designed to overcome many of these historical manufacturing limitations. As compared to other
existing manufacturing methods for active immunotherapies, we believe that our process is efficient, modular and
reproducible, which we believe will enable us to manufacture and commercialize patient-specific active immu-
notherapies for the treatment of NHL and potentially other cancers.

In May 2005, we entered into lease agreements to lease an aggregate of approximately 220,000 square feet of
space located in two buildings in Fremont, California for our new manufactoring facility and corporate head-
guarters. We also have options to lease adjacent expansion space. We began the build-out of the two-building
facility in the fourth quarter of 2005 and completed construction in the fourth quarter of 2006, although we have not
yet fully equipped or validated the facility. The facility is designed for the production of MyVax for 3,600 patients
each year and, if MyVax receives regulatory approval, our facility would require us to purchase and install
additional equipment to achieve this level of manufacturing capacity.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in the State of Delaware on August 15, 1996. Our principal executive offices are located
at 6900 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont, California and our telephone number is (510) 284-3000.

The Immune Systemn and Cancer

The immune system is the body’s natural defense mechanism to prevent and combat disease. The primary
disease fighting functions of the immune system are carried out by white blood cells. In response to the presence of
disease, white blood cells can mediate two types of immune responses, referred to as innate immunity and adaptive
immunity. Together the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system generally provide an effective defense
against a broad spectrum of diseases.

[nnate immunity is mediated by the white blood cells that engulf and digest infecting microorganisms known
as pathogens. These white blood cells are the first line of defense against many common infections because they do
not require that the body be previously exposed to the pathogens. The role of the innate immune system is to control
infections while adaptive immunity is being established for that pathogen.

Adaptive immunity is generated by the immune system throughout a person’s lifetime as he or she is exposed
to particular pathogens. As a person is exposed to a pathogen, the adaptive immune response will, in many cases,
confer life-long protection from re-infection by the same pathogen. This adaptive immune response is the basis for
preventative vaccines that protect against viral and bacterial infections such as measles, polio, diphtheria and
tetanus.

Adaptive immunity is mediated by a subset of white blood cells called lymphocytes, which are divided into
two types, B-cells and T-cells. B-cells and T-cells recognize molecules, usually proteins, known as antigens. An
antigen is a molecule or substance that reacts with an antibody or a receptor on a T-cell. When a B-cell recognizes a
specific antigen, it secretes proteins, known as antibodies, which in turn bind to a target containing that antigen and
tag it for destruction by other white blood cells. When a T-cell recognizes an antigen, it either promotes the
activation of other white blood cells or initiates destruction of the target cells directly. The collective group of
B-cells and T-cells can recognize a wide array of antigens, but each individual B-cell or T-cell will recognize only
one specific antigen. Because of this specificity, few lymphocytes will recognize the same antigen.

Despite the effectiveness of the immune system in defending the body against infectious disease, it is generally
ineffective in defending the body against a cancer once it has appeared. The immune system has developed
numerous immune suppression mechanisms to prevent it from destroying a person’s normal tissue, and these same
mechanisms are believed to prevent an immune response from being mounted against cancer cells. In addition, the
cancer cells themselves can make changes that reduce the ability of the immune system to attack the tumor.

Immunotherapy and Cancer

Immunotherapies utilize a person’s immune system in an attempt to combat diseases, including cancer. There
are two forms of immunotherapy used to treat various-diseases: passive and active. Both types of immunotherapy
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have been used with success to treat a number of different diseases. For example, active immunotherapies in the
form of preventative vaccines have enabled the complete or virtual elimination of viral diseases such as smallpox
and polio.

Passive immunotherapy is characterized by the iatroduction into a patient of antibodies specific to a particular
antigen. When antibodies are infused into a cancer patient, they attach to any cell that displays the antigen. The
patient’s immune system then responds to eliminate those specific cells tagged by the antibody. Alternatively,
radioactive malecules or toxins can be attached to an antibody before it is infused into the patient to kill the tagged
cells directly. Although the protection that is provided by a passive immunotherapy is immediate. it is invariably
temporary. Consequently, while passive immunotherapies have shown clinical benefits in some cancers, and some
have improved safety profiles compared to existing therapies, they require repeated infusions and can cause the
destruction of normal cells as well as cancer cells.

An active immunotherapy generates an adaptive immune response by introducing an antigen into a patient,
often in combination with other components that can enhance an immune response to the antigen. The specific
adaptive immunity generated can include both the production of antigen-specific antibodies made by B-cells,
known as humoral immunity, and the production of antigen-specific T-cells, known as cellular immunity.

Active immunotherapies have been successful in preventing many infectious diseases, such as measles,
mumps or diphtheria, but the approach has been less successful in treating cancer. Historically, the reasons that
effective active immunotherapies for cancer have been difficult to develop included the:

* inability of tumor antigens to elicit an effective immune response;
» difficulty in identifying suitable target tumor antigens;
* inability to manufacture tumor antigens in sufficiently pure form;

* inability to manufacture sufficient quantities of tumor antigens;

failure to identify effective components to combine with tumor antigens to enhance an immune response; and
* failure to employ immuaization methods that elicit an effective immune response.

We believe that an effective active immunotherapeutic approach for cancer would result from immunizing
patients with sufficient quantities of purified, tumor-specific antigens administered with additional components to
increase the immunogenicity of these antigens. Immunogenicity is the ability of an antigen to evoke an immune
response within an organism. Utilizing this type of immunotherapy should allow a patieat’s own immune system to
produce both B-cells and T-cells which recognize numerous portions of the tumor antigen and generate clinically
significant immune responses. During the late 1980s, physicians at Stanford began development of an active
immunotherapy with these characteristics for the treatment of follicular B-cell NHL.

Non-Hodgkin’s Lymphoma

Background. NHL is a cancer of B-cell and T-cell lymphocytes. Currently, in the United States there are over
300,000 patients diagnosed with NHL, with approximately 55,000 newly diagnosed cases annually. Approximately
85% to 90% of patients diagnosed with NHL in the United States have B-cell NHL. The international market for
NHL is estimated to be at least equal in size to the United States market. NHL is the sixth most common cancer and
the sixth leading cause of death among cancers in the United States.

NHL is clinically classified by its microscopic pathology at diagnosis. We are initially developing My Vax for
the treatment of follicular B-cell NHL and have clinical trials in diffuse large B-cell and mantte cell NHL. Follicular
B-cell NHL constitutes approximately 22% of all NHL. Diffuse large B-cell NHL constitutes approximately 30% of
all NHL. Mantle cell NHL constitutes approximately 6% of all NHL. Although follicular B-cell NHL progresses at
a slow rate, it is viewed as an incurable cancer with the currently available therapies. According to the American
Cancer Society, the median survival time from diagnosis for patients with stage III/IV follicular B-cell NHL is
between seven and ten years. Unlike follicular B-cell NHL, approximately 40% of diffuse large B-cell NHL cases
are cured by standard chemotherapy. The remaining patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma typically require
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more extensive treatment regimens, and some ultimately undergo bone marrow transplants which may or may not
be effective in any individual case. Similar to follicular B-cell NHL, mantle cell NHL is viewed as incurable,

Current Treatments. Chemotherapy alone was previously used as first-line therapy for NHL and has been
effective in managing some forms of these cancers. Although chemotherapy can substantially reduce the tumor
mass and in most cases achieve a clinical remission, the remissions have not been durable. Follicular B-cell NHL.
patients invariably relapse within a few months or years of initial treatment, and the cancer becomes increasingly
resistant to further chemotherapy treatments. Eventually, patients may become refractory to chemotherapy,
meaning their response to therapy is so brief that further chemotherapy regimens would offer no significant benefit.

Passive immunotherapies, such as Rituxan, have also demonstrated the ability to induce remission in patients
with follicular B-cell NHL. But single agent passive immunotherapy has also failed to provide long-term remissions
for most patients. In the last few years, Rituxan has been combined with standard chemotherapy regimens for NHL,
improving remission rates as compared to chemotherapy alone. This combination has become the most common
therapy for follicular B-cell NHL. Although passive immunotherapies such as Rituxan are better tolerated than
standard chemotherapy, severe and/or life-threatening reactions, such as cytopenias and infusion reactions, ¢an
occur during administration and require careful patient monitoring. In addition, non-neutropenic infections have
been reported especially with chemotherapy plus Rituxan combinations. More recently, “Black Box™ warnings
have been added to the Rituxan package insert detailing the incidents of fatal reactions, tumor lysis syndrome and
severe mucocutaneous reactions.

Even with the advent of combination therapies involving passive immunotherapies, most patients eventually
relapse and/or become resistant. Salvage therapy encompasses various approaches, including high-dose chemo-
therapy, which may be performed to treat refractory follicular B-cell NHL patients or those at high risk for relapse
from primary therapy. This approach results in the destruction of essential levels of red and white blood cells and
requires stem cell transplants to be performed to restore a patient’s blood count. Stem cell transplants continue to be
expensive and are associated with high morbidity and significant mortality. Ultimately, even these very aggressive
treatment regimens may not provide long-term remission for most patients.

Active Idiotype Immunotherapy

The active immunotherapy developed at Stanford was focused on the treatment of a cancer of B-lymphocytes
known as follicular B-cell NHL, This immunotherapy consists of a patient-specific tumor protein and a foreign
carrier protein administered with an adjuvant to enhance the immune response. Patient-specific tumor proteins,
which include idiotype proteins, are proteins expressed by a tumor cell that are unique to an individual’s tamor cell.
A foreign carrier protein is a type of protein, which when coupled to a non-immunogenic or weakly immunogenic
antigen, increases the immunogenicity of the antigen. An adjuvant is a substance that is administered with an
antigen to enhance or increase the immune response to that antigen.

The key to the cancer immunotherapy developed at Stanford is the fact that the patient-specific tumor protein is
the antibody expressed by the cancerous B-cells. Because the patient’s cancerous B-cells are replicates of a single
malignant B-cell, all of the cancerous B-cells express the same antibody. Each antibody has unique portions,
collectively known as the idiotype, which can be recognized by the immune system. This type of active
immunotherapy is referred to as an active idiotype immunotherapy. It utilizes the patient- and tumor-specific
antibody, or idiotype protein, as an antigen to direct the patient’s immune system to mount an immune response
against the targeted tumor cells. Because the antigen is specific to the cancerous B-cells and not found on normal
B-cells, the immune system should target the cancerous B-cells for desiruction while leaving normal B-cells
unharmed. )

The Stanford clinical trials began in 1988 for the treatment of follicular B-cell NHL. The first clinical trial
involved 41 patients with indolent B-cell NHL who commenced their course of immunizations between November
1988 and December 1995. These patients were immunized while in remission following chemotherapy. The treated
patients had either a complete response to chemotherapy, defined as no detectable tumor, or a partial response to
chemotherapy, defined as at least a 50% reduction in their tumor volume. Of the 41 patients treated, 32 were in
remission following their first course of chemotherapy, while the remaining patients were in remission following
two or three courses of chemotherapy.




Positive immune responses to the patient-specific active idiotype immunotherapy were detected in 20 of the
41 immunized patients, including 14 of the 32 patients in first remission following chemotherapy. The median
time-to-disease progression for all 4] patients in the clinical trial was reported to be 4.4 years from the last
chemotherapy regimen. Time-to-disease progression measures the interval of time between response t¢ chemo-
therapy and recurrence of disease. The median time-to-disease progression was further analyzed by dividing
patients into two groups based upon the presence or absence of an immune response. The median time-to-disease
progression was calculated to be 7.9 years for the 20 immune response positive patients and 1.3 years for the
21 immune response negative patients. The median time-to-disease progression for the 32 patients in first remission
was virtually identical to that for the 41 total patients, which suggests that patient-specific active idiotype
immunotherapy may be as effective in the larger population of relapsed patients as in the smaller population
of newly diagnosed patients. Median survival time was also measured for patients treated in the clinical trial. At the
time of publication, the median survival time of all 4] immunized patients had not been reached, and the
investigators reported that the median survival time of all 41 patients was significantly longer than the median
survival time seen in patients having the same type of NHL who were treated with chemotherapy atone. NHL
patients treated at Stanford with chemotherapy alone had a median survival time of 10.9 years. The fact that the
median survival time had not been reached for the 41 immunized patients demonstrates that these patients have a
median survival time that is greater than 10.9 years. The median survival time of the 20 immune response positive
patients had not been reached versus a median survival time of seven years calculated for the 21 immune response
negative patients. The results are statistically significant and suggest that an active idiotype immunctherapy, similar
to MyVax, may induce long-term remission and improve survival in follicular NHL patients.

Long-term resuits from the first Stanford clinical trial were published in the medical journal Blood in May
1997 and are presented in the following table.

Medizan Time Median
to Disease Survival
Patients Progression Time
Total. . .. e 41 4.4 years Not Reached
Immune Response Positive . ................ ... ... 20 7.9 years®*  Not Reached
Immune Response Negative. .. ...................... 21 1.3 years 7.0 years*

* Indicates a median calculated based on available data using Kaplan-Meier analysis. Kaplan-Meier analysis is a
statistical calculation that allows for the estimation of a median time when not all of the patients have reached the
event being measured (e.g., survival or progression) at the time of analysis.

An independent clinical trial of a patient-specific active idiotype immunotherapy similar to the one tested at
Stanford was conducted at the NCI to treat patients with follicular B-cell NHL. The NCI clinical trial results were
published in Nature Medicine in October 1999. Patients treated in the NCI clinical trial had previously achieved a
clinical complete response following an initial course of chemotherapy, that is, no tumor was apparent by physical
examination and CT scans, Positive immune responses 1o the patient-specific active idiotype immunotherapy were
reported for 19 of 20 immunized patients. Despite the fact that all 20 patients were in clinical complete remission,
11 of these 20 patients were shown to have lymphoma cells in their peripheral blood following chemotherapy using
a very sensitive DNA-based test. After completing the course of immunization with the active idiotype immu-
notherapy, eight of these 11 patients were shown to have no lymphoma cells in their peripheral blood using the
DNA-based test. These results suggest that active idiotype immunotherapy was able to induce a molecular complete
response in patients that had minimal residual disease following chemotherapy.

Despite the results of the Stanford and NCl clinical trials, further development of an active immunotherapeutic
approach to the treatment of NHL historically has been limited by significant manufacturing difficulties. The
production technology that was used to manufacture these active idiotype immunotherapies at Stanford and NCl is
known as rescue fusion. Rescue fusion is a method that generates cell lines, referred to as hybridomas, which are
created by combining, or fusing, the patient’s live tumor cells with cells from a cell line that grows indefinitely in
culture. The resulting hybridomas are screened to identify those which secrete the idiotype protein present on the
patient’s tumor cells, We believe that rescue fusion cannot be used to produce these patient-specific
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immunotherapies for the number of patients and at a cost that would enable widespread commercial use. The
barriers to commercialization ‘'using the rescue fusion method include:

« the need for a relatively large sample of fresh tumor cells, requiring a surgical biopsy;

+ the need for rapid processing, as viable tumor cells are required;

a 10% to 20% failure rate;

« inconsistent and variable manufacturing timelines which frequently fall outside the desired clinical treat-
ment timeline; and

+ low productivity on a per technician basis.

MyVax Personalized Immunotherapy

My Vax is an injectable patient-specific active idiotype immunotherapy that we are develbping initially for the
treatment of follicular B-cell NHL. We have also completed the treatment phase of a Phase 2 clinical trial, our 9902
trial, to treat patients initially diagnosed with diffuse large B-cell NHL or mantle cell NHL. Additionally, we have
initiated a Phase 2 clinical trial to evaluate MyVax for the treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia, or CLL.
MyVax combines a patient and tumor-specific antibody, or idiotype protein, with a foreign carrier protein and is
administered with an adjuvant. We have developed a proprietary manufacturing process for MyVax, which includes
our patented Hi-GET gene amplification technology. Our manufacturing process is designed to overcome the
barriers to commercialization of active idiotype immunotherapies that are associated with the use of a hybridorna-
based process such as rescue fusion. In comparison to other cancer therapies, MyVax is designed to provide:

Efficacious and lasting treatment: We believe, based on our analysis of our clinical trials, that (1) MyVax has
the potential to provide durable remissions and extend survival in a substantial percentage of the B-cell NHL
patients who are treated with MyVax and (2) this therapeutic benefit could be greater than the benefit thar is
provided by currently available therapies, including passive immunotherapies such as Rituxan.

Safety: MyVax has demonstrated an excellent safety profile to date. MyVax has been well tolerated in
clinical trials, with the majority of adverse events being only mild to moderate. in our clinical trials, these adverse
events have included injection site and systemic effects. The most commonly reported injection adverse events were
bruising, swelling, redness, itching, inflammation, pain and other similar reactions at the injection site, The most
commonly reported systemic adverse events were fatigue, influenza-like illness, fever, chills, nausea, pain, back,
chest or muscle pain, rash and diarrhea. Furthermore, MyVax is designed to target only the idiotype protein unigue
to tumor cells and, thus, should not harm normal cells or impair a patient’s immune system. With an intact immune
system, patients are less likely to develop significant complications, such as infections that have been reported. in
patients treated with Rituxan.

Ease of administration: The administration of MyVax can be accomplished during a 30-minute: outpatient
visit, which includes the immunizations followed by an observation period, with each injection taking less than a
minute. In comparison, currently available passive immunotherapies such as Rituxan must be administered via a
series of lengthy, intravenous infusions. Each infusion of a passive immunotherapy takes hours, requires patients to
be monitored for infusion reactions on multiple occasions during the infusion and can result in serious compli-
cations for patients.

Ease of sample collection:  The tumor samples used to produce My Vax are collected using standard medical
procedures that are commonly used in the diagnosis and staging of cancer patients, Our manufacturing process is
designed to require only a small number of tumor cells, which need not be living cells, in order to produce My Vax or
any other active idiotype immunotherapies that we may develop. The required tumor samples can be acquired by
surgical or non-surgical means, can be frozen and are shipped to our central facility, eliminating the need for on-site
processing.

Efficient manufacturing: Our manufacturing process is designed to enable MyVax to be produced within a
clinically relevant time-frame for virtually every B-cell NHL patient whose tumor expresses an idiotype protein,
enabling an oncologist to schedule a patient’s therapy with a high degree of certainty. In addition, our manufacturing
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process is designed to enable the reliable production of patient-specific active immunotherapies utilizing a less
labor-intensive process than is associated with rescue fusion, permitting us to produce MyVax at cost levels that can
yield margins that are competitive with current cancer treatments. Finally, our manofacturing process is designed to
permit the expansion of production capacity to meet market demand.

Commercial feasibility: 'We believe that our ability to combine a potentially safe and efficacious active
idiotype immunotherapy that offers case of administration and ease of sample collection with an efficient, scalable
and reproducible manufacturing process should make MyVax a commercially feasible treatment for B-cell NHL.,
The safety and ease of administration of MyVax compared to currently available passive immunotherapies such as
Rimxan should reduce the medical intervention required on behalf of patients during and after treatment and
subsequently reduce the associated cost of care for patients with B-cell NHL.

Monoclonal Antibody Program

We are developing a monoclonal antibody panel that we believe will potentially represent a novel, person-
alized approach for treating NHL. We recently filed patent applications for the composition and therapeutic use of
this panel. The monoclonal antibodies could eventually be used alone or in synergistic combination with MyVax
and might reduce or eliminate the need for chemotherapy in the early treatment of NHL.

Our monoclonal antibodies are directed against specific portions of proteins, or epitopes, in the variable
regions of the B-cell receptor, or the BCR. Our approach is based on the finding that even though each NHL
patient’s B-cell tumor expresses a unique idiotypic surface immunoglobulin (the BCR), those immuneglobulins
nevertheless have characteristics that are shared across predictable patient subsets. We have developed 2 panel of
manoclonal antibodies that bind to BCR proteins based on their particular genetic makeup. It is possible to classify
NHL patients into subsets based on which variable region is used by their particular tumor. This c¢lassification
allows for the production of monoclonal antibodies that are off-the-shelf, while still personalizing the treatment for
each patient. Our monoclonal antibodies should leave the majority of the B-cell repertoire of a patient’s immune
system intact since they target only the subpopulation of a patient’s B-cells that share the same variable region as the
lymphoma,

We are actively working to complete the initial development of the monoclonal antibody panel and production
of clinical-grade material. We currently intend to file an IND application in the first half of 2008 and initiate clinical
trials thereafter.

Our Strategy

Our objective 1s 1o commercialize MyVax for the treatment of NHL, as well as other immunotherapies for the
treatment of other types of cancer. Qur strategy to achieve this objective includes the following:

Commercialize MyVax for NHL. In order to commercialize MyVax for NHL, we plan to:

Obtain regulatory approval of MyVax. 'We are focused on completing our Phase 3 clinical trial,
filing a BLA, and seeking regulatory approval for MyVax, initially in North America.

Expand manufacturing capacity. 'We plan to expand our manufacturing capacity to meet antic-
ipated demand upen commercialization. To that end, we have recently completed the build-out of a new
manufacturing facility and corporate headquarters. We believe that our scalable manufacturing process
will enable us to expand our manufacturing capacity in an efficient and timely manner.

Build North American sales and marketing infrastructure.  QOur goal is to directly commercialize
MyVax in North America. We plan to build a small, highly-focused sales and marketing infrastructure to
market My Vax to the relatively small and well-established community and institutional referral networks
of cancer treatment physicians. We believe that the oncology market in North America is readily
accessible by a limited sales and marketing presence due to the concentration of prescribing physicians.

Commercialize MyVax internationally. 'We plan to seek regulatory approval of and, if approval is
obtained, to commercialize MyVax in markets outside North America. As appropriate, we intend to
explore establishing collaborations to assist in the international commercialization of My Vax.
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Commercialize MyVax for other types of cancers. We believe that My Vax has potential applications beyond
B-cell NHL. We plan to develop MyVax for additional types of cancers where we believe that it is a potentially
effective treatment, with additional types of B-cell cancers as our initial focus. In particular, in February 2006, we
initiated a Phase 2 clinical trial to evaluate MyVax for the treatment of CLL. This clinical trial is being conducted at
eight sites across the United States. Patients in this Phase 2 clinical trial will be administered 16 immunizations over
52 weeks. The primary endpoint of the Phase 2 clinical trial is whether or not an immune response can be generated.
We have completed enrollment of 76 patients in this trial and the immunization phase has begun. We also intend to
evaluate MyVax for non-B-cell cancers. We believe that the favorable safety profile of MyVax could accelerate the
clinical development and approval of MyVax for additional types of cancers.

Leverage our technology to other types of immunotherapies for other diseases. We intend to apply our
technology toward the development of passive immunotherapies with greater patient specificity than currently
available passive immunotherapies. In particular, we believe that our technology could be used to produce
monoclonal antibodies for the treatment of NHL and other therapeutic proteins that have greater patient specificity
than currently available monoclonal antibodies. These passive immunotherapies could be used in conjunction with
an active immunotherapy such as MyVax to improve upon the clinical results from treatment with either passive or
active immunotherapy alone.




MyVax Clinical Development Program

The following chart summarizes the results of our ongoing, recently completed and currently planned clinical

trials for My Vax.

Indication

Follicular B-cell NHL
« Patients in first remission
following chemotherapy; 7
immunizations over 24 weeks
» Patients in first remission
following chemotherapy; 5
immunizations over 24 weeks
Patients in first remission
following chemotherapy,
administered with reduced
amount of adjuvant;
5 immunizations over 24 weeks
Sole initial therapy,
5 immunizations over
24 weeks, with patients
demonstrating either a clinical
Or an immune response
receiving 3 additional
imrunizations over 8 weeks
Patients who relapsed
following chemotherapy and
were subsequently treated with
Rituxan; 8 immunizations over
14 weeks
Re-immunization of patients
who participated in 2000-#04;
16 immunizations over
52 weeks
Diffuse Large B-cell NHL and
Mantle Cell NHL
¢ Patients in first remission
following chemotherapy
+ Schedule A: 5 immunizations
over 24 weeks
» Schedule B: 8 immunizations
over 18 weeks
Chronic Lymphocytic
Leukemia
+ Sole initial therapy;
16 immunizations over
52 weeks

Median Time
Clinical No. of to Disecase
Trial No,  Phase Patients Progression*
2000-03 Phase 3 287 Follow-up phase in
process
9901 Phase 2 21 37.7 months
2000-07 Phase 2 11 23.8 months
2000-04 Phase 2 16 Not applicable
2002-09 Phase 2 57 Follow-up phase in
process
2005-10 Phase 2 Upto 16 Treatment phase in
process
3902 Phase 2 27
9902-A  Phase 2 14 11.6 months
9902-B  Phase 2 13 16.8 months
2005-11 Phase 2 76 Treatment phase in

* measured from the end of chemotherapy.

process

Pivotal Phase 3 Follicular B-cell NHL Clinical Trial — the 2000-03 Trial

Status

Treatment phase completed;
patients in follow-up

Treatment phase completed;
patients in long-term follow-up

Treatment phase completed;
patients in long-term follow-up

Treatment phase completed,
patients in long-term follow-up

Treatment phase completed;
patients in long-term follow-up

Ongoing

Treatment phase completed,;
patients in long-term follow-up
Treatment phase completed;
patients in long-term follow-up

Closed to enrollment

We filed an IND for MyVax with the FDA, in April 1999, In November 2000, based on positive interim Phase 2
clinical trial results, we initiated a pivotal, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlied Phase 3 clinical trial, our
2000-03 trial, to assess the safety and efficacy of MyVax in treating patients with previously untreated follicular
B-cell NHL, which represents approximately 22% of the cases of NHL. This Phase 3 clinical trial of My Vax is being
conducted at 34 treatment centers in the United States and Canada. In this clinical trial, patients first received
chemotherapy to reduce their tumor burden, followed by a rest period. Patients who maintained at least a partial
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response through the rest period were then randomized to receive either My Vax or a non-specific immunotherapy,
which serves as the control for this trial.

The following chart summarizes the treatment schedule of patients in the clinical trial.

REGISTRATION ENROLLMENT
Screening and Blopsy (2:1 Randomization)
for Eligibility N=360
Chemotherapy Rest 7 Immunizations Follow-Up
21 weeks 26 weeks 24 weeks 2 years

Patients received seven immunizations over a 24-week period, which represents two more immunizations than
were administered in our 9901 Phase 2 clinical trial described below. Physical evaluations of the patients are
conducted monthly during the immunization period and every three to six months after completion of the course of
immunizations. A CT scan occurs prior to the first immunization and every six months following the last
immunization for the two years of follow-up to detect disease progression. CT scans are read by an independent,
central radiology group, which is designed to ensure a consistent determination of patients’ responses to MyVax.
The primary endpoint of the clinical trial is progression-free survival, which is the interval of time measured from
enrollment during which a patient is alive with no evidence of disease progression. Enrollment occurs when the
patient is assigned to receive either MyVax or the control substance. The clinical trial is designed to evaluate
whether a statistically significant increase in progression-free-survival is observed in patients receiving MyVax
compared to patients receiving the control substance. We have completed the treatment phase for all 287 patients in
this trial and the detailed follow-up period of the clinical trial scheduled to conclude in approximately the fourth
quarter of 2007. In July 2006, our independent Data Safety Monitoring Board met and reviewed the second planned
interim analysis of data for efficacy and safety in our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial and recommended that the trial
continue as planned. We currently anticipate that we will obtain the initial results of the primary analysis, that is,
whether a statistically significant increase in progression-free survival is observed in patients receiving MyVax
compared to patients receiving the control substance, from our Phase 3 clinical trial by the end of 2007; however, it
will take several months following the last patient visit, currently planned for November 2007, to complete all the
final analyses of the data from our Phase 3 clinical trial.

We believe that, if successful, the results of our Phase 3 clinical trial will support our application for regulatory
approval of My Vax for the treatment of follicular B-cell NHL.
Supporting Phase 2 Follicular B-cell NHL Clinical Trial — the 9901 Trial

In August 2001, we completed the treatment of 21 patients in a Phase 2 clinical trial, our 9901 trial, to evaluate
the ability of patients to mount an immune response to MyVax and to examine its safety profile. The clinical trial
involved patients with follicular B-cell NHL in first remission following a four-to-seven-month regimen of
conventional chemotherapy. The clinical trial was conducted at Stanford University Medical Center and University
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of Nebraska Medical Center. The primary endpoint of the clinical trial was the generation of anti-idiotype immune
response. Positive immune responses were observed. Patients who participated in this clinical trial continue to be
monitored for disease progression and survival.

The clinical protocol for this Phase 2 clinical trial was based on the original treatment protocols used in the
Stanford and NCI clinical trials. We used MyVax, which is comprised of the same basic components of active
idiotype immunotherapy used in the Stanford and NCI trials, My Vax includes the tumor-specific idiotype protein
linked to a foreign carrier protein called keyhole limpet hemocyanin, or KI_H, which is derived from a giant sea
snail, and was given in the same dose as used in the Stanford and NCl clinical trials. The adjuvant administered with
MyVax was Leukine, a recombinant human granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor, or GM-CSF, which
was also used in the NCI clinical trial. In addition, we produced MyVax using our proprietary manufacturing
process instead of rescue fusion, Upon diagnosis, a biopsy was obtained to provide a tumor sample sufficient to
produce the patient-specific active idiotype immunotherapy. After obtaining an adequate biopsy, a four-to-seven
month regimen of conventional chemotherapy was administered to reduce the tumor mass in the patient. Following
an approximately six-month rest period to allow the immune system to recuperate from the chemotherapy, the
patient received a series of five immunizations over 24 weeks. Patients were evaluated for an immune response
during the course of immunizations and two weeks following the final immunization. The entire treatment protocol
from the initiation of chemotherapy through the final immunization lasted about 18 months.

The long-term follow-up data (median 5.8 years) from patients in our 9901 trial demonstrated a median
time-to-disease progression of 37.7 months (measured from the end of chemotherapy). Published studies in similar
follicuiar B-cell NHL patients treated with chemotherapy. alone have shown a median time-to-disease progression
of 15 months, Nine of the 21 patients in our trial remained progression-free as of their last clinical follow-up at 56 to
83 months post-chemotherapy (reported to us and coilected from our database in the fourth quarter of 2006).

Nineteen of the 21 evaluated patients in our 9901 trial scored in the intermediate- or high-risk prognostic
groups according to the Follicular Lymphoma International Prognostic Index, or FLIPL. The following table
indicates the FLIPI risk group and progression status of the patients in this trial.

Total Number of Number of
FLIPI Risk Group Patients in Trial Progression-Free Patients®
HED o 8 4
Intermediate . ... .. ... . ... ... 11 4
LW, o o e e 2 1
Total ... .. 21 9

* As of last clinical follow-up

We believe that these results suggest that the efficacy of MyVax is independent of the clinical prognosis of a
patient’s lymphoma, based on FLIPI risk group, unlike other treatments for lymphoma for which a correlation
between clinical prognosis and clinical outcome has been demonstrated. Furthermore, two of the patients who had
partial responses, or PRs, to chemotherapy prior to immunization with MyVax and three of the patients who had
complete responses unconfirmed, or CRus, prior to immunization with MyVax were converted to complete
responses, of CRs, following immunization with MyVax. MyVax was generally well tolerated in the trial, with
patients reporting adverse events of injection site reactions and flu-like symptoms.

Additional Phase 2 Follicular B-cell NHL Clinical Trials — the 2000-07, 2000-04 and 2002-09 Trials

We have completed the treatment phase of three additional Phase 2 clinical trials to study the use of MyVax in
treating follicular B-cell NHL. One Phase 2 clinical trial, our 2000-07 trial, evaluated the use of a reduced amount of
the GM-CSF administered with My Vax. Patients in this clinical trial were in first remission following chemotherapy
after initial diagnosis. This clinical trial is being conducted at the University of Nebraska Medical Center. The
11 patients in this clinical irial received five immumzations over 24 weeks between March 2001 and January 2002.
The primary endpoint of the clinical trial was the generation of an anti-idiotype immune response using MyVax,
Positive immune responses were observed. A median time-to-disease progression of 23.8 months has been reached
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in the patients in this clinical trial. Patients who participated in this clinical trial continue to be monitored for disease
progression and survival.

A second Phase 2 clinical trial, our 2000-04 trial, evaluated the use of MyVax as the sole initial therapy for
patients with follicular B-cell NHL. This clinical trial is being conducted at Stanford University Medical Center. A
significant percentage of patients with follicular B-cell NHL do not clinically require immediate treatrment upon
diagnosis. As there is no curative treatment, many physicians elect to monitor this population of patients until their
clinical symptoms require treatment. Patients in this clinical trial were initially administered five immunizations
over 24 weeks. For those demonstrating an immune response or a clinical response, three additional immunizations
were administered. The primary endpoint of the clinical trial was the generation of an anti-idiotype immune
response using MyVax. Positive immune responses were observed. Patients who participated in this clinical trial
continue to be monitored for safety, disease progression and survival.

We initiated a Phase 2 clinical trial in March 2003, our 2002-09 trial, to treat 57 patients with follicular B-cell
NHL who have relapsed following chemotherapy. This clinical trial is designed to evaluate the use of MyVax in
patients treated with Rituxan after relapsing following chemotherapy. All 57 patients were immunized with My Vax
following a course of treatment with Rituxan and are in the follow-up phase of the study. The primary endpoint of
the clinical trial is time-to-disease progression. The clinical trial will also evaluate whether an anti-idiotype immune
response can be generated.

Phase 2 Diffuse Large B-cell and Mantle Cell NHL Clinical Trial — the 9902 Trial

We also have completed the treatment phase of a Phase 2 clinical trial, our 9902 trial, to treat patients initially
diagnosed with diffuse large B-celt NHL or mantle celt NHL. This is the first clinical trial of an active idiotype
immunotherapy in newly diagnosed diffuse large B-cell NHL or mantle cell NHL patients. Patients enrolled are in
first remission following chemotherapy after initial diagnosis. The clinical trial is being conducted at Stanford
University Medical Center, University of Nebraska Medical Center and Weill Medical College of Cornell
University. We have enrolled 27 patients in first remission following chemotherapy. The primary endpoint of
the clinical trial is the generation of an anti-idiotype immune response using MyVax. Patients are also being
monitored for safety, disease progression and survival.

Because patients with diffuse large B-cell NHL or mantle cell NHL tend to relapse much sooner following the
completion of chemotherapy than patients with follicular B-cell NHL, the treatment regimen was altered from the
one used in follicular B-cell NHL clinical trials. Patients began immunization three months after the end of their
chemotherapy, as opposed to after a six-month rest period. Two different administration schedules were examined:
14 patients on Schedule A received five immunizations over a 24-week period and 13 patients on Schedule B
received cight immunizations over an 18-week period. Positive immune responses were observed on both
Schedule A and Schedule B,

The patients on Schedule A have a median time-to-disease progression of 11.6 months, which could suggest
that giving five immunizations over a 24-week period does not allow for the establishment of a clinically effective
response before the fast-growing aggressive B-cell NHL reappears following chemotherapy. In contrast, patients on
Schedule B have a median time-to-disease progression of 16.8 months. The results from Schedule B are
encouraging as 11 of the 13 patients treated on Schedule B have mantle cell lymphoma, which is a type of B-cell
NHL that is viewed as incurable.

Additional Clinical Programs

We believe active immunotherapy has the potential to be applied successfully to the treatment of other cancers.
We are developing MyVax for the treatment of CLL. Like NHL, CLL is primarily a B-cell cancer. We believe CLL
can potentially be treated with MyVax, and the same method of manufacturing would be used to produce active
idiotype immunotherapies for CLL as is currently used for our follicular and other B-cell NHL patients. We initiated
a Phase 2 clinical trial in February 2006 to evaluate MyVax for the initial treatment of CLL. This clinical trial is
being conducted at eight sites across the United States. Patients in this Phase 2 clinical trial will be administered 16
immunizations over 52 weeks. The primary endpoint of the Phase 2 clinical trial is whether or not an immune
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response can be generated. We have completed enrollment of 76 patients in this trial and the immunization phase
has begun.

Manufacturing Process

Our manufacturing process is divided into three phases: molecular biology, cell culture and production, as
illustrated below.
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Cell Culture

Each phase of our manufacturing process uses standard procedures that apply to each personalized immu-
notherapy that we produce. The manufacturing of each patient’s active idiotype immunotherapy begins with the
collection of a tumor sample by routine biopsy of the patient, The tumor samples can be acquired by surgical or non-
surgical means, can be frozen and are shipped via an overnight courier to our manufacturing facility for processing.
After processing, each patient’s active idiotype immunotherapy is shipped to the chn1cal site or the treating
physician for immunization of the patient.

Molecular Biology

Upon arrival of the tumor sample at our manufacturing facility, we extract genetic material from the sample
and isolate the genes that encode the two unique regions of a patient’s tumor-specific idiotype protein, Our
proprietary knowledge allows us to identify the genes encoding the idiotype protein generally within a few weeks.
We then generate a pair of expression vectors encoding the idiotype protein. An expression vector is a DNA
molecule that contains all of the elements required for the production of the tumer-derived idiotype protein in a host
cell.

Cell Culture

The expression vectors encoding the idiotype protein are then introduced into mammalian ceils. Individual
mammalian cell lines producing the idiotype protein are then generated using a series of cycles of growth and
selection steps. These cycles of growth and selection, known as gene amplification, are completed using our
patented Hi-GET technology that provides for the rapid and efficient isolation of mammalian cell lines expressing
increased levels of the idiotype protein. These cell lines are referred to as manufacturing cell lines.

In comparison to alternative methods of gene amplification, our Hi-GET technology more efficiently and
reproducibly generates stable cell lines containing increased copies of the expression vectors that encede the
patient’s idiotype protein. Consequently, fewer candidate cell lines must be subjected to selection techniques in
order to identify a suitable manufacturing cell line, thus reducing the amount of time a technician must spend to

14




identify a cell line that is expressing sufficient levels of idiotype protein. This atlows each of our technicians to work
on the development of 10 to 20 different manufacturing cell lines at the same time.

Production and Key Suppliers

Upon isolation of a manufacturing cell line, the size of the culture is expanded to allow for the production of an
appropriate amount of the idiotype protein. Following a standard purification process, the idiotype protein is linked
to KLH. a foreign carrier protein, resulting in MyVax. After release testing, the frozen MyVax product and GM-CSF
adjuvant are shipped to the clinical trial site or the treating physician for immunization of the patient.

We purchase KLH from biosyn Arzneimittel GmbH, or biosyn, a single source supplier. In December 1998, we
entered into a supply agreement with biosyn, pursuant to which biosyn agreed to supply us with KLH. The supply
agreement expired on December 9, 2005, and a new agreement has not yet been reached. We remain in discussions
with biosyn regarding a new supply agreement with biosyn, but we may not be able to reach an agreement with
biosyn on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. There may be no other supplier of KLH of suitable quality for our
purposes, and there are significant risks associated with our ability to produce KLH of suitable quality ourselves.
Even if we identify another supplier of KLH, or produce KLH ourselves, we will not be able to use the alternative
source of KILLH for the commercial manufacture of MyVax unless the KLH is found to be comparable to the existing
KLH. In addition, the FDA requires that, before we can begin to commercially manufacture MyVax, we must ensure
that any supplier of KLH be compliant with the FDA’s current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP. Any
inability to obtain a sufficient supply of KLH of suitable quality from biosyn or an alternate supplier, or to produce
such KLH ourselves, could delay or prevent completion of our clinical trials and commercialization of MyVax.

In addition, we currently purchase specialized cell culture containers and cell culture media, which are critical
components of our manufacturing process, from Medtronic, Inc. and Hyclone Laboratories, respectively, each a
single source supplier. We do not have a long-term contract with Medtronic or Hyclone and rely on purchase orders
to obtain the necessary cell culture containers and cell growth media. Although to date, Medtronic and Hyclone
have both met our requirements for our clinical trials, there are no direct alternative sources of supply for the cell
culture containers and cell culture media.

Administration of MyVax requires an adjuvant to enhance the immune response. We use LeuKine sargra-
mostim, a commercially available recombinant human granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor known
as GM-CSF, as an adjuvant for My Vax. An adjuvant is a substance that is administered with an antigen to enhance or
increase the immune response to that antigen. We currently rely on purchase orders to purchase GM-CSF from
Berlex Laboratories, Inc. We do not have a long-term contract with Berlex. GM-CSF is not commercially available
from other sources in the United States or Canada.

In the event we receive regulatory approval for MyVax, we would need to significantly increase the volume of
our purchases of these materials, and we cannot be certain that large volumes will be available from our current
suppliers. Establishing additional or replacement suppliers for these materials or components may take a substantial
amount of time. In addition, we may have difficulty obtaining similar materials from other suppliers that are
acceptable to the FDA. If we have to switch to a replacement supplier, we may face additional regulatory delays and
the manufacture and delivery of MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may devetop, could be interrupted
for an extended period of time, which may delay or prevent completion of our clinical trials or commercialization of
MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop. If we are unable to obtain adequate amounts of these:
materials, our clinical trials will be delayed. In addition, we will be required to obtain regulatory clearance from the:
FDA to use different materials that may not be as safe or as effective. As a result, regulatory approval of My Vax may
not be received at all.

Manufacturing Safeguards

We have instituted several safeguards in our manufacturing process that are designed to ensure batch integrity
and prevent patient therapies from being sent to the incorrect patient. Throughout the process we carefully handle
manufacturing materials and record data. The DNA sequences of the tumor-specific idiotype protein genes are
determined early in the molecular biology phase of the process. These DNA sequences serve as a reference that
permits the identification of manufacturing intermediates, such as expression vectors, and stable cell lines
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containing these vectors, as belonging to a specific patient’s sample. At later stages of the process, we use tests to
demonstrate that the subtype of the idiotype protein present in both purified idiotype protein preparations and in the
final MyVax product, the idiotype protein-KLH conjugate, is in conformance with the expected subtype. In addition
to safeguards designed to ensure segregation of each patient’s therapy, we archive intermediates throughout the
manufacturing process, which allows us to quickly produce additional vials of a patient’s therapy if needed. These
archival procedures include the storage of the manufacturing cell line produced for each patient and purified
preparations of the patient’s tumor-specific idiotype protein.

Additional Hi-GET Technology Applications

We believe that cur patented Hi-GET technology may have additional potential applications, such as
monoclonal antibodies used in passive immunotherapies, and other therapeutic proteins. We intend to apply
our technology toward the development of passive immunotherapies with greater patient specificity than currently
available passive immunotherapies. In particular, we believe that our technelogy could be used to produce
monoclonal antibodies for the treatment of NHL and other therapeutic proteins that have greater patient specificity
than currently available monoclonal antibodies. These passive immunotherapies could be used in conjunction with
an active immunotherapy such as My Vax to improve upen the clinical results from treatment with either passive or
active immunotherapy alone. Our Hi-GET technology can also be used to produce proteins for research, for
exainple, to supporl genomic companies’ needs to strengthen their patent positions by enabling them to link protein
function with their DNA sequences more quickly. Our Hi-GET technology has also been used to produce both
single and multi-chain proteins that are secreted into the culture medium, proteins that are located in the cytoplasm
of the cell and proteins that are located in the membrane of the cell. Many proteins of therapeutic and diagnostic
interest must be produced in mammalian cells in order for the proteins to retain their characteristic features and
biologic activities. Qur Hi-GET technology can be used to efficiently produce a wide variety of proteins in
mammalian cell lines.

Competition

The biotechnology and biopharmaceutical industries are characterized by rapidly advancing technologies,
intense competition and a strong emphasis on proprietary products. We face competition from many different
sources, including commercial pharmaceutical and biotechnology enterprises, academic institutions, government
agencies and private and public research institutions. Due to the high demand for new cancer therapies, research is
intense and new treatments are being sought out and developed by our competitors.

Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and
development, manufacturing, preclinical testing, clinical trials, regulatory approvals and marketing approved
products than we do. Smaller or early-stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly
through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies. These third parties compete with us in
recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel, establishing clinical trial sites and patient
registration for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies and technology licenses complementary to our
programs or advantageous to our business.

Several companies, such as GlaxoSmithKline and Biogen Idec Inc. are involved in the development of passive
immunotherapies for the treatment of NHL. Various products are currently marketed for treatment of NHL.
Rituxan, a monoclonal antibody co-marketed by Genentech, Inc. and Biogen Idec Inc., is approved for the first line
treatment of relapsed or refractory, low grade or follicular B-cell NHL, as well as for the first-line treatment of
diffuse large B-cell NHL in combination with chemotherapy. There are additional monoclonal antibodies,
developed by a number of other companies in various stages of development for NHL. many of which are slated
to be used in combination with Rituxan.

Other treatment approaches include radicimmunotherapy, which essentially combines a passive immuno-
therapy with a radio-labeled monoclonal antibody to improve tumor cell destruction. This approach is approved for
the treatment of relapsed or refractory low grade, follicular, or transformed B-cell NHL and is under clinical
investigation for earlier use in low grade NHL.
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In addition, there are several companies focusing on the development of active immunotherapies for the treatment
of NHL, including Favrille, Inc. and Biovest Intemnational, Inc., a majority-owned subsidiary of Accentia, Inc. Favrille
has completed enrollment of its Phase 3 trial, and Biovest continues to enroll patients for its active immunotherapy
Phase 3 clinical trial in patients with follicular NHL. If either company meets its clinical trial endpoints and its
immunotherapy is approved by the FDA, it would compete directly with MyVax, if approved.

Sales and Marketing

We have exclusive worldwide sales and marketing rights for My Vax. Subject to receipt of regulatory approval,
we intend to manufacture and commercialize MyVax and to establish a North American sales force to market and
sell MyVax. Due to the concentrated nature of the oncology market, we believe that we can sell MyVax in
North America with a small sales force.

Intellectual Property

We rely on the proprietary nature of our technology and production processes for the protection of MvVax and
any other immunotherapies that we may develop. We plan to prosecute and defend aggressively our patents and
proprietary technology. Our policy is to patent the technology, inventions and improvements that we consider
important to the development of our business. We hold two U.S. patents related to our core gene amplification
technology, including composition of matter claims directed to cell lines and claims directed 10 methods of making
proteins derived from patients’ tumors. These patents expire in 2016. Corresponding patents, although more
constrained in scope due to rules not applicable in the United States, have been issued in Australia, Canada and
South Africa, all of which expire in 2017. We have also filed additional U.S. and corresponding foreign patent
applications relating to our Hi-GET gene amplification technology and expect to continue to file additional patent
applications.

We also rely on trade secrets, technical know-how and continuing innovation to develop and maintain our
competitive position. We seek to protect our proprietary information by requiring our employees, consultants,
contractors, outside scientific collaborators and other advisors to execute non-disclosure and assignment of
invention agreements on commencement of their employment or engagement, through which we seek to protect
our intellectual property. Agreements with our employees also prevent them from bringing the proprietary rights of
third parties to us. We also require confidentiality or material transfer agreements from third parties that receive our
confidential data or materials.

The biotechnology and biopharmaceutical industries are characterized by the existence of a large number of
patents and frequent litigation based on allegations of patent infringement. While our active immunotherapies are in
clinical trials, and prior to commercialization, we believe our current activities fall within the scope of the
exemptions provided by 35 U.S.C. Section 271(e) in the United States and Section 55.2(1) of the Canadian Patent
Act, each of which covers activities related to developing information for submission to the FDA and its counterpart
apgency in Canada. As our active immunotherapies progress toward commercialization, the possibility of an
infringement claim against us increases. While we attempt to ensure that our active immunotherapies and the
methods we employ to manufacture them do not infringe other parties’ patents and other proprietary rights,
competitors or other parties may assert that we infringe on their proprietary rights. In particular, we are aware of
patents held jointly by Genentech, Inc. and City of Hope National Medical Center relating to expression of
recombinant antibodies, by British Technology Group PLC relating to expression of recombinant proteins in
mammalian cells, by the Board of Trustees of the Leland Stanford Junior University relating to expression of
recombinant antibodies and by Stratagene relating to generation of DNA that encodes antibodies.

We believe that we have valid defenses to any assertion that My Vax, or any other similar antibody-based active
immunotherapies that we may develop, or the methods that we employ to manufacture them, infringes the claims of
the patent held jointly by Genentech, Inc. and City of Hope National Medical Center relating to expression of
recombinant antibodies. We also believe that the patent may be invalid and/or unenforceable. The relevant patent
was issued to Genentech, Inc. in 2001 in connection with the settlement of an interference proceeding in the
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office between Genentech, Inc. and Ceiltech R&D Ltd. We believe other biotechnology
companies are aware of and are considering the possible impact of this patent. Other companies have negotiated
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license agreements for this patent. We have not attempted to obtain such a license because we believe that properly
construed claims do not cover activities related to the manufacture of My Vax. If we decide to attempt to obtain a
license for this patent, we cannot guarantee that we would be able to obtain such a license on commercially
reasonable terms, or at all. We are aware of a complaint filed by Medimmune, Inc. against Genentech, Inc., City of
Hope National Medical Center and Celltech in April 2003 in the U.S. District Court for the Central District of
California seeking, among other things, judicial declarations that the patent is invalid and that the patent is
unenforceable due to the patent applicants’ inequitable conduct before the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and
that the settlement agreement between Genentech and Celltech violates certain United States antitrust and unfair
competition laws. In March and Apnil 2004, the antitrust and patent elements of the case were dismissed. With
respect to the latter, the court cited a recent decision by the Federal Circuit that controversies over patent validity,
enforcement or infringement would not be recognized while license agreements protected the licensee from suit for
infringement. MedImmune appealed the dismissals to the U.S. Supreme Court. A decision was published Janvary 9,
2007, granting Medimmune standing in this matter, and remanding the complaint, for consideration of a declaratory
Judgment. On May 13, 2005, the U.S. Patent Office ordered a reexamination of the Genentech patent for issues of
patentability relating to obviousness-type double patenting; and on January 23, 2006 a second reexamination was
ordered for additional issues relating to obviousness-type double patenting. The reexamination proceedings were
combined. In February 2007, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office issued a final Office action in its reexamination,
rejecting the patentability of the claims of the patent, Genentech announced that it plans to appeal the decision
through the U.S Patent and Trademark Office and the courts and that it continues to view the patent to be valid and
enforceable through the appeals process. We cannot predict whether we would be successful in demonstrating that
MyVax, or any other similar antibody-based active immunotherapies that we may develop, or the methods that we
employ to manufacture them, does not infringe the claims of the patent held jointly by Genentech, lac. and City of
Hope National Medical Center or that the patent is invalid and/or unenforceable.

We also believe that we have valid defenses to any assertion that MyVax, or any other active immunotherapies
that we may develop, infringes the claims of the patent held by British Technology Group PLC relating to
expression of recombinant proteins in mammalian cells, that MyVax, or any other similar antibody-based active
immunotherapies that we may develop, infringes the claims of the patent held by the Board of Trustees of the Leland
Stanford Junior University relating to expression of recombinant antibodies or that MyVax, or any other similar
antibody-based active immunotherapies that we may develop. infringes the claims of the patent held by Stratagene
relating to generation of DNA that encodes antibodies. The relevant British Technology Group patent was issued in
1990 and was subsequently assigned to British Technology Group. We believe that the patent is invalid and,
therefore, that the patent does not impact our ability to commercialize MyVax. The relevant Stanford patent was
issued in 1998, We believe that MyVax, and the methods that we employ to manufacture My Vax, do not infringe the
claims of the patent. The relevant Stratagene patent was issued in 2002. We believe that the patent is invalid, and that
the methods that we employ to manufacture MyVax do not infringe the claims of the patent.

If any of these patents is found to cover MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, or the
methods that we employ to manufacture them, we could be required to pay substantial damages and could be unable
to commercialize MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, unless we obtain a license from the
applicable patent holder. A license may not be available to us on acceptable terms in the future, or at all. In addition,
litigation of any intellectual property claims with any of these patent holders, with or without merit, would likely be
expensive and time-consuming and divert management’s attention from our core business.

See Item 1A, “Risk Factors — Because it is difficult and costly to protect our proprietary rights, we may not be
able to ensure their protection.”

In June 2002, Pharmacia & Upjohn AB filed an opposition to the registration of our “GENITOPE” trademark
alleging that a likelihood of confusion exists between our Genitope trademark and Pharmacia’s “GENOTROPIN”
trademark. In March 2004, a settlement agreement was executed by both parties, ending the dispute. We filed an
amendment to modify our trademark to a house mark. Pharmacia Corporation and Pharmacia & Upjohn AB and
Pfizer withdrew the trademark opposition filed against the “Genitope” mark and agreed to not interfere with or
object to the use or registration by us of our “Genitope” house marks, our trade names or our “genitope.com”
domain name as a house mark.
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Government Regulation

Regulation of MyVax and Any Other Active Immunotherapies that We May Develop in the United States
and Canada

MyVax and any other immunotherapies that we may develop will require regulatory approval prior to
commercialization. At the present time, we believe that MyVax and any other immunotherapies that we may
develop will be regulated in the United States by the FDA as biologics.

The IND, for our tead product candidate, My Vax personalized immunotherapy, was submitted to the FDA in
April 1999. We received approval from the FDA to begin clinical trials with a Phase 2 clinical trial in May 1999, A
pre-Phase 3 clinical trial meeting was held with the FDA in August 2000. Our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for the
treatment of follicular B-cell NHL began in November 2000. The IND was submitted in Canada in December 2000.
Our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial is currently ongeing in the United States and Canada.

If the results of our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial are favorable, we plan to submit marketing applications for
approval of MyVax initially in the United States and Canada. The initial application is expected to be based on one
adequate and well-controlled Phase 3 clinical trial, our 2000-03 trial, with supporting data from our Phase 2 clinical
trials. In the United States, the BLA will be reviewed under accelerated approval, with progression-free survival as a
surrogate for survival. Under the FDA’s accelerated approval regulations, the FDA is authorized (o approve drug
candidates thai have been studied for their safety and efficacy in treating serious or life-threatening illnesses and
that provide meaningful therapeutic benefit to patients over existing treatments based upon either a surrogate
endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit or on the basis of the effect on a clinical endpoint other
than patient survival, In clinical trials, surrogate endpoints are alternative measurements of the symptoms of a
disease or condition that are substituted for measurements of observable clinical symptoms. A drug candidate
approved on this basis is subject to post-marketing compliance requirements. including the completion of Phase 4 or
post-approval clinical trials to validate the surrogate endpoint or confirm the effect on the clinical endpoint. Failure
to conduct required post-approval studies, or to validate a surrogate endpoint or confirm a clinical benefit during
post-marketing studies, may lead FDA to withdraw the drug from the market on an expedited basis. Promotional
materials for drug candidates approved under accelerated regulations are subject to prior review by the FDA. We
intend 1o follow patients for long-term survival as a post-approval commitment. We expect to conduct further
clinical trials to support BLAs for approvals of MyVax for additional indications.

In addition, in June 2006 we received Fast Track designation from the FDA for MyVax for the treatment of
follicutar B-cell NHL. The FDA's fast track program refers to a process for interacting with FDA during drug
development. It is intended to facilitate the development, and expedite the review of, drugs that are intended for the:
treatment of a serious or life-threatening condition and that demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical
needs. Under the fast track program. applicants may seek traditional approval for a product based on data
demonstrating an effect on a clinically meaningfut endpoint, or approval based on a well-established surrogate
endpoint. Under the fast track designation, the FDA may initiate review of sections of a BLA before the entire
application is complete. This so-called “rolling review” is available if the applicant provides, and the FDA approves.
a schedule for the submission of the remaining information and the applicant has paid applicable user fees pursuant
to the Prescription Drug User Fee Act or PDUFA. The FDA's PDUFA review clock, whether a standard or priority
review, for a fast track designated product does not begin until the complete application is submitted. A standard
designation sets the target date for completing review of an application at 10 months after the date it was filed. A
priority review designation sets the target date for completing review at six months. Fast track designation does not
necessarily lead to a priority review designation. Additionally, fast track designation may be withdrawn by the FDA
if it believes that the designation is no longer supported by emerging data, or if the designated drug development
program is no longer being pursued. In some cases, a fast track designated drug candidate may also qualify for
priority review, When appropriate, we may seek fast track designation and/or priority review for our product
candidates. We cannot predict whether My Vax for the treatment of follicular B-cell NHL will be granted priority
review. We cannot predict the ultimate impact, if any, of these expedited review mechanisms on the timing, or
likelihood, of the FDA approval of MyVax or any of our product candidates.

We have not started the regulatory approval process in any jurisdiction other than the United States and
Canada, and we are unable to estimate when, if ever, we will commence the regulatory approval process in any other
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foreign jurisdiction. In general, we will have to complete an approval process similar to the U.S. approval process in
foreign markets for My Vax and any other immunotherapies that we may develop before we can commercialize them
in those countries. The approval procedure and the time required for approval vary from country to country and can
involve additional testing. Foreign approvals may not be granted on a timely basis, or at all. Regulatory approval of
product prices is required in most countries other than the United States. The prices approved for our products may
be too low to generate an acceptable return to us,

Qur new manufacturing facility in Fremont, California is currently subject to licensing requirements of the
California Department of Health Services, We filed an application for a license in 2006 and are waiting for the
department to inspect our facility. Successful completion of an inspection is a condition to receipt of a license. In
addition, before MyVax can obtain marketing approval, we must pass an FDA pre-approval inspection of our
manufacturing facility to determine if it complies with current goed manufacturing practices, or cGMP, require-
ments. Our facility is subject to inspection at any time by the FDA and by the California Department of Heaith
Services. Failure to obtain and maintain a license from the California Department of Health Services, or to meet the
inspection criteria of the FDA or the California Department of Health Services, would disrupt our manufacturing
processes and would harm our business.

Product Regulation

Governmental authorities in the United States and other countries extensively regulate the preclinical and
clinical testing, manufacturing, labeling, storage, record keeping, advertising, promotion, export and marketing,
among other things, of drugs, medical devices and biological materials, including MyVax and any other immu-
notherapies that we may develop. In the United States, pharmaceutical products are regulated by the FDA under the
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and other laws, including, in the case of biologics, the Public Health Service
Act. The steps required before a novel biologic may be approved for marketing in the United States generally
include:

» preclinical laboratory tests and preclinical studies in animals;

+ the submission to the FDA of an IND for human clinical testing, which must become effective before human
clinical trials may commence;

» adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacy of the product;
* the submission to the FDA of a BLA; and

* FDA review and approval of such application, including a pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing
facility and FDA inspection of clinical study sites.

The testing and approval process requires substantial time, effort and financial resources. We cannot be certain
that any approval will be granted on a timely basis, if at all.

Preclinical studies generally include animal studies to evaluate the mechanism of action of the product, as well
as animal studies to assess the potential safety and efficacy of the product. Compounds must be produced according
to applicable ¢GMP requirements and preclinical safety tests must be conducted in compliance with FDA and
international regulations regarding good laboratory practices. The results of the preclinical tests, together with
manufacturing information and analytical data, are generally submitted to the FDA as part of an IND, which must
become effective before human clinical trials may be commenced. The IND will automatically become effective
30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless the FDA before that time requests an extension or raises concerns about the
conduct of the clinical trials as outlined in the application. In such latter case, the sponsor of the application and the
FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns before clinical trials can proceed. Clinical trials involve the admin-
istration of the investigational product to healthy volunteers or to patients, under the supervision of a qualified
principal investigator, and must be conducted in accordance with good clinical practices. Clinical trials are
conducted in accordance with protocols that detail many items, including:

*» the objectives of the study;

* the parameters to be used to monttor safety; and
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» the efficacy criteria to be evaluated.

Each protocol must be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND. Further, each clinical study must be reviewed
and approved by an independent institutional review board, or IRB, at each institution at which the study will be
commenced, prior to the recruitment of subjects. The IRB will consider, among other things, ethical factors, and the
safety of human study subjects. Continuing review and approval by the IRB is required at least annually.

_Clinical trials typically are conducted in three sequential phases, but the phases may overlap. In Phase 1, the
initial introduction of the drug into human subjects, the drug is tested for safety and, as appropriate, for absorption,
metabolism, distribution, excretion, pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics. Phase 2 usually involves studies in
a limited patient population to evaluate preliminarily the efficacy of the drug for specific targeted indications,
determine dosage tolerance and optimal dosage and identify possible adverse effects and safety risks.

Phase 3 clinical trials are undertaken to further evaluate clinical efficacy and to test further for safety within an
expanded patient population at geographically dispersed clinical study sites. Phase 1, Phase 2 or Phase 3 testing may
not be completed successfully within any specific time period, if at all, with respect to any products being tested by a
company. Furthermore, the FDA or the IRB may suspend clinical trials at any time on various grounds, including a
finding that the healthy volunteers or patients are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk.

The results of the preclinical studies and clinical trials, together with detailed information on the manufacture
and composition of the product, are submitted to the FDA as part of a BLA requesting approval for the marketing of
the product. The FDA may refuse to accept the BLA for review or deny approval of the application if applicable
regulatory criteria are not satisfied, or if additional testing or information is required. Post-marketing testing and
surveillance to monitor the safety or efficacy of a product may be required, and the FDA may limit further marketing
of the product based on the results of post-market testing. FDA approval of any application may include many
delays or never be granted. Moreover, if regulatory approval of a product is granted, such approval may entail
limitations on the indicated uses for which it may be marketed. Finally, product approvals may be withdrawn if
compliance with regulatory standards is not maintained or if safety or manufacturing problems occur following
initial marketing. Among the conditions for approval is the requirement that the prospective manufacturer’s quality
control and manufacturing procedures conform to cGMP requirements. These requirements must be followed at all
times in the manufacture of the approved product. In complying with these requirements, manufacturers must
continue to expend time, monies and effort in the area of production and quality control to ensure fult compliance.
Failure to comply may subject us to fines and civil penalties, suspension or delay in product approval, seizure or
recall of the product, or product approval withdrawal,

New products that are being developed for the treatment of serious of life-threatening diseases where the
product would provide therapeutic advantage over the existing treatment may be considered for accelerated
approval by the FDA. In these cases, approval can be based on criteria that are indicative of the desired clinical
benefit. Accelerated approval is granted subject to the requirements that the sponsor of products carry out clinical
trials post-approval to verify the desired clinical benefit. Failure to conduct the required post-approval studies, or to
validate & surrogate endpoint or confirm a clinical benefit during post-marketing studies, may lead the FDA to
withdraw the drug from the market on an expedited basis. :

Both before and after the FDA approves a product, the manufacturer and the holder or holders of the BL.A for
the product are subject to comprehensive regulatory oversight. Violations of regulatory requirements at any stage,
including the preclinical and clinical testing process, the review process, or at any time afterward, including after
approval, may result in various adverse consequences, including the FDA's delay in approving or refusal to approve
a product, suspension or withdrawal of an approved product from the market, seizure or recall of a product and/or
the imposition of criminal penalties against the manufacturer and/or the license holder. In addition, later discovery
of previously unknown problems may result in restrictions on a product, its manufacturer, or the BLA holder, or
market restrictions through labeling changes or product withdrawal. Also, new government requirements may be
established that could delay or prevent regulatory approval of our products under development.

With respect to post-market product advertising and promotion, the FDA imposes a number of complex
regulations on entities that advertise and promote pharmaceuticals and biologics, which include, among others,
standards for and regulations of direct-to-consumer advertising, off-label promotion, industry-sponsored scientific

21




and educational activities, and promotional activities involving the Internet. Promotional materials for drug
candidates approved under accelerated regulations are subject to prior review by the FDA,

The FDA has very broad enforcement authority under the Federal Food Drug and Cosmetic Act, and failure to
abide by these regulations can result in penalties, including the issuance of a warning letter directing us to correct
deviations from FDA standards, a requirement that future advertising and promotional materials be pre-cleared by
the FDA, and state and federal civil and criminal investigations and prosecutions.

We are also subject to various laws and regulations regarding laboratory practices, the experimental use of
animals, and the use and disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardous substances in connection with our research,
In each of these areas, as above, the FDA has broad regulatory and enforcement powers, including the ability to
impose fines and civil penalties, suspend or delay issuance of approvals, seize or recall products, and withdraw
approvals, any one or more of which could have a material adverse effect upon us.

No patient-specific active idiotype immunotherapeutic for cancer has been approved by the FDA for
marketing. The FDA has not yet established particular regulatory guidelines for patient-specific immunotherapies,
nor has it issued any interim guidelines.

Other Regulations

We are also subject to regulation by the Qccupational Safety and Health Administration, or GSHA, and the
state and federal environmental protection agencies and to regulation under the Toxic Substances Control Act and
other regulatory statutes, and may in the future be subject to other federal, state or local regulations. Either OSHA or
the environmental protection agencies, or all of them, may promulgate regulations that may affect our research and
development programs. We are unable to predict whether any agency will adopt any regulation, which could limit or
impede on our operations.

Employees

As of December 31, 2006, we had 170 employees, including 143 in research and development (including 12 in
medical affairs, 45 in manufacturing, 10 in facilities, 26 in quality control and assurance, 43 in process and technical
development and seven in regulatory affairs), four in strategic marketing, and 23 in general and administrative
positions, Twenty-four of our employees have Ph.D.s, one employee has an M.D. and one has a Pharm. D. None of
our employees is subject to a collective bargaining agreement. We believe that we have good relations with our
employees.

Research and Development

Since our inception, we have made substantial investments in research and development. The total research
and development costs associated with and incurred primarily for the development of MyVax for the treatment of
B-celi NHL were approximately $40.2 million, $25.9 million and $22.6 million for the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. From inception through December 31, 2006, the total research and development
costs associated with and incurred for the development of MyVax for the treatment of B-cell NHL were
approximately $141.2 million.
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Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth, as of February 28, 2007, information about our executive and other officers.

Name Age Position Held

Dan W, Denney, Jr., Ph.D. .......... 53  Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director

JohnM.Vuko.............. ... ... 56 Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial
Officer

Michael ). Buckley, Ph.D. ........... 46 Vice President, Manufacturing

Thomas DeZao .. ................. 49  Vice President, Strategic Marketing and Sales

Claude Miller .. ............... ... 56 Vice President, Regulatory Affairs and Quality

DaveMiller. . .................... 60 Vice President, Information Technology

Mary Ellen Rybak, M.D. ........... 57 Vice President, Medical Affairs and Chief Medical
Officer

Thomas Theriault, PhD. ............ 44  Vice President, Research

Laura Randall Woodhead. .. ......... 39 Vice President, Legal Affairs and Secretary

Dan W. Denney Jr, Ph.D. is our founder and has served as our Chief Executive Officer since November 1999
and Chairman of the Board since August 1996. Dr. Denney did his postdoctoral research in the Chemistry
Department at Stanford University, where he was a Merck Fellow. Dr. Denney then served as a Visiting Scholar at
the University of Alberta in Canada prior to founding Genitope. Dr. Denney holds a B.A. from Vanderbilt University
and a Ph.D. in Microbiology and Immunology from Stanford University School of Medicine.

John M. Vitko has served as our Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer since April 2004, From
December 1999 to January 2004, Mr. Vuko was employed by Incyte Corporation, a biopharmaceutical company,
including serving as their Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from December 1999 to October
2003. Prior to joining Incyte, Mr. Vuko served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Achievement
Radio Holdings, Inc., an owner and operator of radio broadcasting stations, from March 1997 io December 1999,
and ultimately held a similar position with Ross Stores, Inc., a retail clothing company, from October 1989 to March
1997. Mr. Vuko holds a B.A. in Business Administration from San Francisco State University.

Michael J. Buckley, Ph.D. has served as our Vice President of Manufacturing since January 2005. Dr, Buckley
joined us after serving as Vice President of Bexxar Operations at Corixa Corporation, a biopharmaceutical
company, from January 2003 to December 2004. Dr. Buckley joined Coulter Pharmaceutical, Inc., a biopharma-
ceutical company, in 1996, which was later acquired by Corixa, where he served in positions of increasing
responsibility, including as Sr. Director of Product Development from January 1999 to December 2002. Dr. Buckley
holds a B.A. from the College of Wooster and a Ph.D. in Immunology from the University of Medicine and
Dentistry of New Jersey.

Thomas DeZao has served as our Vice President of Strategic Marketing and Sales since February 2002. Fror
August 1999 to January 2002, Mr. DeZao was Vice President of Marketing and Medical Affairs at Corixa
Corporation, a biopharmaceutical company, and Coulter Pharmaceutical, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Carixa
Corporation, where he was responsible for all aspects of the marketing plan for Bexxar, a radio-labeled monoclonal
antibody developed to treat non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. From July 1998 to June 1999, Mr. DeZao was the Vicz
President of Marketing and Sales for Asta Medica, a biopharmaceutical company, where he developed commer-
cialization plans for an emerging U.S. oncology business. From October 1987 to March 1998, Mr. DeZao held a
number of management positions for Chiron Corporation, a global pharmaceutical company, both in oncology
marketing and sales. Mr. DeZao holds a B.A. in Political Science from Monitclair State University.

Claude Miller has served as our Vice President of Quality since February 2004 and as our Vice President of
Regulatory Affairs since December 2006. From September 2000 to November 2003, Mr. Miller held a number of
key management positions at Alpha Therapeutic Corporation, a plasma fractionation biologics company, starting as
Vice President of Regulatory and Quality before being elevated to the position of President and Chief Operating
Officer in March 2002. From November 2003 to February 2004, Mr. Miller served as an outside consultant to Alpha
Therapeutic Corporation, a biopharmaceutical company. From April 1997 to September 2000, Mr. Miller was
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Senior Director of Operations at SangStat Medical Corporation, a transplant company. Prior to joining SangStat,
Mr. Miller held a number of positions in Quality and Compliance at Somatix, Collagen Corporation and
LifeScan Inc. Mr, Miller received his B.S. and M.S, in Molecular Biology/Microbiology from California State
University, Long Beach.

H. David Miller has served as our Vice President of Information Technology since April 2005. Prior to joining
us, Mr. Miller served as Vice President of Information Technology at Abgenix, Inc., a biopharmaceutical company,
from September 2001 to April 2005. Before joining Abgenix, Mr. Miller served as Director of Information
Technology at Somnus Medical Technologies, a medical device company, from January 2000 to September 2001.
From August 1995 to July 1999, Mr. Miller served as Director of Information Technology at Heartport Inc., a
medical device company. Mr. Miller received an A.B. in Economics from Stanford University and an M.B.A. from
Stanford Graduate School of Business.

Mary Ellen Rybak, M.D., has served as our Chief Medical Officer and Vice President of Medical Affairs since
May 2006. Prior to joining us, Dr. Rybak was a vice president of oncology from November 1999 to April 2006 at
Johnson & Johnson Pharmaceutical Research and Development, a developer and manufacturer of pharmaceuticals
(Johnson & Johnson PRD). Prior to joining Johnson & Johnson PRD, Dr. Rybak held various research and
management positions at Schering Plough Research Institute (Union, New Jersey), and a number of academic and
administrative positions at University of Massachusetts Medical School. Dr, Rybak earned her doctor of medicine
degree from Harvard Medical School and conducted her intemnship, residency and fellowship at the Brigham and
Women’s Hospital in Boston, Massachusetts.

Thomas Theriault, Ph.D., has served as our Vice President, Research and Development since February 2005,
From August 1996 to April 2004, Dr. Theriault heid a number of positions at Incyte Corporation, a biopharma-
ceutical company, most recently as Vice President of Research from August 2003 to April 2004, and prior to that as
Senior Director Technology Development from March 2001 to July 2003, From August 1996 to July 2003,
Dr. Theriault served in various technical development and research leadership positions at Incyte Corporation. From
May 2004 until Jlanuary 2005, Dr. Theriault was an independent consultant. Dr. Theriault was a co-founder and
Director of Research at Combion, a privately held DNA microarray company focused on genetic and genomic
applications, which was acquired by Incyte Corporation in 1996. Dr. Theriault holds a B.A. degree in Chemistry
trom Dartmouth College, a Ph.D. in Biophysical Chemistry from Stanford Umversny and completed post doctoral
training at the California Institute of Technology.

Laura Randall Woodhead has served as our Vice President, Legal Affairs and Secretary since March 2005.
Ms., Woodhead joined us as senior corporate counsel in September 2002 after seven years at Cooley Godward
Kronish LLP where she practiced corporate and securities law and served on our client team since 1997,
Ms. Woodhead earned an A.B. in Political Science from Stanford University and a J.D. from the University of
California Hastings College of Law.

Available Information

We maintain a site on the world wide web at www.genitope.com; however, information found on, or that can be
accessed through, our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We make
available free of charge on or through our website our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”), including our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form §-K
and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish
it to, the SEC. Further, a copy of this Annual Report on Form 10-K can be found at the SEC’s Public Reference
Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room
can be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330, by sending an electronic message to the SEC at
publicinfo@sec.gov or by sending a fax to the SEC at 1-202-777-1027. The SEC maintains an Internet site that
contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding our filings at www.sec.gov.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

In evaluating our business, you should carefully consider the following risks in addition to the other
information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Any of the following risks could materially and adversely
affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. It is not possible to predict or identify all such
factors and, therefore, you should not consider any of these risks to be a complete statement of all the potential risks
or uncertainties that we face.

Risks Related to Qur Business

We are dependent on the success of our lead product candidate, MyVax, and if clinical trials of MyVax,
or any other immunotherapies that we are developing or may develop, do not produce successful clinical
trial results, we will be unable to commercialize these products.

We have expended most of our time, money and effort in the development of our lead product, My Vax, and we
are dependent upon its success. MyVax is still in clinical development, has not yet received regulatory approval and
may never be commercialized. To receive regulatory approval for the commercial sale of MyVax, or any other
immunotherapies that we may develop, we must conduct, at our own expense, extensive clinical trials to
demonstrate to the FDA and other regulatory agencies that it satisfies rigorous standards of safety and efficacy
in humans. Clinical testing is expensive, can take many years and has an uncertain outcome. Failure can occur at any
stage of the testing. We may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, the testing process that
could delay or prevent commercialization of MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, including
the following:

« our clinical trials may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or regulators may
require us, to conduct additional clinical and/or preclinical testing;

« safety and efficacy results attained in our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for My Vax may be less positive than
the results obtained in our previously-completed Phase 2 clinical trials for MyVax;

« costs of our clinical trials may be greater than we currently anticipate;

« after reviewing test results, we may abandon projects that we might have previously believed to be
promising;

» we, or regulators, may suspend or terminate our clinical trials if the participating patients are being exposcd
to unacceptable health risks; and

+ the effects of MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, on patients may not be the desired
effects or may include undesirable side effects or other characteristics that may delay or preclude regulatory
approval or limit their commercial use if approved.

Success in preclinical testing and early clinical trials does not ensure that later clinical tnials will be successful.
For example, positive progression-free survival results in small scale Phase 2 clinical trials are not necessarily
indicative of the progression-free survival results in larger Phase 3 clinical trials. Moreover, all preliminary clinical
data reported from time to time prior to the release of final results of a trial regarding progression-free survival are
not fully audited and have been taken from databases that have not been fully reconciled against medical records
kept at the clinical sites or that may not include the most current information on patient disease progressions. The
DSMB'’s recommendation that we continue our ongoing pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for MyVax may not be
indicative of the eventual outcome of the Phase 3 clinical trial.

A number of companies in the pharmaceutical industry, including biotechnology companies, have suffered
significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials, even after promising results in earlier clinical trials. The data
collected from our clinical trials may not be sufficient to support regulatory approval of MyVax, or any other
immunotherapies that we may develop. We do not know whether our existing or any future clinical trials will
demonstrate safety and efficacy sufficiently to result in marketable products. Beyond MyVax in NHL, we have onfy
two other product development programs, which are at significantly earlier stages of development. We initiated a
Phase 2 clinical trial in February 2006 to evaluate My Vax for the treatment of CLL. We are also developing a panel
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of monoclonal antibodies; however we do not intend to file an IND application to initiate clinical trials before the
first half of 2008. We cannot be certain that we will be able to successfully develop any product candidate from these
development programs. Qur failure to adequately demonstrate the safety and efficacy of MyVax, or any other
immunotherapies that we may develop, will prevent receipt of regulatory approval and, ultimately, commercial-
ization of MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop.

We are subject to extensive regulation, which can be costly and time consuming and could subject us to
unanticipated delays or prevent us from obtgining the required approvals to commercialize MyVax, or any
other immunotherapies that we may develop. '

MyVax, and any other immunotherapies that we may develop, as well as clinical trials and manufacturing
activities, are subject to comprehensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory agencies in the United States
and by comparable authorities in other countries. In the United States, MyVax cannot be marketed until it is
approved by the FDA. Obtaining FDA approval involves the submission of the results of preclinical studies and
clinical trials of MyVax, among other information. We may not be able to obtain FDA approval, and, even if we are
able to do so, the process of obtaining these approvals is expensive, often takes many years and can vary
substantially based upon the type, complexity and novelty of the products involved. Approval policies or regulations
may change. The FDA can delay, limit or deny approval of MyVax for many reasons, including;

« the FDA may not find that My Vax is sufficiently safe or effective;
* FDA officials may interpret data from preclinical testing and clinical trials differently than we do; and
+ the FDA may not find our manufacturing processes or facilities satisfactory.

In addition, patient-specific active immunotherapies are complex, and regulatory agencies lack experience
with them, which may lengthen the regulatory review process, increase our development costs and delay or prevent
commercialization of our lead product candidate, MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop. The
FDA has not approved the marketing of any immunotherapeutic drug based on a patient-specific active immu-
notherapy. Consequently, there is no precedent for the successful commercialization of a patient-specific active
idiotype immunotherapeutic drug. In addition, we have not previously filed the marketing applications necessary to
gain regulatory approvals. This lack of experience may impede our ability to obtain timely FDA approval, if at all,
We will not be able to commercialize MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, until we obtain
FDA approval in the United States or approval by comparable authorities in other countries. Any delay in obtaining,
or inability to obtain, FDA approval would prevent us from commercializing MyVax, or any other immunotherapies
that we may develop.

We have incurred significant operating losses since inception and anticipate that we will continue fo incur
substantial losses and negative cash flow from operations for the foreseeable future.

We are a development stage company with a limited operating history. We have focused primarily on
conducting clinical trials and seeking regulatory approval for our lead product candidate, MyVax personalized
immunotherapy. We have not generated any revenues to date, and we have financed our operations and internal
growth through private placements of common and preferred stock, our lines of credit, public offerings of common
stock and interest income earmed from our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. We have incurred losses
in each year since our inception in 1996. Net losses were approximately $48.9 million in 2006, approximately
$30.4 million in 2005 and approximately $27.0 million in 2004. As of December 31, 2006, we had an accurnulated
deficit of approximately $194.1 million. These losses, among other things, have had and will continue to have an
adverse effect on our stockholders’ equity and working capital. We expect to incur substantiai operating losses for at
least the next several years. This is due primarily to the preparations to manufacture MyVax on a commercial scale
and the expansion of our clinical trials and research and development programs. We also have substantial lease
obligations related to our new manufacturing facility and corporate headquarters that constitute a significant portion
of our operating expenses. In addition, subject to regulatory approval of MyVax, we expect to incur sales, marketing
and manufacturing expenses, including expenses associated with the equipping and qualification of our new
manufacturing facility. In addition, the facility is designed for the production of My Vax for 3,600 patients each year
and, if MyVax receives regulatory approval, our facility would require us to purchase and install additional
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equipment to achieve this level of manufacturing capacity. As aresult, we expect to continue to incur significant and
increasing operating losses for the foreseeable future. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated
with developing immunotherapeutic drugs, we are unable to predict the extent of any future losses or when we will
achieve or sustain product revenues or become profitable, if ever.

We currently have no source of revenue and may never become profitable.

Our ability to become profitable depends upon our ability to generate revenue. To date, MyVax has not
generated any revenue, and we do not know when or if MyVax will generate revenue. Our ability to generate
revenue depends on a number of factors, including:

« the possibility of delays in the collection of clinical trial data and the uncertainty of the timing and results of
the final analysis of our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial;

« the uncertainty of results of our ongoing pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for MyVax, or other clinical trials of
My Vax;

» the uncertainty of obtaining regulatory approval for MyVax, including regulatory approval for our man-
ufacturing facility and process;

+ the uncertainty related to the completion of the equipping and qualification of our new manufacturing
facility, including any purchase and installation of additional equipment for the facility that may be:
necessary to provide additional manufacturing capacity for the commetcialization of MyVax if MyVax
receives regulatory approval;

» our ability to manufacture commercial quantities of MyVax at acceptable cost levels; and
« our ability to successfully market and sell MyVax.

We cannot predict when we may begin to realize product revenue. We do not anticipate that we will achieve
profitability, if at all, for at least the next few years after we begin generating revenues. If we are unable to generate
sufficient revenue, we will not become profitable, and we may be unable to continue our operations.

We will need significant additional funding and may be unable to raise capital when needed, which would
force us to delay, reduce or eliminate our product development programs or commercialization efforts.

Developing patient-specific active immunotherapies, conducting clinical trials, establishing manufacturing
facilities and marketing immunotherapies that we may develop is expensive. We will need to raise significant
additional capital to:

« fund our operations and clinical trials;
+ continue our research and development activities;

» satisfy lease obligations and operating expenses related to our new manufacturing and corporate headquarter
facility;
« complete the equipping and qualification of our new manufacturing facility, including the purchase and

instaliation of any additional equipment that may be necessary to achieve additional manufacturing capacity
for commercialization of MyVax if MyVax receives regulatory approval; and

+ commercialize MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, if any such immunotherapies
receive regulatory approval.,

We believe that our current cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, together with the interest thereon,
will provide us with sufficient financial resources to support our operating plan through at least the end of 2007,
which includes the anticipated timing of the completion of our Phase 3 clinical trial in November 2007. However,
actual results could vary significantly as a result of a number of factors, including the risk factors discussed in this
report. We have based this estimate on current assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could utilize our
available capital resources sooner than we currently expect. We expect our cash consumption will continue to
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increase in 2007, as we anlicipate an increase in our expenses related to the equipping and gualification of our new
manufacturing facility, the growth of the company and research and development of our monoclonal antibody
product candidates, as well as the continued development of MyVax. We will need to raise significant additional
funds to commercialize MyVax if MyVax receives regulatory approval for the treatment of follicular B-cell NHL.
Our manufacturing facility must be qualified and pass a pre-approval inspection from the appropriate regulatory
agency prior to any regulatory approval for MyVax. The facility is designed for the production of MyVax for
3,600 patients each year and, if My Vax received regulatory approval, our facitity would require the purchase and
installation of additional equipment to obtain this level of manufacturing capacity.

Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:

* the cost and timing of completing the equipping and qualification of our manufacturing facility, including
the purchase and installation of additional equipment necessary to achieve additional manufacturing
capacity for commercialization of MyVax if MyVax receives regulatory approval;

« the cost of operating our manufacturing facility;

+ the rate of progress and magnitude and cost of our product development efforts and other research and
development activities;

+ the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property
rights;

* the costs of assembling a BLA for MyVax;

* the costs of manufacturing My Vax for clinical trials;

* the timing and costs related to development of our other product candidates;
« the costs and timing of regulatory approval;

« the costs of establishing sales, marketing and distribution capabilities;

the success, if any, of the commercialization of MyVax, if regulatory approval is obtained;

s the pace of expansion of administrative and other infrastructure expenses required to support the growth of
the organization; ‘

« the effect of competing technological and market developments; and

* our ability to establish coilaborative, licensing or other arrangements for the development, sale, marketing or
distribution of our product candidates and the terms of those arrangements.

Future capital requirements will also depend upon the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses,
products and technologies, but we currently have no commitments or agreements relating to any of these types of
transactions.

We cannot predict when we may begin to realize product revenue, if at all. We currently anticipate that we will
obtain the initial results of the primary analysis, that is, whether a statistically significant increase in progression-
free survival is observed in patients receiving MyVax compared to patients receiving the control substance, from our
Phase 3 clinical trial by the end of 2007; however, it will take several months following the last patient visit,
currently planned for November 2007, to complete all the final analyses of the data from our Phase 3 clinical trial.

Until we can generate sufficient product revenue, if ever, we expect to finance future cash needs through public
or private equity offerings, debt financings or corporate collaboration and licensing arrangements, as well as
through interest income earned on cash balances. To the extent that we raise additional funds through collaboration,
licensing or other arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish some rights 1o our technologies, MyVax or any
other immunotherapies that we may develop, or to grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. We cannot be
certain that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. If adequate funds are not available, we
may be required to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more of our research or development programs or
our commercialization efforts. Any additional equity financing may be dilutive to stockholders, and any additional
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debt financing, if available, may require that we pledge our assets, including our intellectual property, or involve
restrictive covenants that would restrict our business activities.

We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials. If these third parfies do not successfully carry out
their contractual duties or meet expected deadlines, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for
or commercialize MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop.

Our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial of MyVax for the treatment of follicular B-cell NHL is being conducted at
34 treatment centers in the United States and Canada and will require long-term follow-up of the 287 patients
randomized into the trial, In addition, we initiated a Phase 2 clinical trial of MyVax for the treatment of CLL in
February 2006. This clinical trial is being conducted at eight sites across the United States. We do not have the
ability to independently conduct clinical trials for MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, and
we must rely on third parties, such as contract research organizations, medical institutions, clinical investigators and
contract laboratories to conduct our clinical trials. In addition, we rely on third-party couriers to transport pati¢nt
tissue samples and MyVax. If any of our relationships with these contract research organizations, medical
institutions, clinical investigators, contract laboratories or third-party couriers terminate, we may not be able to
enter into arrangements with alternative third parties. If certain of these third parties, such as medical institutions,
clinical investigators or contract laboratories, do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or obligations, do
not meet expected deadlines or need to be replaced, or if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is
compromised due to the failure to adhere to our clinical protocols or for other reasons, our clinical trials may be
extended, delayed or terminated, and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or successfully
commercialize MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop.

We rely on third parties to provide materials and services needed for the manufacture and testing of
MyVax. If these third parties do not adequately provide materials or fail to carry out their contractual
duties or obligations, we may not be able to successfully manufacture or commercialize MyVax, or any
other immunotherapies that we may develop.

We currently rely on third parties, such as vendors, suppliers and contract laboratories, to provide materials and
services necessary for the manufacture and testing of MyVax. If any of our relationships with these vendors,
suppliers or contract laboratories terminate, we may not be able to enter into arrangements with alternative third
parties. If certain of these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or obligations, do not
provide materials or services of suitable quality, we may experience delays in obtaining regulatory approval for or
successfully commercializing My Vax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop.

We have no experience manufacturing MyVax, or any other immunotherapies, for the number of patients
and at a cost that would enable widespread commercial use.

To date, we have manufactured MyVax in quantities necessary to support our ongoing pivotal Phase 3 clinical
trial and Phase 2 clinical trials for MyVax. We have no experience in manufacturing MyVax, or any other
immunotherapies, for the number of patients and at a cost that would support commercial use. In addition, since no
other company has manufactured an active immunotherapeutic product for commercial sale, there are no precederts
from which we could learn. To commercialize MyVax, we will need to complete equipping of and qualify our new
manufacturing facility to meet current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP, standards. In addition, our new
manufacturing facility is designed for the production of My Vax for 3,600 patients each year and, if MyVax receives
regulatory approval, we would need to purchase and install additional equipment to achieve this level of
manufacturing capacity. In any build-out, equipping or qualification process, we may encounter problems with,
among other things, controlling costs and quality control and assurance. If we cannot manufacture a sufficient
supply of MyVax on acceptable terms, the commercialization of MyVax will be delayed or prevented.
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We may experience difficuities in manufacturing MyVax, or any other immunotherapy that we may
develop, which could prevent us from completing our clinical trials and delay the commercialization of
MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop.

Manufacturing MyVax is a complex multi-step process that requires us to expend significant time, money and
effort on production, recordkeeping and quality contrel systems to assure that MyVax will meet product spec-
ifications and other regulatory requirements. In addition, manufacturing My Vax requires coordination internally
among our employees as well as externally with physicians, hospitals and third-party suppliers and carriers. This
process involves a number of risks that may lead to failures or delays in manufacturing MyVax, inctuding:

» failure to obtain a sufficient supply of key raw materials of suitable quality;
« difficulties in manufacturing My Vax for multiple patients simultaneously;
« difficulties in obtaining adequate tumor samples from physicians;

« difficulties in the timely shipping of tumor samples to us or in the shipping of MyVax to the treating
physicians due to errors by third-party carriers, transportation restrictions or other reasons;

+ difficulties in completing the development and validation of the specialized assays required to ensure the
consistency of MyVax;

+ failure to ensure adequate quality control and assurances in the manufacturing process as we increase the
production quantities of MyVax;

» destruction of, or damage to, tumor samples or MyVax during the shipping process due to improper handling
by third-party carriers, hospitais, physicians or us;

+ destruction of, or damage to, tumor samples or MyVax during storage at our facilities;

+ destruction of, or damage to, tumor samples or My Vax stored at clinical and/or future commercial sites due
to improper handling or holding by clinicians, hospitals or physicians;

« difficulties in qualifying and effectively operating our new manufacturing facitity or in procuring or
installing any additional equipment that may be necessary to conduct commercial-scale manufacturing;

* failure to comply with, or significant changes in, regulatory requirements, such as FDA regulations and
environmental laws;

+ destruction of, or damage to, our manufacturing facilities or equipment;
« shortages of qualified personnel; and
« difficulties in ensuring the quality and consistency of materials and services provided by our suppliers.

If we experience any difficulties in manufacturing MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop,
our ongoing clinical trials may be delayed and commercialization of MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we
may develop, may be delayed.

We currently depend on single source suppliers for critical raw materials for manufacturing, as well as
other components required for the administration of MyVax. The loss of any of these suppliers could
delay our clinical trials or prevent or delay commercialization of MyVax.

We currently depend on single source suppliers for critical raw materials used in MyVax and other components
used in the manufacturing process and required for the administration of MyVax. In particular, our manufacturing
process for MyVax requires keyhole limpet hemocyanin or KLLH, a foreign carnier protein which is derived from a
giant sea snail. We purchase KLH from biosyn Arzneimittel GmbH, or biosyn, a single source supplier. In December
1998, we entered into a supply agreement with biosyn, pursuant to which biosyn agreed to supply us with KLH. The
supply agreement expired on December 9, 2003, and a new agreement has not yet been entered into with biosyn. We
remain in discussions with biosyn regarding a new supply agreement, but we may not be able to reach an agreement
with biosyn on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. There may be no other supplier of KLH of suitable quality for
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our purposes, and there are significant risks associated with our ability to produce KLH of suvitable quality ourselves.
Even if we identify another supplier of KLH, or produce KLH ourselves, we will not be able to use the alternative
source of KLH for the commercial manufacture of MyVax unless the KLH is found to be comparable to the existing
KLH. In addition, even if MyVax is approved for commercial sale by the FDA, the FDA requires that, before we can
begin to commercially manufacture MyVax, we must ensure that any supplier of KLH will be compliant with cGMP.
Any inabitity to obtain a sufficient supply of KLH of suitable quality from biosyn or an alternate supplier, or produce
such KLH ourselves, could delay or prevent completion of our clinical trials and commercialization of MyVax.

In addition, we currently purchase specialized cell culture containers and cell culture media, which are critical
components of our manufacturing process, from Medtronic, Inc. and Hyclone Laboratories, each a single source supplier.
We do not have a long-term contract with Medtronic or Hyclone and rely on purchase orders to obtain the necessary cell
culture containers and cell culture media. Although 1o date, Medtronic and Hyclone have met our requirements for our
clinical trials, there are no direct alternative sources of supply for the cell culture containers or cell culture media.

Administration of MyVax requires an adjuvant, which is a substance that is administered with an antigen to
enhance or increase the immune response to that antigen. We use Leukine sargramostim, a commercially available
recombinant human granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor known as GM-CSF, as an adjuvant for
MyVax, which is commercially available solely from Berlex Laboratories, Inc. in the United States and Canada. We
currently purchase GM-CSF from Berlex for use in our clinical trials on a purchase-order basis and do not have a
supply agreement with Berlex. GM-CSF is an FDA-approved and commercially available drug that may be
purchased by physicians. If GM-CSF were to become unavailable as a result of regulatory actions, supply
constraints or other reasons, our development of MyVax could be delayed or jeopardized.

In the event we receive regulatory approval for MyVax, we would need to significantly increase the volume of
our purchases of these and other critical materials, and we cannot be certain that large volumes will be available
from our current suppliers. Establishing additional or replacement suppliers for these materials or components may
take a substantial amount of time. In addition, we may have difficulty obtaining similar materials from other
suppliers that are acceptable to the FDA. If we have to switch to a replacement supplier, we may face additional
regulatory delays and the manufacture and delivery of MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop,
could be interrupted for an extended period of time, which may delay or prevent completion of our clinical trials or
commercialization of MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop. If we are unable 1o obtain
adequate amounts of these materials, any of our prospective or ongoing clinical trials will be delayed. In addition,
we will be required to obtain regulatory clearance from the FDA to use different materials that may not be as safe or
as effective. As a result, regulatory approval of MyVax may not be received at all.

We will need to increase the size of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing
growth.

In order to continue our clinical trials and commercialize My Vax, or any other immunotherapies that we may
develop, we will need to significantly expand our employee base for managerial, operational, financial and other
resources. We anticipate that we will need more than 350 employees by the time My Vax is initially commercialized,
if MyVax receives regulatory approval. Future growth will impose significant added responsibilities on members of
management, including the need to identify, recruit, maintain and integrate additional employees. Qur future
financial performance and our ability to commercialize MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may
develop, and to compete effectively will depend, in part, on our ability to manage any future growth effectively, To
that end, we must be able to:

+ manage our research and development efforts effectively;
« manage our clinical trials effectively;
« integrate additional management, administrative, manufacturing and sales and marketing personnel;

» develop and implement our administrative, accounting, operations, quality, distribution and management
information systems and controls; and  *

« hire, train and retain additional qualified personnel and retain our existing personnel.
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We rely on the availability and condition of our sole manufacturing facility in Fremont, California. If the
facility were damaged or destroyed then our ability to manufacture products would be significantly
affected and we would be delayed or prevented from completing our clinical trials and commercializing
MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop.

We currently rely on the availability and condition of our sole manufacturing facility, located in Fremont,
California, to manufacture MyVax. We completed the build-out of a new manufacturing facility and corporate
headquarters in Fremont, California during the fourth quarter of 2006. The new facility is located in a seismic zone,
and there is the possibility of an earthquake which, depending on its magnitude, could be disruptive to our
operations. If our manufacturing facility or the equipment in the facility were significantly damaged or destroyed
for any reason, we would not be able to replace our manufacturing capacity quickly or inexpensively. We may have
to wait until we repaired the facility or equipment before we could resume clinical production. The damage or
destruction of the Fremont facility could affect our ability to complete clinical trials of, and to manufacture and
commercialize, MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop. In addition, our facilities have been
subject to electrical blackouts as a result of a shortage of available ¢lectrical power, Although we have back-up
emergency power generators to cover energy needs for key support systems, a lengthy outage could disrupt the
operations of our facilities and clinical trials. Any significant business interruption could cause delays in our
product development or harm our business.

Because it is difficult and costly to protect our proprietary rights, we may not be able to ensure their
protection.

Our commercial success will depend in part on obtaining and maintaining patent protection and trade secret
protection of MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, and the methods we employ 1o
manufacture them, as well as successfully defending these patents against third-party challenges.

As of December 31, 2006, we held two U.S. patents covering our core gene amplification technology,
including composition of matter claims directed to cell lines and claims directed to methods of making proteins
derived from patients’ tumors. These patents expire in 2016.

Corresponding patents, although more constrained in scope due to rules not applicable in the United States,
have been issued in South Africa, Canada and Australia, all of which expire in 2017. We have also filed additional
United States and corresponding foreign patent applications relating to our Hi-GET gene amplification technology.
We expect to continue to file additional patent applications.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies can be highly uncertain and involve
compiex legal and factual questions for which important legal principles remain unresolved. No consistent policy
regarding the breadth of claims allowed in biotechnology patents has emerged to date in the United States. The
biotechnology patent situation outside the United States is even more uncertain. Changes in either the patent laws or
in interpretations of patent laws in the United States and other countries may diminish the value of our intellectual
property. Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in our patents or in
third-party patents.

The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain because legal means afford only limited
protection and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep our competitive advantage. For
example:

* we might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by each of our pending patent applications
and issued patents;

+ we might not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventicns;
¢ others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies;
» it is possible that none of our pending patent applications will resuit in issued patents;

* our issued patents may not provide a basis for commercially viable active immunotherapies, or may not
provide us with any competitive advantages or may be challenged by third parties;
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» we may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable; or
» the patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business.

We also rely on trade secrets to protect our technology, especially where we do not believe patent protection is
appropriate or obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. While we believe we use reasonable efforts
to protect our trade secrets, our employees, consultants, contractors, outside scientific collaborators and other
advisors may unintentionally or willfully disclose our trade secrets to competitors. Enforcing a claim that a third
party illegally obtained and is using our trade secrets is expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is
unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the United States are sometimes less willing to protect trade secrets.
Moreover, our competitors may independently develop equivalent knowledge, methods and know-how.

If we are sued for infringing intellectual property rights of third parties, it will be costly and time consuming,
and an unfavorable outcome in that litigation would have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our ability to commercialize MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, depends upon our
ability to develop, manufacture, market and sell MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop,
without infringing the proprietary rights of third parties. Numerous United States and foreign issued patents and
pending patent applications, which are owned by third parties, exist in the genera! field of immunotherapy and gene
expression. In addition, because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be currently pending
applications, unknown to us, which may later resuit in issued patents that MyVax, or any other immunotherapies
that we may develop, may infringe. There could also be existing patents of which we are not aware that MyVax. or
any other immunotherapies that we may develop, may infringe.

In particular, we are aware of patents held jointly by Genentech, Inc. and City of Hope National Medical
Center relating to expression of recombinant antibodies, by British Technology Group PLC relating to expression of
recombinant proteins in mammalian cells, by the Board of Trustees of the Leland Stanford Junior University
relating to expression of recombinant antibodies and by Stratagene relating to generation of DNA that encodes
antibodies. To date, we have elected not 1o seek licenses for these patents because, among other reasons, we believe
that our pre-commercialization activities fall within the scope of an available exemption. In addition, we do not
believe that we will be required to seek any licenses upon completion of our pre-commercialization activities. For
more information, please refer to the section in this Annual Report on Form 10-K entitled “Business — Intellectual
Property.” We may be exposed to future litigation by the companies holding these patents or other third parties based
on claims that MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, or the methods we employ 1o
manufacture them, infringe their intellectual property rights. Our ability to manufacture and commercialize MyVax,
or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, may depend on our ability to demonstrate that MyVax, or any
other immunotherapies that we may develop, and our manufacturing processes do not infringe third-party patents. If
these patents were found to cover MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, or our manufacturing
process, we could be required to pay substantial damages and could be unable to commercialize MyVax, or any
other immunotherapies that we may develop, unless we obtained a license. A license may not be available to us on
acceptable terms in the future, if at all.

There is a substantial amount of litigation involving patent and other intellectual property rights in the
biotechnology and biopharmaceutical industries generally. If a third party claimed that we infringed on its
technology, we could face a number of issues, including:

» infringement and other intellectual property claims which, with or without merit, can be expensive and time-
consuming to litigate and can divert management's attention from our core business;

» substantial damages for past infringement which we may have to pay if a court decides that our product
infringes on a third party’s patent;

» ajudicial prohibition against our selling or licensing our product unless the patent holder licenses the patent
to us, which it is not required to do;

» if a license is available from a patent holder, we may have to pay substantial royalties or grant cross-licenses
to our patents; and
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¢ redesigning our process so it does not infringe which may not be possible or could require substantial funds
and time.

We are not able to prevent others, including potential competitors, from using the patient-specific idiotype
protein-KLH conjugate, comprising a single idiotype protein, that we use in our lead product candidate,
MyVax, for the treatment of follicular B-cell NHL.

Although we are able to receive patent protection for our amplified cell lines and the process we use to
manufacture the mumor-derived idiotype protein used in MyVax, the patient-specific idiotype-KLH conjugate,
comprising a single idiotype protein, and its use for the treatment of follicular B-cell NHL is in the public domain
and therefore cannot be patented. As a result, we cannot prevent other companies using different manufacturing
processes from developing active immunotherapies that directly compete with My Vax.

Even if MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, receives regulatory approval, we may
still face development and regulatory difficulties relating to MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that
we may develop, in the future,

If we receive regulatory approval to sell MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, the FDA
and foreign regulatory authorities may, nevertheless, impose significant restrictions on the indicated uses or
marketing of My Vax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, or impose ongoing requirements for post-
approval studies. In addition, regulatory agencies subject a marketed product, its manufacturer and the manu-
facturer’s facilities to continual review and periodic inspections. If we discover previously unknown problems with
a product or our manufacturing and laboratory facility, a regulatory agency may impose restrictions on that product
or on us, including requiring us to withdraw the product from the market. We will be subject to ongoing FDA
requirements for submission of safety and other post-market information. If we fail to comply with applicable
regulatory requirements, a regulatory agency may:

* issue warning letters;

* impose civil or criminal penalties;

* suspend our regulatory approval;

« suspend any of our ongoing clinical trials;

* refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications filed by us;
* impose restrictions on our operations, including closing our facilities; or

» seize or detain products or require a product recall.

Obtaining regulatory approval of our manufacturing process and facility or disruptions in our manufacturing
process may delay or disrupt our commercialization efforts.

Before we can begin to commercially manufacture MyVax, we must obtain regulatory approval from the FDA
for our manufacturing process and facility. In addition, we must pass a pre-approval inspection of our manufac-
turing facility by the FDA before My Vax can obtain marketing approval. In order to obtain approval, we will need to
ensure that all of our processes, methods and equipment are compliant with cGMP, and perform extensive audits of
vendors, contract laboratories and suppliers. If any of our vendors, contract laboratories or suppliers are found to be
out of compliance with cGMP, we may experience delays or disruptions in the manufacturing of MyVax while we
work with these third parties to remedy the violation or while we work to identify suitable replacement vendors.
Many of our suppliers are also subject to inspection by the FDA or other regulatory bodies and could experience
disruptions in their ability to supply products or services to us if regulators discover serious non-compliance issues.
The ¢cGMP requirements govern quality control of the manufacturing process and documentation policies and
procedures. In complying with cGMP, we will be obligated to expend time, money and effort in production, record
keeping and quality control to assure that the product meets applicable specifications and other requirements. If we
fail to comply with these requirements, we would be subject to possible regulatory action and may not be permitted
to sell MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop.
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We are currently manufacturing MyVax for our clinical trials at our existing facility in Fremont, California.
Our facility is currently subject to licensing requirements of the California Department of Heaith Services. We
applied for a license in the third quarter of 2006 and are waiting for the department to inspect our facility. Successful
completion of an inspection is a condition to receipt of a license. Our facility is subject to inspection at any time by
the FDA and the California Department of Health Services. Failure to obtain and maintain our license from the
California Department of Health Services or to meet the inspection criteria of the FDA and the California
Department of Health Services would disrupt our manufacturing processes and would harm our business. If an
inspection by the FDA, California Department of Health Services or foreign regulatory authorities indicated that
there were deficiencies, we could be required to take remedial actions, or our facility may be closed.

In order to commercialize MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, we will need to equip
and qualify our new manufacturing facility. Preparing a facility for commercial manufacturing may involve
unanticipated delays and the costs of complying with FDA regulations may be higher than we anticipated. In
addition, our facility is designed for the production of MyVax for 3,600 patients each year and, if MyVax receives
regulatory approval, we would need to purchase and install additional equipment to achieve this level of
manufacturing capacity. Any material changes we make to the manufacturing process may require approval by
the FDA and state or foreign regulatory authorities. Obtaining these approvals is a lengthy, involved process, and we
may experience delays. Such delays could increase costs and adversely affect our business.

Raising additional funds by issuing securities or through collaboration and licensing arrangements may
cause dilution to existing stockholders or require us to relinquish rights to our technologies, MyVax or
any other immunatherapies that we may develop.

We may raise additional funds through public or private equity offerings, debt financings, corporate collab-
oration or licensing arrangements or other arrangements. We cannot be certain that additional funding will be
available on acceptable terms, or at all. To the extent that we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, cur
stockholders may experience additional dilution, and debt financing, if available, may require that we pledge our
assets, including our intellectual property or involve restrictive covenants that would restrict our business activities.
To the extent that we raise additional funds through collaboration and licensing arrangements, it may be necessary
to relinquish some rights to our technologies, My Vax or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, or grant
licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.

Delays in clinical testing could result in increased costs to us and delay our ability to generate revenue.

Significant delays in clinical testing could materially impact our product development costs. We do not know
whether planned clinical trials will begin on time, will need to be restructured or will be completed on schedule, if at
all. Clinical trials can be delayed for a variety of reasons, including delays in obtaining regulatory approval to
commence and continue a study, delays in reaching agreement on acceptable clinical study agreement terms with
prospective sites, delays in obtaining institutional review board approval to conduct a study at a prospective site and
delays in recruiting patients to participate in a study.

In addition, we typically rely on third-party clinical investigators to conduct our clinical trials and other third-
party organizations to oversee the operations of such clinical trials and to perform data collection and analysis. As a
result, we may face additional delays outside of our control if these parties do not perform their obligations in a
timely fashion. If we have significant delays in testing or regulatory approvals, our financial resulls and the
commercial prospects for MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, will be harmed, our costs
could increase and our ability to generate revenue could be delayed.

If physicians and patients do not use MyVax or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, our
ability to generate revenue in the future will be limited.

If approved, MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, may not gain market acceptance
among physicians, patients, health care payors and the medical community. The degree of market acceptance of any
approved immunotherapies will depend on a number of factors, including:

* acceptable evidence of szifety and efficacy;
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» market acceptance of patient-specific active immunotherapies;

» the prevalence and severity of any side effects;

= potential advantages over alternative treatments;

* ability to produce an active immunotherapy at a competitive price;
+ convenience and ease of administration; l
« publicity concerning our products or competitive products;

* the strength of marketing and distribution support; and

« sufficient third-party coverage or reimbursement.

If MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, are approved but do not achieve an adequate
level of acceptance by physicians, healthcare payors and patients for the initial indication, it may be more difficult
for us to generate sufficient credibility with physicians and patients to commercialize MyVax or other immuno-
therpies for other indications, and thus we may not ever generate enough product revenue to become profitable.

If we are unable to obtain acceptable prices or adequate coverage and reimbursement from third-party
payors for MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, our revenues and prospects for
profitability will suffer.

Our ability to commercialize MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, is highly dependent
on the extent to which coverage and reimbursement for My Vax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop,
will be available from:

« governmental payors, such as Medicare and Medicaid;
* private health insurers, including managed care organizations; and
* other third-party payors.

Many patients will not personally be capable of paying for MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may
develop and will rely on third-party payors to pay for their medical needs. A primary current trend in the U.S. health
care industry is toward cost containment. Large private payors, managed care organizations, group purchasing
organizations and similar organizations are exerting increasing influence on decisions regarding the use of, and
reimbursement levels for, particular treatments. Such third-party payors, including Medicare, are challenging the
prices charged for medical products and services, and many third-party payors limit reimbursement for newly
approved health care products. In particular, third-party payors may limit the indications for which they will
reimburse patients who use MyVax, or any other immunotherapics that we may develop. Cost-control initiatives
could lead us to decrease the price we might otherwise establish for MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we
may develop, which would also result in lower product revenues. If governmental and other third-party payors do
not provide adequate coverage and reimbursement levels for MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may
develop, our revenue and prospects for profitability will suffer.

If our competitors are better able to develop and market products that are more effective than MyVax, or
any other immunotherapies that we may develop, our commercial opporfunity will be reduced or
eliminated.

We face competition from established pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, as well as from academic
institutions, government agencies and private and public research institutions. Various products are currently
marketed for the treatment of NHL, and a number of companies are developing new treatments. Many of our
competitors have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and development, manufac-
turing, preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing approved
products than we do. Smaller or early-stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly
through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies. Qur commercial opportunity will be
reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commercialize products that are safer, more effective, have
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fewer side effects or are less expensive than MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop. These
third parties compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel, estab-
lishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies and
technology licenses complementary to our programs or advantageous to our business.

We expect that our ability to compete effectively will depend upon our ability to:

s successfully and rapidly complete clinical trials and obtain all requisite regulatory approvals in a cost-
effective manner;

+ reliably and cost-effectively manufacture sufficient quantities of MyVax;

« maintain a proprietary position for our manufacturing process and other technology;
+ obtain appropriate reimbursement approvals for MyVax;

« attract and retain key personnel; and

« build an adequate sales and marketing infrastructure for MyVax.

In addition, our ability to compete effectively will depend on the relative efficacy and safety of other products
approved for sale as compared to own products,

Various products are currently marketed for treatment of NHL. Rituxan, a monoclonal antibody co-marketed
by Genentech, Inc. and Biogen Idec Inc., is approved for the first line treatment of retapsed or refractory, low grade
or follicular B-cell NHL, as well as for first-line treatment of diffuse large B-cell NHL in combination with
chemotherapy. In addition, several companies, such as GlaxoSmithKline and Biogen ldec Inc., are involved in the
development of passive immunotherapies for the treatment of NHL. There are also additional monoclonal
antibodies in various stages of development for NHL, many of which are slated to be used in combination with
Rituxan. Other treatment approaches include radioimmunotherapy, which essentially combines a passive immu-
notherapy with a radio-labeled monoclonal antibody to improve tumor cell destruction. This approach is approved
for the treatment of relapsed or refractory low grade, follicular, or transformed B-cell NHL and is under clinical
investigation for earlier use in low grade NHL. For more information, please refer to the section entitled
“Business — MyVax Personalized Immunotherapy™ in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In addition, there are several companies focusing on the development of active immunotherapies for the
treatment of NHL, including Favrille, Inc. and Biovest International, Inc., a majority-owned subsidiary of
Accentia, Inc. Favrille has completed enrollment of its Phase 3 clinical trial, and Biovest is still enrolling patients
for its active immunotherapy Phase 3 clinical trial in patients with follicular NHL. If either company meets its
clinical trial endpoints and its immunotherapy is approved by the FDA, it could compete directly with MyVax, if
approved. In addition, researchers are continually learning more about NHL and other forms of cancer, and new
discoveries may lead to new technologies for treatment. As a result, MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we
may develop, may be rendered obsolete and noncompetitive at any time.

Our efforts to discover, develop and commercialize MyVax for indications other than Jollicular B-cell
NHL are at an early stage and are subject to a high risk of failure.

The process of successfully developing product candidates is very time-consuming, expensive and unpre-
dictable. We have recently begun to direct our efforts toward the development of My Vax for indications other than
follicular B-cell NHL. We initiated a Phase 2 clinical trial in February 2006 to evaluate My Vax for the treatment of
CLL. This elinical trial is being conducted at eight sites across the United States. Patients in this Phase 2 clinical trial
are administered 16 immunizations over 52 weeks. The primary endpoint of the Phase 2 clinical trial is whether or
nol an immune response can be generated. We have completed enroliment of 76 patients in this triul and the
immunization phase has begun. We do not know whether this clinical trial or other clinical trials for MyVax in
indications other than follicular B-cell NHL will be completed on schedule, if at all. In addition, we do not know
whether this clinical trial or other clinical trials will result in marketable products. Typically, there is a high rate of
attrition for product candidates in clinical trials. We do not anticipate that MyVax for indications cther than
follicular B-cell NHL will reach the market for at least several years, if at all.
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If we are unable to establish sales and marketing capabilities or enter into agreements with companies to
sell and market MyVax, we may be unable to generate praduct revenue.

We do not have a sales organization and have no experience as a company in the sales, marketing and
distribution of pharmaceutical products. In order to commercialize any products, we must develop our sales,
marketing and distribution capabilities or make arrangements with a third party to perform these services. If My Vax
is approved for commercial sale, we currently plan to establish our own sales force to market it in the United States.
Developing a sales force is expensive and time consuming and could delay any product launch. We cannot be certain
that we would be able to develop this capacity. If we are unable to establish our sales and marketing capability, we
will need to contract with third parties to market and sell My Vax in the United States. We will also need to develop a
plan to market and sell MyVax outside the United States. To the extent that we enter into arrangements with third
parties to perform sales, marketing and distribution services, our product revenues are likely to be lower than if we
directly marketed and sold MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop. If we are unable to establish
adequate sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, independently or with others, we may not be able to
generate product revenue and may not become profitable.

If product liability lawsuits are successfully brought against us, we will incur substantial liabilities and
may be required to limit commercialization of MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may
develop.

We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the testing of MyVax, or any other
immunotherapies that we may develop, in human clinical trials and will face an even greater risk if we sell
MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, commercially. Currently, we are not aware of any
historical or anticipated product liability claims. In the future, an individual may bring a liability claim against us if
MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, causes, or merely appears to have caused, an injury, If
we cannot successfully defend ourselves against the product liability claim, we will incur substantial liabilities.
Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in:

* decreased demand for MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop;

= injury 10 our reputation;

» withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

+ substantial litigation costs;

* substantial monetary awards to patients;

* loss of revenues; and

* the inability to commercialize MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop.

We have generatl liability insurance, which includes preduct liability insurance coverage for our clinical trials
up to a $5.0 million annual aggregate limit, We intend to expand our insurance coverage to include the sale of
commercial products if marketing approval is obtained for MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may
develop. Although we believe that our current insurance coverage is adequate, it may not be sufficient to cover all
losses that might arise. However, insurance coverage is increasingly expensive. We may not be able to maintain
insurance coverage at a reasonable cost and we may not be able to obtain insurance coverage that will be adequate to
satisfy any liability that may arise.

We may incur significant costs complying with environmenial laws and regulations.

We use hazardous materials that could be dangerous to human health, safety or the environment. As
appropriate, we store these materials and various wastes resulting from their use at our facility pending ultimate
use and disposal. We currently contract with a third party to dispose of these materials and various wastes resulting
from the use of such materials at our facility. We are subject to a variety of federal, state and local laws and
regulations governing the use, generation, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of these materials and
wastes resulting from the use of such materials. While our costs for compliance, including costs related to the

38




disposal of hazardous materials, to date have been nominal, we may incur significant costs complying with both
existing and future environmental laws and regulations. We are subject to regulation by the Occupational Safety and
Health Administration, or OSHA, the California and federal environmental protection agencies and to regulation
under the Toxic Substances Control Act. OSHA or the California or federal Environmental Protection Agency, may
adopt regulations that may affect our research and development programs. We are unable to predict whether any
agency will adopt any regulations that could have a material adverse effect on our operations.

If we use biological and hazardous materials in a manner that causes injury or violates laws, we may be
liable for damages.

Our research and development and manufacturing activities involve the use of biological and hazardous
materials that could be dangerous to human health, safety or the environment. Even if our safety procedures for
handling, storage and disposing of these materials comply with federal, state and local laws and regulations, we
cannot entirely eliminate the risk of accidental injury or contamination from the use, storage, handling or disposal of
these materials. In the event of contamination or injury, we could be held liable for any resulting damages. We have
general liability insurance of up to $5.0 million per occurrence, with an annual aggregate limit of $5.0 million. "This
insurance may not cover a claim that arises if it is related to our biological or hazardous materials. Furthermore, if
we were to be held liabte for an accident involving our biological or hazardous materials, this liability could exceed
our insurance coverage and our other financial resources.

We are subject to new legislative efforts, regulatory proposals and managed care initiatives that may
increase our costs of compliance and adversely affect our ability to market our products, obtain
collaborators and raise capital,

There have been a number of legislative and regulatory proposals aimed at changing the healthcare system and
pharmaceutical industry, including reductions in the cost of prescription products and changes in the levels at which
consumers and healthcare providers are reimbursed for purchases of pharmaceutical products. For example, the
Prescription Drug and Medicare Improvement Act of 2003 provides a new Medicare prescription drug benefit that
began in 2006 and mandates other reforms. Although we cannot predict the full impact on our business of the
implementation of this new legislation, it is possible that the new benefit, which is managed by private health
insurers, pharmacy benefit managers and other managed care organizations, will result in decreased reimbursement
for prescription drugs, which may further exacerbate industry-wide pressure to reduce the prices charged for
prescription drugs. This effect could harm our ability to market our products and generate revenues.

If we fail to attract and keep senior management and key scientific personnel, we may be unable to
successfully develop MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, conduct our clinical
trials and commercialize MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop.

Our success depends upon our continued ability to attract, retain and motivate highly qualified management,
clinical and scientific personnel and on our ability to develop and maintain important relationships with leading
academic institutions, clinicians and scientists. We are highly dependent upon our senior management and scientific
staff, particularly Dan W. Denney, Jr., Ph.D., our founder, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The loss of
services of Dr. Denney or one or more of our other members of senior management could delay or prevent the
successful completion of our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial or the commercialization of MyVax or adversely affect
our other development efforts. Currently, we do not have employment agreements with any members of senior
management. As of December 31, 2006, Dr. Denney owned 1,266,933 shares of our common stock that were not
subject to any vesting and options to purchase 779,167 shares of our common stock, of which approximately
285,415 shares were vested. We do not carry “key person” insurance covering members of senior management other
than Dr. Denney. The insurance covering Dr. Denney is in the amount of $10.0 million.

The competition for qualified personnel in the biotechnology field is intense. In particular, our ability to deliver
patient therapies depends upon our ability to attract and retain quality assurance and control personnel. We will need
to hire additional personnel as we continue to expand our manufacturing, research and development activities.
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Other Risks

Our stock price may be volatile, and your investment in our stock could decline in value.

The market prices for securities of biotechnology companies in general have been highly volatile and may
continue to be highly volatile in the future. The following factors, in addition to other risk factors described in this
Item, may have a significant impact on the market price of our common stock:

= announcements of technological innovations or new products by us or our competitors;
* the success of our research efforts and clinical trials;

* announcement of FDA approval or non-approval of MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may
develop, or delays in the FDA review process;

* actions taken by regulatory agencies with respect to MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may
develop, clinical trials, manufacturing process or sales and marketing activities;

+ regulatory developments in the United States and foreign countries;
* any intellectual property infringement lawsuit involving us;

* announcements concerning our competitors, or the biotechnology or biopharmaceutical industries in
general;

* actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results;

+ changes in financial estimates or recommendations by securities analysts;

» sales of large blocks of our common stock;

+ sales of our common stock by our executive officers, directors and significant stockholders;
* changes in accounting principles: and

* the loss of any of our key scientific or management personnel.

In particular, you may not be able to resell your shares at or above your purchase price. The stock markets in
general, and the markets for biotechnology stecks in particular, have experienced extreme volatility that has often
been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. These broad market fluctuations may
adversely affect the trading price of our common stock. In the past, class action litigation has often been instituted
against companies whose securities have experienced periods of volatility in market price. Any such litigation
brought against us could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources, which
would impair our business, operating results and financial condition.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make our acquisition,
which may be beneficial to our stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders
to replace or remove our current management.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our bylaws may delay or prevent our
acquisition or a change in our management. In addition, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by
our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to
replace members of our Board of Directors. Because our Board of Directors is responsible for appointing the
members of our management team, these provisions could in turn affect any attempt by our stockholders to replace
current members of our management team. These provisions include a classified board of directors and a
prohibition on actions by our stockholders by written consent. In addition, cur Board of Directors has the right
to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could be used to institute a “poison pill” that would
work to dilute the stock ownership of a potential hostile acquirer, effectively preventing acquisitions that have not
been approved by our Board of Directors. In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by
the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which prohibits stackholders owning in
excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock from merging or combining with vs in certain circumstances. Finally,
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these provisions establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our Board of Directors or for
proposing matters that can be acted upon at stockholder meetings. Although we believe these provisions together
provide for an opportunity to receive higher bids by requiring potential acquirers to negotiate with our Board of
Directors, they would apply even if the offer may be considered beneficial by some stockholders.

The ownership interests of our officers, directors and largest stockholders could conflict with the interests
of our other stockholders.

As of February 22, 2007, our officers, directors and holders of 5% or more of our outstanding common stock
beneficially owned approximately 27.2% of our common stock (assuming no exercise of outstanding options or
warrants). As a result, these stockholders, acting together, are able to significantly influence all matters requiring
approval by our stockholders, including the election of directors and the approval of mergers or other business
combination transactions. The interests of this group of stockholders may not always coincide with our interests or
the interests of other stockholders.

Future sales of our common stock could lower the market price of our common stock.

Sales of substantial amounts of shares in the public market could reduce the market price of our common stock.
As of February 22, 2007, 36,052,685 shares of our common stock were outstanding. All of these shares are freely
tradable under federal and state securities laws, Of the 3,871,814 shares issuable upon exercise of options to
purchase our common stock outstanding as of February 22, 2007, approximately 1,628,613 shares were vested and
eligible for sale as of February 22, 2007. In the future, we may also issue additional shares to our ecmployess,
directors or consultants, in connection with corporate alliances or acquisitions, and issue additional shares in
follow-on offerings to raise additional capital. Due to these factors, sales of a substantial number of shares of cur
common stock in the public market could occur at any time. Such sales could reduce the market price of our
common stock.

We have an effective registration statement on Form S-3 registering the offer and sale from, time to time, of
shares of our common stock in one or more offerings up to a total offering price of $125 million at prices and on
terms to be determined by market conditions at the time of any offering made under the shelf registration statement.
In February 2006, we sold 7,360,000 shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $8.50 per share under
the registration statement. Additional sales of shares under this shelf registration statement could harm the market
price of our common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.

Not applicable.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

In May 2005, we entered into two agreements (the “Lease Agreements”) to lease an aggregate of approx-
imately 220,000 square feet of space located in two buildings at the Ardenwood Technology Park in Fremont,
California for our new manufacturing facility and corporate headquarters, The term of each of the leases is
15.5 years, terminating in November 2020. The Lease Agreements include two five-year options to extend the téras
of the leases. In addition, we have a three-year option to lease additional space on adjacent property. Simultaneously
with the execution of the Lease Agreements, we also entered into two construction agreements to provide for the
build-out of the approximately 220,000 square foot, two-building campus. The construction build-out began in the
fourth quarter of 2005 was completed in two phases, with the first building completed in the third quarter of 2006
and the second building which was completed in the fourth quarter of 2006.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

We are not currently involved in any material legal proceedings.
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ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

No matters were submitted to a vote of our security holders, through solicitation of proxies or otherwise, during
the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2006.

PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER REPURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

QOur common stock has traded on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “GTOP” since October 30,
2003. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low closing sales prices for our common
stock as reported by the Nasdaq Global Market:

Common Stock

2006 2005
Fourth Quarter. . ... ... ... ..o, $3.76 $294 3850 5592
Third Quarter . . ... ... ... . .. e 6.81 2.33 13.34 6.79
SecondQuarter . .. ... ...t 8.87 6.09 13.59 10.70
First Quarter . . ............ ... ... ... . 9.70 8.06 16.71 12.10

Holders

As of February 22, 2007, there were approximaitely 214 holders of record of our common stock.

Dividends

Since inception, we have not paid dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain all future
earnings, if any, for use in our business and currently do not plan to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
Any future determination to pay dividends will be solely at the discretion of our board of directors.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The selected financial data set forth below are derived from our financial statements. The statement of
operations data for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, and the balance sheet data as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005 are derived from our audited financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. The statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the
balance sheet data as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 are derived from our audited financial statements not
included in this Annual Report Form 10-K. The historical results are not necessarily indicative of results to be
expected for any future period. The data presented below have been derived from financial statements that have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and should be read
with our financial statements, including the accompanying notes to the financial statements, and with "Muanage-
ment’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(In thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:
Operating expenses:

Research and development(1)................ $40241 $25867 $22571 $19678 $15915
Sales and marketing(1) ............. ... ..., 2,740 2,704 1,793 1,591 1,338
General and administrative(l) ............... $ 8,627 4,938 3,356 2,937 2,832
Total operating expenses . .................. $ 51,608 33,509 27,720 24,206 20,085
Loss from operations . ... .................. (51,608) (33,509) (27,7200  (24,206)  (20,085)

Loss on extinguishment of convertible notes and
cancellation of Series E convertible preferred

stock warrants . . ... ... i e e — — — (3,509) -—
Interest expense. ... .......... ... cint.n.. (1,164) (26) 4 (2,845) —
Interest and other income, net .. ............. $ 3,860 3,111 698 97 221
Netloss. ..o e e e (48,912) (30424) (27026) (30,463) (19,8¢4)

Dividend related to issuance of convertible
preferred shares and the beneficial conversion

feature of preferred stock . . ... ... ... ... .. — — — (18,407) —_—
Net loss attributable to common stockholders . . .. $(48,912) $(30,424) ${27,026) $(48,870) $(19,864)
Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to

common stockholders. .. ................. $ (1.39) % (1.08) % (v.31) $(11.86) 3 (11.62)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net

loss attributable to common stockholders . .. .. 35,081 28,271 20,683 4,122 1,710

(1) Includes non-cash stock-based compensation of the following:

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)
Research and development. . . .................. $2072 $ 76 %627 $i,046 $ 589
Sales and marketing. . . ........ ... ... ... . ... 262 57 143 176 141
General and administrative. . .. ................. 2,835 151 210 679 635
Total . oo e $5.169  $284 3980 $1,901  $1,365 -
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As of December 31,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)

Balance Sheet Data;
Cash, cash equivalents and

marketable securities .. ........ $ 51682 % 42358 $116509 $29790 $§ 9422
Working capital ... ............. 42,967 31,932 113,989 26,590 7,929
Restricted cash and marketable

SECUMLIES . ... oo v et i 9,579 38,762 — — —_
Total assets ., . .......oonuvn . 160,423 115,395 119,865 32,352 11,986
Current portion of credit line . . . . .. 1,662 — — — —
Non-current portion of credit line. . . 3,609 — — — —
Lease financing liability, including

accrued interest . . ............ 41,941} 15,787 — —_ —
Convertible preferred stock ... .. .. — — — — 46,853
Deficit accumulated during

development stage . . .......... (194,125)  (145,213)  (114,78%)  (87,763)  (38,8393)
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) . . 102,846 86,948 116,196 28,742 (36,414)

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of the financial condition and resulis of operations should be read in conjunction with
our financial statements and notes to those statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K (including the
disclosures under “ltem IA. Risk Factors).

Overview

We are & biotechnology company focused on the research and development of novel immunotherapies for the
treatment of cancer, Immunotherapies are treatments that utilize the immune system to combat diseases. Qur lead
product candidate, MyVax® personalized immunotherapy, is a patient-specific active immunotherapy that is based
on the unique genetic makeup of a patient’s tumor and is designed (o activate a patient’s immune system to identify
and attack cancer cells. MyVax is currently in a pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for the treatment of follicular B-cell
non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma, or B-cell NHL and has clinical trials in diffuse large B-cell NHL and mantle celt NHL.
B-cells, also called B lymphocytes, are one of the two major classes of lymphocytes, which are types of white blood
cells. In the United States, B-cell NHL represents approximately §5% to 90% of diagnosed cases of lymphoma. In
the United States, approximately 55,000 patients are newly diagnosed with NHL each year, and there are over
300,000 existing patients currently diagnosed with NHL. Qur pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial is designed for the
treatment of follicular B-cell NHL, which represents approximately 22% of the cases of NHL. Resulis from our
completed and our ongoeing clinical trials of MyVax for the treatment of B-cell NHL indicate that MyVax is
generally safe and well tolerated. We believe that patient-specific active immunotherapies can also be applied
successfully 1o the treatment of other cancers. As a result, we initiated a Phase 2 clinical trial in February 2006 to
evaluate MyVax for the treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia, or CLL.

In November 2000, based on positive interim Phase 2 clinical trial results from our 9901 trial, we initiated a
pivotal, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 3 clinical trial, our 2000-03 trial, to assess the safety and efficacy of
MyVax in treating patients with previously untreated follicutar B-cell NHL. The treatment phase for all of the
287 patients enrolled in this trial has been completed. During the week of July 24, 2007, our independent Data
Safety Monitoring Board, or DSMB, met and reviewed the second planned interim analysis of blinded data for
safety and efficacy in our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial and recommended the trial continue as planned. We currently
anticipate that we will obtain the initial results of the primary analysis, that is whether a statistically significant
increase in progression-free survival is observed in patients receiving MyVax compared 1o patients receiving the
control substance, from our Phase 3 clinical trial by the end of 2007; however, it will take several months following
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the last patient visit, currently planned for November 2007, to complete all the final analyses of the data from our
Phase 3 clinical trial. We believe that, if successful, the results of our Phase 3 clinical trial wiil support our
application for regulatory approval of MyVax for the treatment of follicular B-cell NHL. The total research and
development costs associated with and incurred for the development of MyVax for the treatment of B-cell NHL
were approximately $40.2 million, $25.9 million and $22.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectively. From inception through December 31, 2006, the total research and development costs
associated with and incurred for the development of MyVax for the treatment of follicular B-cell NHL were
approximately $141.2 million.

We are also developing a panel of monoclonal antibodies that we believe potentially represents an additional
novel, personalized approach for treating NHL. We recently filed patent applications for the composition and
therapeutic use of this panel. The monoclonal antibodies could eventually be used alone or in synergistic
combination with MyVax and might reduce or eliminate the need for chemotherapy in the early treatment of
NHL. We intend to file an investigational new drug, or IND, application in the first half of 2008 and initiate clinical
trials thereafter.

We have not generated any revenues to date, and we have financed our operations and internal growth through
private placements of common and preferred stock, our lines of credit, public offerings of common steck and
interest income earned from our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. We are a development-siage
enterprise and have incurred significant losses since our inception in 1996, as we have devoted substantially ail of
our efforts to research and development activities, including clinical trials. As of December 31, 2006, we had an
accumulated deficit of $194.1 million. As of December 31, 2006, we had cash, cash equivalents and marketable
securities of $61.3 million, including $9.6 million that is restricted as to its use. In February 2006, we completed an
underwritien public offering under our 2005 shelf registration statement in which we sold 7,360,000 shares of
common stock at a public offering price of $8.50 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of $62.6 million. After
deducting the underwriters’ commission and estimated offering expenses, we received net proceeds of approx-
imately $58.4 miilion.

We anticipate working on a number of long-term development projects that will involve experimental and
unproven technology. The projects may require many years and substantial expenditures to complete and may
ultimately be unsuccessful. We will need significant additional operating funds to continue our research and
development activities and clinical trials, pursue regulatory approvals, and if regulatory approval of a product
candidate is obtained, to build sales and marketing capabilities and potentially expand production capabilities, as
necessary.

We cannot predict when we may begin to realize product revenue. Until we are able to generate sufficient
product revenue, if ever, we expect to finance future cash needs through public or private equity offerings, debt
financings or corporate collaboration and licensing arrangements, as well as through interest income carned on cash
balances. We cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. To the exient
that we raise additional funds through collaboration and licensing arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish
some rights to our technologies, MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, or to grant licenses on
terms that are not favorable to us. If adequate funds are not available, we may be required to delay, reduce the scope
of or eliminate one or more of our research and development programs or our commercialization efforts. Any
additional equity financing may be dilutive to stockholders, and any additional debt financing, if available, may
require that we pledge our assets, including our intellectual property, or involve restrictive covenants that would
limit our business activities.

The successful development of our drug candidates is highly uncertain. We cannot estimate with certainty or
know the exact nature, timing or cost of the efforts necessary to complete the development of MyVax nor can we
predict with precision when these development efforts will be completed. We cannot reasonably predict when we
may have material net cash inflows from sales of My Vax, if ever. These uncertainties result from the numerous risks
associated with developing MyVax, including:

» the possibility of delays in the collection of clinical trial data and the uncertainty of the timing and results of
the final analysis of our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for MyVax;
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* the uncertainty of obtaining regulatory approval for MyVax, including regulatory approval for our man-
ufacturing facility and process;

* the uncertainty related to completion of the equipping and qualification of our new manufacturing facility,
including the purchase and installation of any additional equipment that may be necessary to achieve
additional manufacturing capacity for commercialization of My Vax, if MyVax receives regulatory approval;

* our ability to manufacture commercial quantities of MyVax at acceptable cost levels; and
* our ability to successfully market and sell MyVax,

If we fail to complete the development of My Vax in a timely manner, it could have a material adverse effect on
our operations, financial position and liquidity. In addition, any failure by us to obtain, or any delay in obtaining,
regulatory approvals could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

A further discussion of the risks and uncertainties associated with completing our projects on schedule, or at
all, and certain consequences of failing to do so are set forth in the risk factors entitled “We will need significant
additional funding and may be unable to raise capital when needed, which would force us to delay, reduce or
eliminate our product development programs or commercialization efforts,” “We currently have no source of
revenue and may never become profitable,” “We are dependent on the success of our lead product candidate,
MyVax, and if clinical trials of MyVax, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, do not produce
successful clinical trial results, we will be unable to commercialize these products” and “Qur efforts 1o discover,
develop and commercialize MyVax for indications other than follicular B-cell NHL are at an early siage and are
subject to a high risk of failure,” as well as other risk factors. We anticipate that we will continue to incur significant
and increasing operating losses for the foreseeable future as we continue our clinical development, apply for
regulatory approvals, equip and qualify our manufacturing facility, including the purchase and installation of any
additional equipment that may be necessary to achieve additional manufacturing capacity for the commercial-scale
manufacture of My Vax if My Vax receives regulatory approval, and seek to develop active immunotherapies for the
treatment of CLL and potentially other forms of cancer, to establish sales and marketing and distribution
capabilities and otherwise to expand our operations.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires us to make estimates. assumptions and judgments that affect
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates. We base our estimates on historical experience and
various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form our
basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent {rom other
sources, Actual results may differ from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect the more significant judgments and estimates used
in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements:

Clinical Trial Accruals. Our cost accruals for clinical trials are based on estimates of the services
received and efforts expended pursuant to contracts with numerous clinical trial centers and clinical research
organizations. These costs are a significant component of research and development expenses. In the normai
course of business, we contract with third parties to perform various clinical trial activities in the ongoing
development of MyVax. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation and variation from
contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows. Payments under the contracts depend on factors
such as the achievement of certain events, the successful accrual of patients or the completion of portions of the
clinical trial or similar conditions. The objective of our accrual policy is to match the recording of expenses in
our financial statements to the actual services received and efforts expended. We accrue for the costs of clinical
studies conducted by contract research organizations, or CROs, based on estimated costs over the life of the
individual study. Further, we monitor patient registration levels and related activity to the extent possible and
adjust our estimates on a monthly basis. In addition to considering information from our clinical operations
group regarding the status of our clinical trials, we rely on information from CROs to calculate our accrual for
direct clinical expenses at the end of each reporting period. For indirect expenses, which relate to site and other
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administrative costs to manage our clinical trials, we rely on information provided by the CRO, including costs
incurred by the CRO as of a particular reporting date, to calculate our indirect clinical expenses. Our estimates
and assumptions may not match the timing of actual services performed by the organizations, which may result
in adjustments to our research and development expenses in future periods.

Stock-Based Compensation.

We have adopted various stock plans that provide for the grant of stock option awards to employees, non-
employee directors and consultants. We also have an employee stock purchase plan {the “ESPP”) which enables
employees to purchase our common stock. See Note 10 for further information regarding our stock-based
compensation assumptions and expenses, including pro forma disclosures for prior periods as if we had recorded
stock based compensation expense.

During the first quarter of fiscal 2006, we adopted the provisions of, and began to account for stock-based
compensation in accordance with, the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB”) Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123 — revised 2004 (“SFAS 123R”), “Share-Based Payment,” which replaced State-
ment of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (“SFAS 1237), “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation™ and
supersedes Accounting Principles Board APB Opinion No. 25 (“APB 25”), “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.” Under the fair value recognition provisions of this statement, stock-based compensation cost is
measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis
over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. We transitioned to SFAS 123R using the
modified-prospective method, under which prior periods have not been revised for comparative purposes. The
valuation provisions of SFAS 123R apply to new grants and to grants that were outstanding as of the effective datz
and are subsequently modified. Estimated compensation for grants that were outstanding as of the effective date will
be recognized over the remaining service period using the compensation cost previously estimated for our SFAS 123
pro forma disclosures.

Stock-based compensation expense recognized during the period is based on the value of the portion of stock-
based payment awards that is ultimately expected to vest during the period. Recognized stock-based compensation
expense includes compensation expense for share-based payment awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of
December 31, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the pro forma provisions of
SFAS 123 for options granted after our initial public offering of our common stock (the “IPO”). Compensation
expense for the share-based payment awards granted subsequent to December 31, 2005 are based on the grant date:
fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. The estimated fair value of our equity-based
awards, less expected forfeitures, is amortized over the awards’ vesting periods on a straight-line basis.

We currently use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options and ESPF
shares. The determination of the fair value of stock-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-
pricing model is affected by our stock price as well as by assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective
variables. These variables include our expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards, actual and
projected employee stock option exercise behaviors, risk-free interest rate and expected dividends.

Because there is insufficient historical information available to estimate the expected term of the stock-based
awards, we adopted the simplified method for estimating the expected term pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 107 (“SAB 107™). On this basis, we estimated the expected term of options granted by taking the
average of the vesting term and the contractual term of the option. We estimate the volatility of our common stock
by using historical volatility, with an assessment of reasonableness through a review of the volatility of comparable
companies. We base the risk-free interest rate that we use in the option valuation model on U.S. Treasury zero-
coupon issues, with remaining terms similar to the expecied term on the options. We do not anticipate paying any
cash dividends in the foreseeable future, and therefore, use an expected dividend yield of zero in the option
valuation model. We are required to estimate forfeitures at the time of grant and revise those estimates in subsequent
periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. We use historical data to estimate pre-vesting option
forfeitures and record stock-based compensation expense only for those awards that are expected to vest. All
stock-based payment awards are amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards,
which are generally the vesting periods.
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If factors change and we employ different assumptions for estimating stock-based compensation expense in
future periods or if we decide to use a different valuation model, amounts recorded in future periods may differ
significantly from amounts we have recorded in the current period and could materially affect our results of
operations.

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options
that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable, characteristics not present in our option grants and
employee stock purchase plan shares. Existing valuation models, including the Black-Scholes and lattice binomial
models, may not provide reliable measures of the fair values of our stock-based compensation. Consequently, there
is a risk that our estimates of the fair values of our stock-based compensation awards on the grant dates may bear
little resemblance to the actual values realized upon the exercise, expiration, early termination or forfeiture of those
stock-based payments in the future. Certain stock-based payments, such as employee stock options, may expire
worthless or otherwise result in zero intrinsic valee as compared to the fair values originally estimated on the grant
date and reported in our financial statements. Alternatively, value may be realized from these instruments that are
significantly higher than the fair values originally estimated on the grant date and reported in our financial
statements. There currently is no market-based mechanism or other practical application to verify the reliability and
accuracy of the estimates stemming from these valuation models, nor is there a means to compare and adjust the
estimates to actual vahes,

The guidance in SFAS 123R and SAB 107 is relatively new. The application of these principles may be subject
to further interpretation and refinement over time. There are significant differences among valuation models, and
there is a possibility that we will adopt different valuation models in the future. Any such change may result in a lack
of consistency in future periods and materially affect the fair value estimate of stock-based payments. The use of a
particular option valvation model may also result in a lack of comparability with other companies that use different
models, methods and assumptions. See Note 10 for further information regarding the SFAS 123R disclosures.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No, 48 (“FIN 48"}, “Accounting for Uncentainty in Income
Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax
positions, FIN 48 requires that we recognize in our financial statements the impact of a tax position if that position is
more likely than not to be sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. The provisions of FIN 48
are effective as of January 1, 2007, with the cumulative effect, if any, of the change in accounting principle recorded
as an adjustment to opening retained earnings. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting FIN 48 on our
financial statements, but do not expect this interpretation to have a material impact on our financiai position, results
of operations or cash flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 157 (“SFAS 157”), “Fair Value Measurements.”
This Statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under generally accepted
accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This Statement applies to other
accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements, the FASB having previously concluded
in those accounting pronouncements that fair value is the relevant measurement attribute. Accordingly, this
Statement does not require any new fair value measurements. However, for some entities, the application of this
Statement will change current practice. The provisions of SFAS 157 are effective as of January 1, 2007. We are
currently evaluating the impact of SFAS 157, but do not expect the adoption of this Statement to have a material
impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108
(“SAB 108™), “Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current
Year Financial Statements”, which provides guidance on quantifying and evaluating the materiality of unrecorded
misstatements. SAB 108 is effective for annual financial statements covering the first fiscal year ending after
November 15, 2006, with earlier application encouraged for any interim period of the first fiscal year ending after
November 15, 2006, filed after the publication of SAB 108 (September 13, 2006).

On February 15, 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (SFAS 159).
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The statement provides companies with an option to report selected financial assets and liabilities at fair value.
SFAS 159 also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements to facilitate comparisons between companies
using different measurement attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities. The statement is effective as of the
beginning of the first fiscal year that begins after November 15, 2007. Earlier adoption is permitted provided the
company also elects to apply the provisions of SFAS 137, Fair Value Measurement. We are currently evaluating the
impact that this standard may have on our financial statements,

Results of Operations

Research and development expenses

Year Ended December 3, Annual Percent Change
2006 2005 2004 2006/2005 2005/2004
(In miltions, except percentages)

Staffing related . . ... ... .. ... ..o $18.1 %127 395 43% 34%
Clinical trial and manufacturing material costs. . . . 8.2 6.5 8.5 26% 24)%
Amortization of deferred stock-based

COMPENSALION ..\ oot et s e e 2.1 0.1 0.6 2000% (83))%
Facilities and othercosts. .. ........... ... ... 11.8 6.6 4.0 79% 65%
Total research and development expenses . ... ... $402 $259 $226 55% 15%

Research and development expenses represented approximately 78%, 77% and 81% of our total operating
expenses for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Research and development expenses
include the personnel costs related to our development activities and clinical trial preparations, preclinical and
clinical trial expenses, including costs related to registration, treatment and monitoring expenses, costs related to
regulatory matters and costs related to the developiment of cur manufacturing process.

The increase in research and development expenses for 2006 as compared to 20035 was a result of higher staffing
levels and development activity, of which approximately $5.4 million was related to the hiring of process sciences,
research and manufacturing executives and related personnel during 2006. In addition, we recognized higher facilities
and other costs of approximately $5.2 million in 2006, which included higher rent expense of approximately
$1.6 million associated with the Lease Agreements for the new manufacturing facility and corporate headquarters, as
well as an increase of approximately $0.6 million related to information technology costs, an increase of
approximately $1.5 million in depreciation expense, a $0.7 million increase in utilities expenses and $0.4 million
of other facility costs related to our facilities located in Redwood City, Fremont and Foster City, California. There was
also an increase in non-cash stock-based compensation expense of approximately $2.0 million related to the adoption
of SFAS 123R, which requires the recording of stock option expense. Other increased costs of approximately
$1.7 million were related to increased usage of c¢linical trial materials and external testing.

The increase in research and development expenses for 2005 as compared to 2004 was a result of higher
staffing levels, of which approximately $3.2 million was related to the hiring of process sciences, research and
manufacturing executives and related personnel during 2005. In addition, we recognized higher facilities and other”
costs of approximately $2.6 million in 20035, associated with the Lease Agreements for the new manufacturing
facility and corporate headquarters. These increases were offset partially by decreased costs related to manufac-
turing materials and external testing of approximately $2.0 million, resulting from the completion of patient
registration in the second quarter of 2004 for our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial and a decrease in non-cash stock-
based compensation expense of approximately $0.5 million resulting from the continued vesting of these
previously-granted options.

We expect to devote substantial resources to research and development in future periods as we continue our
development of MyVax and expect our research and development expenditures to increase during 2007 and
subsequent years. Many factors can affect the cost and timing of our clinical trials, including inconclusive results
requiring additional clinical trials, slow patient enrollment, adverse side effects among patients, insufficient
supplies for our clinical trials and real or perceived lack of effectiveness or safety of our product candidates. In
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addition, the development of our products will be subject to extensive governmental regulation. These factors make
it difficult for us to predict the timing and costs of further development and approval of our products.

Sales and marketing expenses
Year Ended
December 31, Annual Percent Change
2006 2005 2004 2006/2005 2005/2004
(In millions, except percentages)

Staffing related . ... ... ... L L. $1.1 %11 %03 0% 120%
Product advocacy costs. . ........ ... ... ....... 0.6 1.0 1.0 (40)% 0%
Amortization of deferred stock-based compensation .. 0.3 0.1 0.1 200% 0%
Facilities and othercosts ...................... 07 05 02 40% 150%
Total sales and marketing expenses. . ............. $2.7 %27 3138 0% 50%

Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of personnel costs and outside marketing activities related to
product support and awareness.

Sales and marketing expenses were generally the same in 2006 as in 2005, as higher allocated facilities’ costs
and the impact of SFAS 123R related to recording of stock option expense were offset by a $0.4 million decline in
product advocacy costs.

Sales and marketing expenses increased for 2005 as compared to 2004, primarily due to increased staffing
costs of approximately $0.6 million related to the hiring of additional siaff. Facilities and other costs increased by
$0.3 million primarily due to increased rent expense associated with our new facilities.

We expect sales and marketing spending to remain about the same in 2007 as 2006, but then to increase in
subsequent years as we prepare for the possible commercialization of MyVax for the treatment of follicular B-celi
NHL.

General and administrative expenses
Year Ended
December 31, Annual Percent Change
2016 2005 2004 2006/2005 2005/2004
(In millions, except percentages)

Staffing related .. ......... ... .. ... ... ... ..., $2.7 $23 $%14 17% 64%
Legal, professional fees and insurance ............ 2.0 1.5 1.1 33% 36%
Amortization of deferred stock-based compensation .. 2.8 0.2 02 1300% 0%
Facilities and othercosts ... ................... 1.1 09 06 22% 50%
Total general and administrative expenses. . ........ $8.6 $49 333 76% 48%

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of costs of administrative personnel and related costs to
support our organizational growth, as well as legal, accounting and other professional fees.

General and administrative expenses increased in 2006 as compared to 2003, due to the $2.6 million impact
from our adoption of SFAS 123R related to recording of stock option expense, additicnal administrative expenses of
approximately $0.9 million related to higher payroll-related costs, legal and professional fees and corporate
insurance costs required to support the organizational growth of the company, and $0.2 million of higher allocated
facilities™ costs.

General and administrative expenses increased in 2005 as compared to 2004, due primarily to higher payroll-
related costs, legal and professional fees and corporate insurance costs totaling approximately $1.3 million required
to support the organizational growth of the company, and $0.3 million of increased rent expense associated with our
new facilities.
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We expect our general and administrative expenses to remain about the same in 2007 as 2006, but then to
increase in subsequent years as we prepare for the possible commercialization of My Vax for the treatment of B-cell
NHL and incur additional infrastructure costs associated with our organizational growth, including costs associated
with potential implementation of new finance and accounting systems.

Interest Expense

‘ Year Ended December 31, Annual Percent Change
2006 2005 2004 2006/2005 200572004
(In thousands, except percentages)
Interest eXPense . .. ... ovvvev e, $1,1640 $260 $40  4377% 550%

Interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $1,164,000 and $26,000, respectively,
compared to interest expense of $4,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004, The increase in 2006 over 2005 was
primarily due to interest of $1,088,000 recorded for the amortization of the lease finance obligation recorded under
EITF 97-10.

Interest and Other Income, Net

Year Ended
December 31, Annual Percent Change
2006 2005 2004 2006/2005 2005/2004

{In millions, except percentages)

Interest and other income, net. . ................. $3.9 $3.1 %07 24% 343%

The increase in interest and other income, net, in 2006 as compared to 2005 was due to interest received on
higher average cash balances as a result of proceeds received from our public offering in February 2000, as well as
higher interest rates during 2006. The increase in interest and other income, net, in 2005 as compared to 2004 was
due to interest received on higher average cash balances as a result of proceeds received from our follow-on offering
in June 2004 and our private placement in December 2004, as wel! as higher interest rates during 2005.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31,
2006 2005 2004
{In millions}

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities (inclusive of $9.6 million
and $38.8 million on December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005
respectively, which is restricted as toitsuse} . . .. ................ $61.3 S$8L.1 %1165

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Cash flows: ‘
Net cash used in operating activities . . .. ......... ... ... $(43.8) $(29.3) $(25.8)
Net cash used in investing activities ................ ... ........ $(20.9) $(31.0) $(57.3)
Net cash provided by financing activities ....................... $85 $ 09 31133

As of December 31, 2006, we had cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $61.3 million, including
$9.6 million, that is restricted as to its use, compared to $81.1 million as of December 31, 2005 and $116.5 million
as of December 31, 2004. We have two outstanding letters of credit related to the construction of our new
manufacturing facility and corporate headquarters that, as of December 31, 2006, were collateralized by
$8.6 miltion of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities held in one of our investment accounts and
classified as a restricted, noncurrent asset on our balance sheet. As we have proceeded with the build-out and the
payment of the construction costs, these collateralized assets have decreased in proportion to the payments made. In
addition, we have a $1.0 million certificate of deposit that serves as collateral for two other letters of credit related to
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the lease of our new facilities. Both the investment account and the centificate of deposit have been classified as
“Restricted cash and marketable securities” on our balance sheet.

We have not generated any revenues to date, and we have financed our operations and internal growth through
private placements of common and preferred stock, our lines of credit, our completed public offerings of common
stock, and interest income earned from our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. We have incurred
significant losses since our inception in 1996 and as of December 31, 2006, we had an accumulated deficit of
approximately $194.1 million. Qur accumulated deficit resulted principally from our research and development
activities associated with MyVax, including our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial and additional Phase 2 clinical trials,
and several non-cash charges associated with our preferred stock financings. Included in our accumulated deficit is
a non-cash dividend of approximately $18.4 million related to our preferred stock financings in April and May
2003. Also, our accumulated deficit includes a non-cash charge of approximately $3.5 million associated with the
extinguishment of convertible notes and cancellation of the related warrants issued to preferred stockholders in
August 2003 and approximately $0.8 million of non-cash interest expense related to the amortization of the discount
on the convertible notes. Additionally, there was non-cash interest expense of approximately $1.9 million
associated with the amortization of the warrant issued to the guarantor of our lines of credit. Through December 31,
2006, we had amortized and expensed non-cash stock-based compensation of approximately $10.2 million.

Net cash used in operating activities was $43.8 million, $29.3 million and $25.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The increased use of cash in operations for 2006 compared to
2005 was primarily due to $12.4 million of research and development activities associated with MyVax for the
treatment of B-cell NHL (excluding deferred stock compensation charges, which are non-cash), and an unfavorable
cash flow impact of $2.4 million due to the reduction in accounts payabie resuiting from lower year-end activity and
the timing of payments to vendors (excluding capital spending).

The increased use of cash in operations for 2005 compared to 2004 was primarily due to our continued research
and development activities associated with MyVax for the treatment of B-cell NHL and higher cash usage for
prepaids and other assets, primarily related to $0.6 million of prepaid rent and $0.4 million of new facility
construction costs paid by the company that have not yet been reimbursed by the landlord. These increased uses of
cash were offset in part by a $0.8 million increase in accounts payable attributable to the timing of vendor payments.

Net cash used in investing activities was $20.9 million, $31.0 million and $57.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Net cash provided by sales and maturities of marketable securities
{net of purchases of marketable securities) was $38.0 million in 2006. The net decrease in marketable securities was
primarily used to fund capital expenditures and operations in 2006. In addition, $29.2 million of cash and
marketable securities were reclassified from restricted to unrestricted, in connection with the progress made on the
build-out of our new manufacturing facility and corporate headquarters. Cash payments for capital expenditures
increased by approximately $53.1 million in 2006 as compared to 2003. Purchases in 2006 consisted primarily of
payments related to pre-construction, construction and design activities for our new manufacturing facility and
corporate headquarters. The facility was completed in the fourth quarter of 2006, although we are continuing to
equip and qualify the facility . The current estimated cost of the build-out is approximately $65 million. As part of
the construction agreements, the landlord has provided a tenant improvement allowance of approximately
$26.3 million, which is being applied towards the construction of the two buildings. The facility is designed
for the production of MyVax for 3,600 patients each year and, if MyVax receives regulatory approval, we would
need to purchase and install additional equipment in our facility to achieve this level of manufacturing capacity. In
the future, net cash provided by or used in investing activities may fluctuate from period to period due to timing of
payments for capital expenditures and maturities/sales and purchases of our marketable securities.

Net cash used to purchase marketable securities (net of sales and maturities of marketable securities) was
$24.2 million in 2005. The net increase in marketable securities was primarily due to our investing of the proceeds
of our December 2004 private placement, offset in part by usage 1o fund operations in 2005. In addition,
$38.8 million of cash and marketable securities were reclassified as restricted, in connection with to the build-
out of our new manufacturing facility and corporate headquarters. Cash payments for capital expenditures increased
by approximately $5.0 million in 2005 as compared to 2004. Purchases in 2005 consisted primarily of payments
related to pre-construction, construction and design activities for our new manufacturing facility and corporate
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headquarters. Cash used in investing activities during 2005 also included a $1.0 million cash security deposit paid to
the landlord of our new facility.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, we purchased $129.7 million of marketable securities, which was
partially offset by maturities and sales of marketable securities of $73.1 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $82.5 million, $0.9 million and $113.3 million for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2006, we completed
the sale, in a registered underwritten public offering pursuant to our effective shelf registration statement, of
7,360,000 shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $8.50 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of
$62.6 million. After deducting the underwriters’ commission and offering expenses, we received net proceeds of
approximately $58.5 million. During the year ended December 31, 2006, we also received proceeds of approx-
imately $5.5 million from borrowings against a line of credit from the General Electric Capital Corporation
(“GECC") for the purchase of computer, laboratory and manufacturing equipment. Cash used in financing activities
during 2006 included a $1.4 million cash security deposit paid to GECC related to the line of credit obtained in the
fourth quarter. We also received approximately $0.9 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock under
our stock option and employee stock purchase plans. This was partially offset by approximately $0.2 million for
repayment of our borrowing related to the GE line of credit.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, we received approximately $1.1 million in proceeds from the
issuance of common stock under our stock option and employee stock purchase plans. This was partially offset by
approximately $0.2 million in payments of stock offering costs relating to our private placement of common stock
completed in December 2004.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, we completed a follow-on public offering, in which we sold
7,013,646 shares of common stock at a public offering price of $8.50 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of
$59.6 million. After deducting the underwriters’ commission and offering expenses, we received net proceeds of
approximately $55.7 million. In December 2004, we completed a private placement in which we sold
4,250,000 shares of common stock at an offering price of $i4.25 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of
$60.6 million. After deducting the placement agent’s fee and offering expenses, we received nct proceeds of
approximately $57.3 million. We also received approximately $0.6 million in 2004 related to proceeds from the
issuance of common stock under our stock option and employee stock purchase plans. These proceeds were offset
partially by payments of $0.4 million related to offering costs from our initial public offering.

As of December 31, 2006, we had contractual and other debt obligations as follows (in thousands):

Payments Due by Period

Less Than 1-3 4-5 Beyond
Total 1 Year Years(l) Years(2) & Years

Contractual obligations:
Non-cancelable lease financing

obligations, including interest, related to .

new building lease agreements . ... ... $108,439 $6,394 $13,368 $14,182  $74,495
Credit line payment obligations ........ 5,271 1,662 3,600 — —
Non-cancelable operating lease

obligations related to other facilities . . . 41 41 — —_— —
Total contractual obligations. .. ........ 113,751 $8,097 $16,977 314,182  $74,495

In May 2005, we entered into two Lease Agreements to lease an aggregate of approximately 220,000 square
feet of space located in two buildings at the Ardenwood Technology Park in Fremont, California for our new
manufacturing facility and corporate headquarters (the “Lease Agreements”). The term of each of the leases is
15.5 years and each lease will terminate in November 2020. The Lease Agreements include two five-year options to
extend the terms of the leases. In addition, we have a three-year option to lease additional space on adjacent
property.
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In December 2005, we entered into a Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement (the “Reimbursement
Agreement”) and related Security Agreement (“Security Agreement”) with a commercial bank that provides for the
issuance of four letters of credit, described below as the “Rent Letters of Credit” and the “Construction Letters of
Credit.” These Letters of Credit were provided to secure certain rental and construction obligations under the lease
and construction agreements for our new manufacturing facility and corporate headquarters.

Contemporaneously with the execution of the Lease Agreements, we also entered into two construction
agreements (o provide for the build-out of the two-building campus. As part of the construction agreements, the
landlord has provided us a tenant improvement allowance of approximately $26.3 million to be applied towards the
construction of the two buildings. Prior to the commencement of construction, we were required under the
conmstruction agreements to provide an irrevocable unconditional letter of credit equal to the difference between the
total estimated construction costs and the improvement allowance, which difference was estimated to be approx-
imately $34.0 million. As of December 31, 2005, two letters of credit had been provided to the landlord in the
aggregate amount of $34.0 million (the “Construction Letters of Credit’™) that were issued pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the Reimbursement Agreement. As of December 31, 2006, the aggregate amount of the two
Construction Letters of Credit has been decreased to $7.5 million to reflect the build out and our payment of
construction costs. The Construction Letters of Credit will expire on May 30, 2009. Pursuant to the terms of the
Security Agreement, the Construction Letters of Credit are being collateralized by cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities held in our bank/investment account totaling approximately $8.6 million as of December 31,
2006. As we proceed with equipping and efforts to qualify the facility and the payment of the construction costs, the
collateralized assets and restricted cash will continue to decrease in proportion to the payments made.

The Lease Agreements provided for rent holidays for the first five and one-half months, which were expensed
as incurred, and an initial monthly basic rent of $2.35 per square foot, with scheduled annual rent increases of 3%
over the lease term.

We are responsible for approximately 55% of the construction costs for the tenant improvements and, under
EITF No. 97-10, “The Effect of Lessee Involvement in Asset Construction,” The Company is deemed, for
accounting purposes only, to be the accounting owner of the project and the “building shells,” even though it
is not the legal owner. Upon the commencement of the leases in May 2003, we capitalized the estimated fair value of
the building shells of $19.4 million, which has been recorded as a fixed asset. The related liability has been recorded
as a lease financing liability on the accompanying balance sheet. In accordance with EITF 97-10, the portion of the
leases related to ground rent will be treated as an operating lease expense. Because we are considered the awner for
accounting purposes, build-out costs reimbursed by the landlord will increase the lease financing liability. Build-out
costs paid by us will be capitalized consistent with our standard policy.

Upon occupancy in the fourth quarter of 2006, in accordance with SFAS No. 98, “Accounting for Leases”', we
began to amortize the lease financing liability over the lease term based upon the payments designated in the
agreement, and the building and improvement assets will be depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful
lives.

The Lease Agreements required us to provide a $2.0 million security deposit, of which $1.0 million was in the
form of cash and $1.0 million was in the form of a letter of credit. In September 2005, we paid a cash security
deposit to the landlord of $1.0 million and as of December 31, 2005, we have provided two leiters of credit to the
landlord in the aggregate amount of $1.0 million (the “Rent Letters of Credit”). The Rent Letters of Credit were
issued pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Reimbursement Agreement and will expire on January 29, 2021.
Pursuant to the terms of the Security Agreement, the Rent Letters of Credit are collateralized in the same amount by
a certificate of deposit held in our bank account and recorded as restricted cash (see Note 3 of notes to financial
statements).

The Reimbursement Agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants and other restrictions.
In addition, the Reimbursement Agreement contains customary events of default, including the foltowing:
nonpayment of fees or other amounts; violation of covenants; incorrectness of representations and warranties
in any material respect; cross default and cross acceleration; bankruptcy; material judgments; invalidity of security;
and change in management; and events having a material adverse effect on our business, assets, liabilities or
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financial condition. If an event of default occurs and is continuing, the bank may cause all amounts outstanding
under the Reimbursement Agreement at that time to become immediately due and payable.

Our commitments under operating leases related to our other facilities consist of payments relating to one real
estate sublease. On March 27, 2006, we entered into a sublease with Argonaut Technologies, Inc. to lease
24,244 square feet of laboratory and office space in Redwood City, California. This sublease expired in February of
2007, with lease payments of approximately $41,000 that were paid after December 31, 2006.

We anticipate working on a number of long-term development projects that will involve experimental and
unproven technology, These projects may require many years and substantial expenditures to complete and may
ultimately be unsuccessful. We will need significant additional operating funds to continue our résearch and
development activities and clinical trials, pursue regulatory approvals and, if regulatory approval of any product
candidate is obtained, to build sales and marketing capabilities and potentially expand production capabilities, as
necessary.

We believe that our current cash resources will provide us with sufficient financial resources to support our
operating plan through at least the end of 2007, which includes the anticipated timing of the completion of our
Phase 3 clinical trial in November 2007. Our estimate of the period of time through which our financial resources
will be adequate to support our operations is a forward-looking statement and involves risks and uncertainties.
Actual results could vary significantly as a result of a number of factors, including the risk factors discussed in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. We have based this estimate on current assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and
we could ntilize our available capital resources sconer than we currently expect. We expect that our cash
consumption will decrease in 2007. The buildings for our manufacturing facility and corporate headquarters were
placed into service during the third and fourth quarters of 2006, although we continue to purchase related
manufacturing and laboratory equipment to fully equip the facility. We have incurred approximately $63.4 million
through December 31, 2006 related to construction, design and other activities in connection with our facility and
headquarters, excluding the non-cash impact of the $19.4 million recorded under EITF 97-10. The current estimated
cost of the build-out is approximately $65 million. As part of the construction agreements, the landlord has provided
a tenant improvement allowance of approximately $26.3 million which is being applied towards the construction of
the two buildings. We will need to raise significant additional funds to commercialize MyVax if MyVax receives
regulatory approval for the treatment of follicular B-cell NHL. For example, our manufacturing facility is designed
for the production of MyVax for 3,600 or more patients each year and, if MyVax receives regulatory approval, our
facility would require us to purchase and install additional equipment to achieve this level of manufacturing
capacity. Our manufacturing facility must pass a pre-approval inspection from the appropriate regulatory agency
prior to any regulatory approval for My Vax.

We cannot predict when we may begin to realize product revenue. Until we can generate sufficient product
revenue, if ever, we expect to finance future cash needs through public or private equity offerings, debt financings,
corporate collaboration or licensing arrangements or other arrangements, as well as through interest income earned
on cash balances. We cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. To the
extent that we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, our stockholders may experience dilution, and any
debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants. To the extent that we raise additional funds through
collaboration and licensing arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish some rights to our technologies, My Vax
or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. If
adequate funds are not available, we may-be required to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more of our
research or development programs or our commercialization efforts. Any additional equity financing may be
dilutive to stockholders and any additional debt financing, if available, may require that we pledge our assets,
including our intellectual property, or involve restrictive covenants that would limit our business activities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2006, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii)
of SEC Regulation S-K.

55




ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Interest Rate Risk. We are exposed to interest rate risk primarily through our marketable securities. The
primary objective of our cash investment activities is to preserve principal while at the same time maximizing the
income we receive from our invested cash without significantly increasing risk of loss. We do not use derivative
financial instruments in our investment portfolio. Our cash and investments policy emphasizes liquidity and
preservation of principal over yield considerations. As of December 31, 2006, cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities were $61.3 million, including restricted cash of $9.6 million. Due to the nature of these
investments, if market interest rates were to increase immediately and uniformly by 10% from levels as of
December 31, 2006, the decline in the total fair value of our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities would
not be material.

In addition, we do not have any material exposure to foreign currency rate fluctuations as we operate primarily
in the United States.

General Electric Capital Corporation agreed to extend to us a line of credit. The draws against the line of credit
are structured as promissory notes with the interest rate fixed at the time of each draw.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockhelders of Genitope Corporation
Fremont, California

We have audited the accompﬁnying balance sheet of Genitope Corporation (a development stage enterprise)
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2006, and the related statement of operations, stockholders’ equity. and cash
flows for the year ended, and for the period from August 15, 1996 (date of inception) to December 31, 2006, We also
have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting, that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in fnfernal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible
for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements, an opinion on management’s assessment, and an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. The Company’s financial statements
as of and for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, and for the period August 15, 1996 (date of inception)
through December 31, 2005 were andited by other auditors whose report, dated March 30, 2006, expressed an
unqualified opinion on those statements and on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting and an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal
control over financial reporting because of a material weakness specific to the selection, application and monitoring
of accounting policies for leases. The financial statements for the period August 15, 1996 (date of inception)
through December 31, 2003 reflect a total net loss of $145,213,000. The other auditors’ report has been furnished to
us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for such prior period, is based solely on the report of
such other auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of financial statements included examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and
effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepied accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's
assets that could have a matenal effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of
collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal
control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Genitope Corporation as of December 31, 2006, and the results of operations and cash flows for year
ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Also in our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission. Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.

As discussed in Notes 1 and 10 the Company changed its method of accounting for share-based payment
arrangements in 2006 to conform to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share-Based
Payment.”

/s/  Deloitte & Touche LLP

San Francisco, California
March 14, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of Genitope Corporation
(a development stage enterprise)

In our opinion, the balance sheet as of December 31, 2005 and the related statements of operations and of cash
flows for each of two years in the period ended December 31, 20035 present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Genitope Corporation at December 31, 2005, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/st PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
March 30, 2006
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GENITOPE CORPORATION
{A DEVELOPMENT STAGE ENTERPRISE)

BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalenis . ... ... ... .. .. .
Marketable securities. . . ... .. ...
Prepaid expenses and other current assets. . .. ... . ... . i e

Property and equipment, net

OHhEr ASSEIS . . oLt e e e

Total ASSetS .« . vt i e e e

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable . ... ... L
Accrued and other current Liabilities. . . . ... ... ... ... . . . e
Lease financing liability. . ... .. ... .. L . .
Current lease obligations . . . ... ... . ... . e

Current portion of credit line . . ... ... ... . . . e e

Total current Habilities. . . . .. . ... ...
Lease financing Nability. . . .. . . . . e
Accrued INTETESt . . .. . e e

Noncurrent lease obligations . . ... ... ... .. .. ... ... . .
Noncurrent portion of credit line

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note 6)
Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 65,000,000 shares authorized; Issued and
outstanding: 36,052,685 shares at December 31, 2006 and 28,454,385 shares at
December 31, 2005

Additicnal paid-in capital

Deferred stock-based compensation .. ........ ... ... . .. .. i ...
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Deficit accumulated during the development stage .. ......... ... ... ... .....
Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity. . .. ...... ... ... ... ... .. ... .....

December 31,
2006 2005

(In thousands, except share
and per share data)

$ 18540 $ 731
33,142 41,627
3,312 2,210
54,994 44,568
9,579 38,762
93,479 31,065
2,371 1,000

$ 160,423 S 115,395
$ 53551 $ 4,084
4814 4,123

- 4,400

— 24

1,662 —
12.027 12,636
40,203 14,997
1,738 790

J— 24,

3,609 —
57,577 28,447
36 28
296,962 232,620
(19) (166)

(8) (321
(194,125)  (145,213)
102,846 86,948
$ 160423  $ 115.395

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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GENITOPE CORPORATION
(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE ENTERPRISE)

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Cumulative
Period from
August 15, 1996
(date of inception)
Year Ended December 31, to December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2046

(In thousands, except per share data)

Operating expenses:

Research and development . .. ................... $ 40,241 $25.867 §$ 22,571 $ 141,174
Sales and marketing . . . ... ... .. ... ... L. ... ... 2,740 2,704 1,793 10,167
General and administrative . . ... ... ... o 8,627 4,938 3,356 26,149
Total operating exXpenses . . .........c.cevviune... 51,608 33,509 27,720 177,490
Loss from operations . . ............ ... .. .. ... (51,608 (33,509) (27,720) (177,490)

cancellation of Series E convertible preferred stock

WAITANIS . . ot ottt et et ettt e e e —_ — — (3,50%)
Interest expense . . .. .. ... ... ..., T o(1,164) (26) (4) {4,172)
Interest and other income, net. .. ...... .o ivennn.. 3,860 3,111 698 9,453
Net JosS. ..ot e e (48,912 (30,424) (27,0206) (175,718)

Dividend related to issuance of convertible preferred
shares and the beneficial conversion feature of
preferred stock .. ... ... ... i — — — (18,407)

Net loss attributable to common stockholders . . ... ... $(48.912) $(30,424) $(27,026) $(194,125)

Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to
common Stockholders. . . .......... . ... . ... ... $ (1399 $ (1.08) $ (1.3D

Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss
attributable to common stockholders .. .. ....... .. 35,081 28,271 20,683

Loss on extinguishment of convertible notes and
|

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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GENITOPE CORPORATION

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE ENTERPRISE)

STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
FOR THE PERIOD FROM AUGUST 15, 1996 (DATE OF INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2006

issuance of common stock at $0.001 per
share to founders for cash &
technology

Issuance of common stock at $0.15 per
share in exchange for cash and
services

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 1996
Issuance of common stock at $0.15 per
share in exchange for cash and
services
[ssuance of common stock at $0.15 per
share in exchange for cash upon
exercise of stock options
Net loss

Balances at December 31, 1997, ., ..
Netloss.............cco....

Balances at December 31, 1998, . . ..
Net issuance and repurchase of
common stock to a director as part
of a stock issuance agreement at
$0.60 per share
Issuance of common stock at $0.45 per
share in exchange for cash upon
exercise of stock options
Net loss

Balances at December 31, 1999. . . ..
Issuance of common stock at a price of
$0.15 10 $0.60 per share in exchange
for cash upon exercise of stock
options
Proceeds from promissory note
Issuance of stock options to
nonemployees in exchange for
services
Issuance of common stock to
nonemployees in exchange for
services
Issuance of warrants to purchase shares
of convertible preferred stock in
exchange for services . .........
Net loss

Deflcit
Notes Accumulated Aecumnflated
Additional Recelvable Deferred Other During the Total
_Common Stock “'paiqg. from Stock-Based Comprehensive Development Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Stockholders Compensation Loss Stage Lquity (Deficit)
(In thousands, except per share data)

1259 §1 8§ 3 $— 8 — $ — $ — 3 4
9 — 1 — — — — I
- - — = — —_ (76) (76)
1,268 1 4 — - — (76) 7
0 — 4 — — - — 4
0 — 2 — 2
- — = — — (9309 {980)
1,308 1 10 — — - (1.056) (1,045)
- = - = - — (1,396) (1,356)
1,308 l 1¢ — — — (2,652) (2,641)
62 — kY 3D — — — —

2 — | —_ — — - 1
- = — — — — (2,752) (2,752)
1,372 1 43 37 — — (5,404) (3,392)
1w — 2 — - - — 2
- — — 3 — — — 3
- - 20 — - - — 20
R— 9 — — — — 9

— - 144 —_ — — — 144
- = — — — — (3.845) (3.845)
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Common Stock
Shares Amount

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Notes

Receivable

from

Stockholders Compensation

Deferred

Other

Deficit
Accurnulated Accumulated

During the Total

Stock-Based Comprehensive Development Stockholders®

Loss

Stage Equity (Deficit)

Balances at December 31, 2000. . . .. 1,390 1
Issuance of common stock at a price of

$0.15 to $0.60 per share in exchange

for cash and notes upon exercise of

stockoptions . . . .. ........... 365 1
Repurchase of unvested common
Sk .. e 3 —

Defemred stock-based compensation . . . —_ -
Amortization of stock-based

Balances at December 31, 2001. . . . . 1,752 2
Issuance of common stock at a price of

$0.60 to $1.20 per share in exchange

for cash and notes upon exercise of

stockoptions . . .............. 7 —
Repurchase of unvested common
SOCK . .. (10 —

Deferred stock-based compensation . . . - —
Amortization of stock-based

compensation. . .............. - —
Netloss..................... - =
Balances at December 31, 2002. . . .. 1,913 2
Conversion of preferred stock 1o

common stock . .. ... ......... 10,638 11

Issuance of common stock at $9.00 per
share related to initial public
offering, net of issuance costs . . . .. 4,180 4

Dividend related to issuance of
convertible preferred shares and the
beneficial conversion feature of
preferred stock . .. ... ... ... - —

Discount on convertible notes relating
to warrants and beneficial conversion
of preferred stock . . . ... ... .. .. —_

Warrant to purchase convertible
preferred stock issued o guarantor
of the lines of credit . . ......... - -

Issuance of common stock at a price of
$1.20 to $1.80 per share in exchange
for cash upon exercise of stock

options. .. ............ ... .. 9 -
Issuance of common stock to non-

employees in exchange for

SETVICES . . ... et 6 —
Repurchase of unvested common

stock .. ... (16) —

Proceeds from repayment of

Promissory note . . ............ — -
Deferred stock-based compensation . . . —_ -
Amortization of stock-based

compensation. . .. ............ - -
Netloss..................... —  —

223

323

3
1,036

110

1,689

202

(1
1,607

122

3,609

53,539

33,731

18,407

4,280

1,933

179

{In thousands, except per share data)

(48)

(48)

(12)

(1,036}

328

(708)

(1,607

1,243

{1,072)

(9,249) (9.025)

— 276

- 3)

438

(9,780) {9,780}

{19,029} (18,094}

— 190

— (11

1.365

{19,864) {19.,864)

(38,893) (36,414)

— 53.570

— 33,735

(18,407 —

— 4,280

— 1,933

- 179

- 20y

-— 12

— 1,901
(30463)  (30,463)




Deficit

Notes Accumulated  Accumulated
Additional Receivable Deferred Other During the Total
_Common Stack paig iy from Stock-Based Comprehensive Development Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Stockholders Compensation Loss Stage Equity (Deficit)
(In thousands, except per shure data)
Balances at December 31, 2003. . . . . 16,820, 17 119,323 (48} (2,787) - (87,763} 28,742

Issuance of common stock at a price of

$1.20 to $11.64 per share in

exchange for cash upon exercise of

stockoptions . .. ... ... ... 8% — 170 — — — — 170
Issuance of common stock at $8.50 per

share related to follow-on offering, :

net of issuance costs . .. ........ 7,014 7 55711 — — — — 55,7118
Issuance of common stock at $14.25 per

share related to private placement,

net of issuance costs . .. ........ 4,250 4 57,266 _ —_ —_ — 57,270
Issuance of common stock related to

ESPP............... . ..... 51T — 437 — — —_ — 437
Proceeds from repayment of

stockholdernote . . .. .......... —_ = — 48 - —_ — 48
Repurchase of unvested common

stock L. (39 — {49 — — — — (49)
Deferred stock-based compensation . . . —_ — (1,074) — 1.074 —_ — —
Amortization of stock-based

compensation. . .............. —_- - — — 980 — — 930
Components of other comprehensive

loss:
Change in unrealized loss on

marketable securities . . .. ....... — - — — — (94) — (94)
Netloss. . ...t - - — — — — (27026)  (27.026)
Comprehensive loss . .. .. ........ L . (27120
Balances at December 31, 2004. . . . . 28,191 28 231,784 —_ (733) (94) (114,789) 116,196

Issuance of commen stock at a price of
$1.20 to $11.64 per share in
exchange for cash upon exercise of

stockoptions . . .. ... ... 148 — 358 — — — — 358
Issuance costs related to common stock

offerings. .. ... ... ... _ - (13} — — — — (13)
Issuance of common stock related to

ESPP . ... ... ... ... .. ..., n?  — 7718 — —_ — — 778
Repurchase of unvested common

SIOCK « v et ) — (@) — — - {4)
Deferred stock-based compensation . . . - - (283) — 283 — — —
Amortization of stock-based

compensation. . .. ............ - - — — 284 — — 284
Components of other comprehensive

loss:
Change in unrealized loss on

marketable securities . .. ........ - — — — — (227) — 227
Netloss..................... _ - — — — — (30.424)  (30424)
Comprehensive loss . .. .......... (30.651)
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Deficit

Notes Accumulated Accumulated
C Stock Additional Receivable Deferred Other During the Total
Lommon Stock ~ pyjg. from Stock-Based Comprehensive Development Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Stockholders Compensation Loss Stage Equity (Deficit)
(In thousands, except per share data)
Balances at December 31, 2005. . . . . 28454  $28  §232,620 $— $ (166) $(321) $(145.213)  § 86,948

Issuance of common stock at a price of

$1.80 to $4.50 per share in exchange

for cash upon exercise of stock

OptonS . . ... 46 108 108
Issuance of common stock at $8.50 per

share from public offering. net of

ISSUANCEe COStS . ..o v v i n ey 7,360 8 58,442 58450
Issvance of common stock related to

ESPP . ... . . ... 193 ™ m
Deferred stock-based compensation . . . (162) 162 —
Amortization of stock- based

COMPENSALON. . .. .o vvv v v v, (15) (15)
FAS 123 R Stock-based

compensation. . .............. - — 5. 183 — — — 5.183
Components of other comprehensive

loss:
Change in unrealized loss on

marketable securities . . . ........ 313 313
Netloss. .. ..o (48.912) {48.912)
Comprehensive loss . .. .......... . . {48.599)
Balances at December 3, 2006. . . . . 36,053 $36  $296,962 $— $ (19 $ B $(194,125)  $102,846

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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GENITOPE CORPORATION
(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE ENTERPRISE)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
Netloss. . ...

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used
in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization . .. .............

Loss on disposal of assets . ..................

Stock-based compensation expense. ... ... ... ...

Loss on extinguishment of convertible notes and
cancellation of convertible preferred stock
Warrants ... ... ...

Amortization of warrant issued to guarantor of the
linesoferedit. ........... ... ... ... ....

Interest expense on convertible notes .. .... .. ...

Common stock issved for services . ............

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Prepaids and other assets . . ..................

Accounts payable. . ............ ... ... ...,

Accrued and other current liabilities. . ..........
Net cash used in operating activities. ., ..., .., ...

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of property and equipment. ...........
Purchases of marketable securities . ... .........
Sales of marketable securities. ... .............
Sales of restricted cash and marketable securities . .

Purchases of restricted cash and marketable
SECUTMIIES . . . ottt e et e e e e e e e e et as

Maturities of marketable securities . ... .........
Long term cash deposits. . ... ... ...,

Nelt cash used in investing activities . .. . ... ... ..

Cumulative
Period from
August 15, 1996
(Date of Inception)

Year Ended December 31, to December 31,

2006 2005 2004 2006
(In thousands})

$ (48,912) §$ (30,424) 3 (27,026) S(175,718)
2,719 1,140 771 8.275
— — — 29
5,168 284 980 10,156
— — 3,509
— — 1,933
— — 892
— — 46
37 (1,054) (504) {1,999)
(2,399) (40) (707) (548)
(392) 780 704 1,703
(43,779) {29,314) {25,782) (151,722}
(58,895) (5.770) (749) (70,953}
(186,643) (145,107) (129.658) (461,408}
53,022 80,803 12,731 146,556
29,183 — — 29,183
— (38,762) — (38,762)
142,419 78,871 60,411 281,701
— (1.000) — (1167
(20.914) (30,965) (57,265) (114,850}
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Cash flows from financing activities:

Net proceeds from issuance of convertible preferred
SEOCK . . o s

Net proceeds from issuance of common stock

related to initial public offering ............

Net proceeds from issuance of common stock

related to public offering . .. ..............

Net proceeds from issuance of common stock

related to private placement . . ... ..........
Borrowings under lines of credit. ... ..........
Repayment of borrowings under lines of credit . . . .

Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes and

Warrants. . . ... ... i e i e s

Proceeds from issuance of common stock under

stockplans. . ... ... ... ... o
Proceeds from exercise of Series D warrants. . . . .
Repurchase of unvested common stock. .. ... ...
Proceeds from note receivable from stockholder .. .

Principal payments on capital lease obligations. . . .
Long term and short term cash deposits . .. ... ..

Repayment on lease financing liability . ........
Proceeds from lease financing liability ... ......

Net cash provided by financing activities . . . . . ..

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash

equivalents. .. ... . ... . oo
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period. . . .

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period . .. .. ...

Supplemental disclosure:

Cash paid forinterest. .. ....................

Year Ended December 31,

Cumulative

Period from
August 15, 1996

(Date of Inception)
to December 31,

68

2006 2005 2004 2006
{In thousands)

— — 47,392
— (353) 33,735
58,450 ——m 55,718 114,168
(163) 57,420 57,257
5,459 — — 14,245
(188) — — (8,974)
— — 6,060
879 1,136 596 3,263
— — 135
4) (49) €.
— 48 102
{48) (46) (36) (134)
(1,363) — — (1,365)
(3,327 — — (3,327)
22,642 22,642
82.502 923 113,344 285,112
17,809 (59,356) 30,297 18,540
731 60,087 29,790 —
$ 18,540 731 $ 60,087 $ 18,540
3 76 26 §$ 4 $ 226




Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and
financing activities:

Conversion of preferred stock into common stock . .

Dividend related to issuance of convertible
preferred shares and the beneficial conversion
feature of prefested stock . . ................

Discount on convertible notes for beneficial
conversion feature of preferred stock and
WAITANTS. o .o it e et e e e

Conversion of convertible notes into convertible
preferred stock. . . ... ... ... L L.

Warrants issued to guarantor of the lines of credit. .

Warrant issued in connection with services related
to convertible preferred stock . ... ... .. ...

Accrued interest converted into convertible
preferred stock . .. ... .. L L.

Convertible preferred stock issued in exchange for
note receivable from stockholder. .. ..........

Conversion of notes payable into convertible
preferred stock ., .. ... ... ... o e .,

Accrued offering costs for issuance of common
stock related to initial public offening ... ... ...

Accrued offering costs for issuance of common
stock related to private placement. . ... ... ....

Acquisition of property and equipment under
capital leases .. ...... .. ... i

Accrued cost for acquisition of property and
CQUIPMENT . ..ttt e e

Receivable from issuance of common stock under
stockplan ... .. ..o L

Change in unrealized losses on marketable
SECURIMIES . . . oottt

Capitalized building shells and retated
interest(Note 6) . . .......... ... ..........

lease financing liability (Note 6). .. ...........

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Year Ended December 31,

Cumulative
Period from
August 15, 1996
{Date of Inception)
to December 31,

2006 2005 2004 2006
(In thousands)
§ — $ — § — § 5350
§ —.% — § — $ 18407
§ — §  — §  — $ 4280
§  — 5 — §  — % @420
$ — s — 8§ — $ 193
§ — s — § — s 14
$ — 8 —  $ — $ 121
s — s — s — s 5
$ — $ — § — s 178
$ — s — § @33 s 0
$ — 8 — § 150 Y 150
$ — 8 —  § 82 h3 134
$ 4943 § 4043 5 219 $ 0205
$ — § — 5 11 $ 11
3 313§ 227 % (94) $ (8)
$ (1,294) $ (20,196) $ — $ (21,490)
$ 1491 § 19406 3 — $ 20,897
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GENITOPE CORPORATION
(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE ENTERPRISE)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 — QRGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING FPOLICIES

Organization and Business

Y

Genitope Corporation (“Genitope,” “we,” or “us”) is a development stage enterprise focused on the research
and development of novel immunotherapies for the treatment of cancer. Immunotherapies are treatments that utilize
the immune system to combat diseases. Qur lead product candidate, MyVax personalized immunotherapy, is a
patient-specific active immunotherapy that is based on the unique genetic makeup of a patient’s tumor and is
designed to activate a patient’s immune system to identify and attack cancer cells. MyVax is currently in a pivotal
Phase 3 clinical trial and additional Phase 2 clinical trials for the treatment of B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma
(“B-cell NHL"). We were incorporated in the State of Delaware on August 15, 1996.

Liquidity

To date, we have not generated any revenues and we have financed our operations and internal growth through
private placements of common and preferred stock and public offerings of common stock, including our most recent
public offering in February 2006, our line-of-credit facilities, and interest income earned from our cash and cash
equivalents and marketable securities. We are a development stage enterprise and have incurred significant losses
since our inception in 1996 as we have devoted substantially all of our efforts to research and development
activities, including clinical trials. As of December 31, 2006, we had an accumulated deficit of $194.1 million and
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $61.3 million, including $9.6 million of cash and marketable
securities is restricted as to its use.

We have an effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 covering the offer and sale, from time to time, of
shares of our common stock in one or more offerings up to a total offering price of $125 million at prices and on
terms determined by market conditions at the time of any offering made under the shelf registration statement. In
February 2006, we completed an underwritten public offering under this shelf registration statement in which we
sold 7,360,000 shares of common stock at a public offering price of $8.50 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of
$62.6 million. After deducting the underwriters’ commission and estimated offering expenses, we received net
proceeds of approximately $58.4 million.

We cannot predict when we may begin to realize product revenue. Until we can generate sufficient product
revenue, if ever, we expect to finance future cash needs through public or private equity offerings, debt financings,
corporate collaboration or licensing arrangements or other arrangements, as well as through interest income earned
on cash balances. We cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. To the
extent that we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, our stockholders may experience dilution, and any
debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants. To the extent that we raise additional funds through
collaboration and licensing arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish some rights to our technologies, My Vax
or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. If
adequate funds are not available, we may be required to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more of our
research or development programs or our commercialization efforts. Any additional equity financing may be
dilutive to stockholders and any additional debt financing, if available, may require that we pledge our assets,
including our intellectual property, or involve restrictive covenants that would limit our business activities.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Reclassifications

Certain financial statement reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts to conform to the current
period presentation. These changes had no impact on stockholder’s equity, previously reported net income, or the
net change in cash and cash equivalents. See also Note 12, Statement of Cash Flows.

Use of Esfimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual resuits could differ
from those estimates;

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities are financial instruments, some of which potentially subject
us to concentrations of credit risk. The estimated fair value of financial instruments approximates the carrying valuz
based on available market information. We primarily invest our excess available funds in notes and bills issued by
the U.S. government and its agencies and corporate debt securities and, by policy, limit the amount of credit
exposure o any one issuer and to any one type of investment, other than securities issued or guaranteed by the
U.S. government. We have not experienced any significant investment losses on cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities to date.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are defined as all liquid investments with maturity from date of purchase of 90 days or less
that are readily convertible into cash and have insignificant interest rate risk. We invest our excess cash primarily in
deposits with banks and in highly liquid money market funds. As discussed further in Notes 3 and 6, we have certain
outstanding letters of credit related to the lease agreement construction of our new manufacturing facility and
corporate headquarters that are collateralized by $8.6 million of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities
held in one of our investment accounts and classified as a restricted, noncurrent asset on the accompanying
December 31, 2006 balance sheet. In addition, we have a $1.0 million certificate of deposit that serves as collateral
against two other letters of credit related to the lease of our new facilities.

Marketable Securities

All marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair
value, based on quoted market prices, with unrealized gains and losses reported as a separate component of
stockhelders’ equity. The amortized cost of securities in this category is adjusted for amortization of premiums and
accretions of discounts to maturity. Such amortization is included in interest and other income, net. Realized gains
and losses and declines in value judged to be other than temporary for avaitable-for-sale securities are included in
“Interest and other income, net.” The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method.

Marketable securities include ftoating rate securities as of years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006. These
securities are structured as short-term, highiy liquid investments that we believe can be readily converted into cash
every 30, 60 or 90 days. However, since the stated or contractual maturities of these securities are greater than
90 days, these securities are classified as marketable securities and not cash equivalents,
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Certain Risks and Uncertainties

Our product candidate under development requires approval from the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA™)
or other international regulatory agencies prior to commercial sales. There can be no assurance our products will
receive the necessary approvals. If we are dented approval or approval is significantly delayed, it would have a
material adverse impact on us.

We face competition from established pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, as well as from academic
institutions, government agencies and private and public research institutions. Various products are currently
marketed for the treatment of NHL, and a number of companies are developing new treatments. Many of our
competitors have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and development, manufac-
turing, preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing approved
products than we do. Our commercial opportunity will be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and
commercialize products that are safer, more effective, have fewer side effects or are less expensive than MyVax, or
any other immunotherapies that we may develop. These third parties compete with us in recruiting and retaining
qualified scientific and management personnel, establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical
trials, as well as in acquiring technologies and technology licenses complementary to our programs or advantageous
to our business. If any of our competitors’ product candidates are successfully developed and approved, they could
compete directly with MyVax, if it is approved. In addition, researchers are continually learning more about NHL
and other forms of cancer, and new discoveries may lead to new technologies for treatment. As a result, My Vax, or
any other immunotherapies that we may develop, may be rendered obsolete and noncompetitive at any time.

We depend on single source suppliers for critical raw materiais for manufacturing, as well as other components
required for the administration of MyVax. The loss of these suppliers could delay our clinical trials or prevent or
delay commercialization of MyVax.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment (except for the building shells capitalized under Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF)
Issue No. 97-10, The Effect of Lessee Involvement in Asset Construction (“EITF 97-10"") — see Note 6) are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization, Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the assets. Fixed assets are depreciated over a life of three to five years. Leasehold
improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the improvement, or the
lease term, if shorter. Any funds received from our landlord as tenant improvement allowances are treated as a
reduction of rent expense over the life of the lease and are not treated as a reduction of the cost of the leasehold
improvement. Upon retirement or sale, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the balance
sheet and the resulting gain or loss is reflected in operations. Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as
incurred.

EITF 97-10 is applied to entities involved with construction of an asset that will be leased when the
construction project is completed. EITF No. 97-10 required us to be considered the owner (for accounting purposes
only) of these types of projects during the construction period. Subsequent to construction, the Company did not
qualify for sale-leaseback accounting. Therefore, the building shells have remained on the financial statements. We
have recorded the fair value related to building the two building shells that the Company leases as a fixed asset, with
a corresponding lease financing obligation (see Note 6). Depreciation of the building shells are recognized in the
financial statements.

Certain laboratory and computer equipment used by us could be subject to technological obsolescence in the
event that significant advancement is made in competing or developing equipment technologies. Management
continually reviews the estimated useful lives of technologically sensitive equipment and believes that those
estimates appropriately reflect the current useful life of our assets. In the event that a currently unknown
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significantly advanced technology became commercially available, we would re-evaluate the value and estimated
useful lives of our existing equipment, possibly having a material impact on the financial statements.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses consist of costs incurred for internally sponsored research and devel-
opment. These costs include direct and research-related overhead expenses and clinical trials that are charged to
expense as incurred.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs were not material for all periods presented.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

Long-lived assets to be held and used are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable, or its estimated useful life has changed
significantly, Long-lived assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value
less cost to dispose.

Stock-based Compensation

During the first quarter of fiscal 2006, we adopted the provisions of, and began to account for stock-based
compensation in accordance with, the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB™) Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123 — revised 2004 (“SFAS 123R”), “Share-Based Payment,” which replaced State-
ment of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (“SFAS 123™), “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” and
supersedes Accounting Principles Board APB Opinion No. 25 (“APB 257), “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.” Under the fair value recognition provisions of this statement, stock-based compensation cost is
measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis
over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. We transitioned to SFAS 123R using the
modified-prospective method, under which prior periods have not been revised for comparative purposes. The
valuation provisions of SFAS 123R apply to new grants and 1o grants that were outstanding as of the effective date
and are subsequently modified. Estimated compensation for grants that were outstanding as of the effective date will
be recognized over the remaining service period using the compensation cost previcusly estimated for our SFAS 123
pro forma disclosures. :

We have adopted various stock plans that provide for the grant of stock option awards to employees, non-
employee directors and consultants. We also have an employee stock purchase plan (the “ESPP”) which cnables
employees to purchase our common stock. Equiry-based compensation that we amortized and expensed related to
stock option and ESPP awards for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, was approximately
$5.2 million, $0.3 million and $1.0 million, respectively. Equity-based compensation expense was recognized under
SFAS 123R only for the year ended December 31, 2006. See Note 10 for further information regarding our stock-
based compensation assumptions and expenses, including pro forma disclosures for prior periods as if we had
recorded stock-based compensation expense.

Income Taxes

We use the liability method to account for income taxes as required by SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for income
Taxes.” Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial
reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, and are measured using enacted tax rules and laws that will be in
effect when differences are expected to reverse.

73




GENITOPE CORPORATION
(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE ENTERPRISE)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Segment Reporting

We operate in one segment, drug discovery and development, using one measurement of profitability to
manage our business, in accordance with SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information.” All long-lived assets are maintained in the United States.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006, FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”), “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax
positions, FIN 48 requires that we recognize in our financial statements, the impact of a tax position, if that position
is more likely than not of being sustzined on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. The provisions of
FIN 48 are effective as of January 1, 2007, with the cumulative effect, if any, of the change in accounting principle
recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting FIN 48
on our financial statements, but do not expect this to have a material impact on gur financial position, resulis of
operations or cash flows.

In September 2000, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 157 (“SFAS 157"), “Fair Value Measurements.”
SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting
principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This Statement applies to other accounting
pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements, the FASB having previously concluded in those
accounting pronouncements that fair value is the relevant measurement attribute. Accordingly, SFAS 157 does not
require any new fair value measurements. However, for some entities, the application of SFAS 157 will change
current practice. The provisions of SFAS 157 are effective as of January 1, 2007. We are currently evaluating the
impact of SFAS 157, but do not expect the adoption of SFAS 157 to have a material impact on our financial positton,
results of operations or cash flows.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No, 108,
(“SAB 108™), which provides guidance on quantifying and evaluating the materiality of unrecorded misstatements.
SAB 108 is effective for annual financial statements covering the first fiscal year ending after November 153, 2006,
with earlier application encouraged for any interim period of the first fiscal year ending after November 15, 2006,
filed after the publication of SAB 108 (September 13, 2006).

On February 15, 2007. the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilitics (SFAS 159).
The statement provides companies with an option to report selected financial assets and liabilities at fair value,
SFAS 159 also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements to facilitate comparisons between companies
using different measurement attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities. The statement is effective as of the
beginning of the first fiscal year that begins after November 15, 2007. Earlier adoption is permitted provided the
company also elects to apply the provisions of SFAS 157, Fair Value Measurement. We are currently evaluating the
impact that this standard may have on our financial statemenls.

NOTE 2 — NET 1.085 PER SHARE

Basic net loss per share attributable to common stockhelders is calculated based on the weighted-average
number of shares of common siock outstanding during the period, excluding those shares that are subject to
repurchase. Diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders would give effect to the dilutive effect of
potential issuances of common stock consisting of stock options, warrants, and common stock subject to
repurchase. Dilutive securities have been excluded from the diluted net loss per share computations as they have
an antidilutive effect due to our net loss.
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A reconciliation of shares used in the calculation is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):
Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Numerator:
Net loss attributable to common stockholders . . ............. $(48,912) $(30,424) $(27,026)
Dénominator:
Weighted average common shares outstanding . .. ........... 35,082 28,281 20,717
Less: Weighted average unvested common shares subject to

repurchase . ... .. ...t e (1) (10} (34)
Denominator for basic and diluted calculations . .. ... ........ 35,081 28,271 20,683
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic

and diluted. . ... ... e $ (139 § (.08 § (1.3h)

The following outstanding stock options and warrants, common stock subject to repurchase and convertible
preferred stock (on an as-if-converted basis) were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders as they had an antidilutive effect {in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Shares issuable upon exercise of stock options. .. ............ ... 3,871 2684 1577
Shares issuable upon exercise of warrants ... ... ... . ..o ... 267 267 267
Shares issuable related to ESPP. ... ... ... ... ... ... ... . . 39 — 4
Common stock subject torepurchase. . . ...... ... ... .. .. . 1 3 18

4,178 2954 1,866

NOTE 3 — RESTRICTED CASH AND MARKETABLE SECURITIES

As more fully discussed in Note 6, we have two outstanding letters of credit related to the construction of our
new manufacturing facility and corporate headquarters. At December 31, 2006, these letters of credit were
collateralized by $8.6 million of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities held in one of our investment
accounts. As we proceed with the build-out and the payment of the construction costs, these collateralized assets
will decrease in proportion to the payments made. In addition, we have a $1.0 million certificate of deposit that
serves as collateral against two other letters of credit related to the lease of our new facilities. Both the investment
account and the certificate of deposit have been classified as “Restricted cash and marketable securities” in the
accompanying balance sheet (note that the restricted cash amount is approximately $94,000, which is not included
below in the analysis of marketable securities). '
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As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, all of our marketable securities (restricted and unrestricted) were
considered 1o be available-for-sale, as we may not hold them until maturity, The following is a summary of our
available-for-sale marketable securities as of December 31, 2006 (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Certificate of deposit ... ... ... ... .. ..., $ 1,000 $— $— $ 1,000
Corporate bonds. .. ........cvoviviu s, 21,473 29 (28) 21,474
U.S. government and agency securities . .. ... .. .. 20,162 — {9) 20,153
Total available-for-sale marketable securities. . . . .. $42,635 $29 $(37) $42,627
The following table summarizes the maturities of our investments at December 31, 2006:
Amortized
Cost Fair Value
. Lessthan One Year . .. .. .ottt e e e, . $ 9,073 $ 9,071
Duein [-5 years ... .. ..o e e 27,144 27,144
Due in 5-10 ¥ears . .. ... ..ot e e e 1,175 1,169
Due after LO years . . .. ..o e 5,243 5,243
' $42,635  $42.627

The following is a summary of our available-for-sale marketable securities. restricted and unrestricted, as of
December 31, 2005 (in thousands);

Gross Gross
Amuortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Certificate of deposit . ... ........ ... ... .... $ 1,000 $— $ — $ 1,000
Corporate bonds. . .. ............. .. ........ 36,299 7 (91) 36,215
U.S. government and agency securities. . ........ 43411 = (237) 43,174
Total available-for-sale marketable securities. . . ... $80,710 $§7 $(328) $80,389

Realized gains and losses from the sales of marketable securities for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2005 were not significant.
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NOTE 4 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2006 2005
Leasehold improvements . . . ... ... . .. i i e e $ 67,139 § 3,361
Building shells {(in accordance with EITF 97-10 —see Note 6) ........... 21,144 —
Computer and laboratory equipment .. ........... ... vt ..n. 10,286 5,342
Furniture and fiXtures . . ... ... . .. .. e e e 1,308 230
Construction in PrOZIEsS . . .. .. v vt it it et e it e 1,630 27,586
101,507 36,519
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization ... .................. (8,028) (5,154)

$ 93,479  $31,065

As more fully discussed in Note 6, in May 2005 we entered into leases for our new manufacturing facility and
corporate headquarters. Construction in progress includes capital costs incurred in the construction activities related
to the remaining build-out costs of one of these two buildings as of December 31, 2006, and included capital costs
incurred in the construction activities related to the design and build-out of both buildings as of December 31, 2005.
The capitalized interest as of December 31, 2006 included as part of the building shells amounts to $1.7 million.

Depreciation expense, including amortization of assets under capital leases and leasehold improvements, was
32.7 million, $1.1 million, $0.8 million and $8.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, 2004, and
the period from August 15, 1996 (date of inception) to December 31, 2006, respectively.

NOTE 5 — ACCRUED AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued and other current liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2006 2005

Construction in progress related . ... ... v tn e i i $1,077  $1,843
Accrued salaries and BORUS . . . . . . . L e e 1,164 840
Other accrued compensation and benefits .. ............. ... ... ... ... ... 1,107 703
Professional fees. . . ... ... e 115 250
Clinical trials . . .. . ... . e 530 178
Other . . . e 821 314

34814 $4.128

NOTE 6 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

In May 2005, we entered into two agreements (the “Lease Agreements”) to lease an aggregate of approx-
imately 220,000 square feet of space located in two buildings at the Ardenwood Technology Park in Fremont,
California for our new manufacturing facility and corporate headquarters. The term of each of the leases is
15.5 years and each lease will terminate in November 2020. The Lease Agreements include two five-year options
for us to extend the terms of the leases. In addition, we have a three-year option to lease additional space on adjacent
property.
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In December 2005, we entered into a Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement (the “Reimbursement
Agreement”) and related Security Agreement (“Security Agreement”) with a commercial bank that provides for the
issuance of four letters of credit, described below as the “Rent Letters of Credit” and the “Construction Letters of
Credit.” These Letters of Credit were provided to secure certain rental and construction obligations under the lease
and construction agreements for our new manufacturing facility and corporate headquarters.

Contemporaneously with the execution of the Lease Agreements, we also entered into two construction
agreements to provide for the build-out of the two-building campus. As part of the construction agreemenis, the
landlord will provide us a tenant improvement allowance of approximately $26.3 million to be applied towards the
construction of the two buildings. Prior to the commencement of construction, we were required under the
construction agreements to provide an irrevocable unconditional letter of credit equal to the difference between the
total estimated construction costs and the improvement allowance, which difference was estimated to be approx-
imately $34.0 million. As of December 31, 2005, two letters of credit had been provided to the landlord in the
aggregate amount of $34.0 million (the “Construction Letters of Credit’) that were issued pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the Reimbursement Agreement. As of December 31, 2006, the aggregate amount of the two
Construction Letters of Credit has been decreased to $7.5 million to reflect the build out and payment of
construction costs by Genitope. The Construction Letters of Credit will expire on May 30, 2009, though it is
expected that these Letters of Credit will be cancelled in 2007 after the construction is complete. Pursuant to the
terms of the Security Agreement, the Construction Letters of Credit are being collateralized by cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities held in a Genitope bank/investment account totaling approximately
$8.6 million as of December 31, 2006. As we proceed with the build-out and the payment of the construction
costs, the collateralized assets and restricted cash will continue to decrease in proportion to the payments made.

The Lease Agreements provided for rent holidays for the first five and one-hall months and an initial monthly
basic rent of $2.35 per square foot, with scheduled annual rent increases of 3% over the lease term. Due to the
application of EITF 97-10 (see below), only the accounting treatment for the ground rent was impacted by the rent
holidays during the first five and one half months of the Lease Agreements. The deferred rent recorded during the
second and third quarters of 2005 was offset in the fourth quarter of 2005 and was zero as of the year ended
December 31, 2005.

We are responsible for approximately 55% of the construction costs for the tenant improvements and, under
EITF No. 97-10, are deemed, for accounting purposes only, te be the accounting owner of the project and the
“building shells,” even though we are not the legal owner. Upon the commencement of the lease in May 2005, we
capitalized the estimated fair value of the building shells of $19.4 million, which was recorded as a fixed asset as of
December 31, 2006 at a value of $21.1 million including the capitalized interest, and was recorded as construction
in progress as of December 31, 2005 at a value of $20.2 million including the capitalized interest. The related
liability was recorded as a lease financing liability on the accompanying balance sheet. In accordance with
EITF 97-10, the portion of the lease related to ground rent is being recorded as an operating leasc expense. As a
result of being considered the owner for accounting purposes, build-out costs reimbursed by the landlord will
increase the lease financing liability, and the non-interest portion of the amortized lease payments to the Landlord
related to rent of the building shells will decrease the lease financing liability. During the year ended December 31,
2006, the lease financing liability increased by $22.6 million due to landtord reimbursements, $1.1 million due to a
receivable from the Landlord booked as of December 31, and $0.3 million for capitalized interest, offset somewhat
by a decrease of $3.3 millicen due to lease payments made to the landlord in excess of the ground rent being recorded
and in excess of the $1.1 miilion portion of the payments attributable to interest related to debt amortization post
construction. Build-out costs paid by Genitope will be capitalized consistent with our standard policy.

Upon completion of construction, in accordance with SFAS No. 98, “Accounting for Leases”, the building and
improvement assets are being depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. We will continue to account
for the land lease (ground rent) separately as an operating expense. The balance of the lease payments related to the
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building shells is being charged as interest expense and reductions to the lease financing liability, whereas the
repayment period pertaining to the lease financing liability reductions represents a reasonable time period and does
not result in a loss on the transfer of the shells and the leasehold improvements back to the Landlord at the end of the
lease term.

The Lease Agreements required us to provide a $2.0 million security deposit, of which $1.0 million was in the
form of cash and $1.0 million was in the form of a letter of credit. In September 2005, we paid a cash security
deposit to the landlord of $1.0 million and as of December 31, 2006, we have provided two letters of credit to the
landlord in the aggregate amount of $1.0 million (the “Rent Letters of Credit™). The Rent Letters of Credit will
expire on January 29, 2021. Pursuant to the terms of the Security Agreement, the Rent Letters of Credit are
collateralized in the same amount by a certlﬁcate of deposit held in a Genitope bank account (see Nnte 3)."

.

The Relmbursement Agreement contains customary afﬁrmauve and negative covenants and other resmctlons
In addition, the Reimbursement Agreement contains customary events of default, including the following:
nonpayment of fees or other amounts; 'violation*of covenants; incorrectness of representations and warranties
in any material.respect; cross default and cross acceleration; bankruptcy; material judgments; invalidity of security;
and change in management; and events having a.material adverse effect on the business, assets, liabilities or
condition of Genitope. If an event of default occurs and is continuing, the bank may cause all amounts outstanding

under the Reimbursement Agreement at that time to becpme“i’mmediately due and payable. .

In addition to the above, we sublease space under one non-cancelable operating lease with terms through
February 2007. The future minimum payments under all leases, mcludmg lease payments for the two buildings, as
of December 31, 2006 are as follows {in thousands)

L " Leases

Year Ending December 31 1 ¢

C2007 L. e P Lo 8 6434
2008 ... .. S [ PR 6,585
2000 .\t e . 6783
000 .. PR U O L. 6986
0] 1 LR N 7,196
Thereafter ...................... e e e e e _ 74,495
Total mlmmum lease payments. P P $108 479

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, and the perlod from August 15, 1996
(date of inception) to December 31, 2006 was $3.9 million, $2.3 millicn, $0.7 million and $10.6 million
respectively. : . ‘ e

We are, and from time to time in the future may again be, engaged in legal proceedings incidental to our normal
business activities. Management believes that liabilities resulting from current proceedings, or claims that are
pending or known Lo be threatened, are adequately covered by liability insurance or third-party indemnification and
will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations. .

Indemnification - . 7 S T

We enter into indemnification provisions under our agreements with other companies in the ordinary course of
business, including business partners, contractors and parties performing our clinical trials. Pursuant to these
arrangements, we indemnify, hold harmless, and agree to reimburse the indemnified parties for losses suffered or
incurred by the indemnified party as a result of our activities. The terms of these indemnification agreements vary
from contract to contract. The maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make under
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Stock options granted under the 1996 Plan were either incentive stock options or nonstatutory stock options.
Incentive stock options were granted to employees with exercise prices of no less than 100%, and nonstatutory
options were granted to employees, directors, or consultants at exercise prices of no less than 85%, of the fair value
of the commeon stock on the date of grant. If, at the time we granted a stock opticn, the optionee owned or was
deemed to own stock possessing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of our capital
stock, the option price was at least 110% of the fair value and was not exercisable more than five years after the date
of grant, Options were granted with vesting terms as determined by the Board of Directors, which was generally
four years, with 25% vesting upon the first anniversary of the grant date, and the balance vesting ratably each month
over a 36-month period. Except as noted above, options expire no more than 10 years after the date of grant or earlier
if employment is terminated.

Stock options granted under the 1996 Plan included a provision whereby the holder may elect at any time whiie
an employee, director, or consultant to exercise the option as to any part or all of the shares subject to the option prior
to the full vesting of the option. Any unvested shares so purchased are subject to repurchase by us at the option
exercise price. As of December 31, 2006, approximately 1,115 shares of common stock were subject to repurchase.

2003 Equity Incentive Plan

The 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Incentive Plan”) was adopted in August 2003 and became effective upon
the closing of our IPO. The Incentive Plan will terminate when our Board of Directors terminates the plan. The
Incentive Plan provides for the grant of nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock awards, stock appreciation
rights, phantom stock and other forms of equity compensation, which may be granted to employees, including
officers, non-employee directors and consultants. At January 1, 2007, the Incentive Plan authorized the issuance of
up to 7,559,218 shares of common stock upon the exercise of options under the plan, which includes the increase of
1,802,634 shares on January 1, 2007 as described below. Under the terms of the Incentive Plan, authorized shares
are automatically increased anndally on January st of each year until 2013, by 5% of the number of shares of
common stock outstanding on such date; however, our Board of Directors has the authority to designate a smaller
number of shares. Options to purchase an aggregate of 3,273,212 shares of common stock were outstanding under
the Incentive Plan as of December 31, 2006. '

Nonstatutory options may be granted at exercise prices of no less than 85% of the fair market value of the
common stock, which is determined by reference to the closing sales price as quoted on the Nasdaq Global Market
on the last trading day prior to the date of grant. If, at the time we grant an option, the optionee owns or is deemed to
own stock possessing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of our capital stock, the
option price shall be at least 110% of the fair market value and shall not be exercisable more than five years after the
date of grant. Options granted generally vest over four years, with 25% vesting upon the first anniversary of the
grant date, and the balance vesting ratably each month over a 36 month period. Except as noted above, options
expire no more than 10 years after the date of grant or earlier if employment is terminated.

2003 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan

The 2003 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan (the “Directors’ Plan™) was adopted in August 2003
and became effective upon the closing of our IPO. The Directors’ Plan provides for the automatic grant of
nonstatutory stock options to purchase shares of common stock to our non-employee directors. At January 1, 2007,
the Directors’ Plan authorized the issuance of up to 432,333 shares of common stock upon exercise of options under
the plan, which includes the increase of 50,000 shares on January 1, 2007 as described below. Under the terms of the
Directors’ Plan, authorized shares are automatically increased annually on January st of each year unti] 2013, by
the number of shares of common stock subject to options granted during the-prior calendar year; however, the Board
of Directors has the authority to designate a smaller number of shares. Options to purchase an aggregate of
273,000 shares of common stock were outstanding under the Directors’ Plan as of December 31, 2006.
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building sheils is being charged as interest expense and reductions to the lease financing liability, whereas the
repayment period pertaining to the lease financing liability reductions represents a reasonable time period and does
not result in 2 loss on the transfer of the shells and the leasehold improvements back to the Landlord at the end of the
lease term.

The Lease Agreements required us to provide a $2.0 million security deposit, of which $1.0 million was in the
form of cash and $1.0 million was in the form of a letter of credit. In September 2005, we paid a cash security
deposit to the landlord of $1.0 million and as of December 31, 2006, we have provided two letters of credit to the
landlord in the aggregate amount of $1.0 million (the “Rent Letters of Credit”). The Rent Letters of Credit will
expire on January 29, 2021. Pursuant to the terms of the Security Agreement, the Rent Letters of Credit are
collateralized in the same amount by a certificate of deposit held in a Genitope bank account (see Note 3).

The Reimbursement Agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants and other restrictions.
In addition, the Reimbursement Agreement contains cusiomary events of default, including the following:
nonpayment of fees or other amounts; “violation of covenants; incorrectness of representations and warranties
in any material respect; cross default and cross acceleration; bankruptcy; material judgments; invalidity of security;
and change in management; and events having a.material adverse effect on the business, assets, liabilities or
condition of Genitope. If an event of default occurs and is continuing, the bank may cause all amounts outstanding
under the Reimbursement Agreement at that time to become immediately due and payable.

In addition to the above, we sublease space under one non-cancelable operating lease with terms through
February 2007. The future mirimum payments under all leases, mcludmg lease payments for the two buildings, as
of December 31, 2006 are as follows (in thousands):

__Leases

Year Ending December 31: .

2007 . e e e e $ 6434
2008 e 6,385
2009 e e e e e e e 6,783
2010 e 6,986
2000 ...l e e e e e 7,196
Thereafter ... .. . 74,495
Total minimum lease PaAYMENntS . . . . .. cu v v i e e $108,479

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, and the period from August 15, 1956
(date of inception) to December 31, 2006 was $3.9 million, $2.3 million, $0.7 million and $10.6 million
respectively.

We are, and from time to time in the future may again be, engaged in legal proceedings incidental to our norinal
business activities. Management belicves that liabilities resulting from current proceedings, or claims that are
pending or known to be threatened, are adequately covered by liability insurance or third-party indemnification and
will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.

Indemnification

We enter into indemnification provisions under our agreements with other companies in the ordinary course of
business, including business partners, contractors and parties performing our chnical trials. Pursuant to these
arrangements, we indemnify, hold harmless, and agree to reimburse the indemnified parties for losses suffered or
incurred by the indemnified party as a result of our activities. The terms of these indemnification agreements vary
from contract to contract. The maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make under

79




GENITOPE CORPORATION
(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE ENTERPRISE)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

these agreements is not determinable. We have never incurred costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to
these indemnification agreements. As a result, we believe the estimated fair vatue of these agreements is minimal.
We maintain commercial general liability and product liability insurance to offset certain of our potential liabilities
under these indemnification provisions.

NOTE 7 — CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK (“PREFERRED STOCK”)

Our certificate of incorporation, as amended and restated, authorizes us to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of
preferred sfock, with a par value of $0.001, in one or more series. Our Board of Directors may authorize the issuance
of preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the
holders of the common stock. The issuance of preferred stock, while providing flexibility in connection with
possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could, among other things, have the effect of delaying, deferring
or preventing a change in control and may adversely affect the market price of our common stock and the voting and
other rights of the holders of our commeon stock. Upon closing of our initial public offering in November 2003, all of
the outstanding convertible preferred stock automatically converted into common stock at a one-to-one ratio. As of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, no shares of preferred stock were issued and outstanding.

NOTE 8 — LINES OF CREDIT, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND WARRANTS

On October 31, 2006, we entered into a loan and security agreement (the “Master Security Agreement”) with
General Electric Capital Corporation (“GECC™), under which GECC agreed to extend 1o us a line of credit for the
purchase of computer, laboratory and manufacturing equipment in an amount up to a maximum of $6.7 million, to
be financed through March 31, 2007. We have agreed to provide 25% of the funded loan amount as a cash security
deposit. As of December 31, 2006, $1.7 million has been recorded as the current portion due under the credit line
and $3.6 million has been recorded as the noncurrent portion due under the credit line. Approximately $5.5 million
was borrowed in two draws against the line of credit during the fourth quarter of 2006. and the Company could use
the remaining $1.2 million in the first quarter of 2007 to finance the purchase of additional equipment for the build-
out of our new manufacturing facility in Fremont, California. Approximately $5.3 million was outstanding against
the line of credit as of December 31, 2006, and additional borrowings under the line of credit can be made against
qualified purchases of eligible equipment through March 31, 2007. These borrowings are to be secured by the
equipment purchased and repaid over 36 months. The draws against the line of credit are structured as promissory
notes with the interest rate fixed at the time of each draw. The promissory note for the first borrowing on October 31,
2006 1s repayable over 36 months and bears a fixed interest rate of 10% per annum and the promissory note for the
second borrowing on December 22, 2006 is repayable over 36 months and bears a fixed interest rate of 9.88% per
annum, Repayments of our borrowings under this line of credit will be as follows for each year ending December 31,
2007 — $1.6 million; December 31, 2008 — $1.8 million; December 31, 2009 — $1.9 million.

In April 2003, we entered into a note and warrant purchase agreement pursuant to which convertible notes (the
“Notes™) and warrants (the “Warrants”) were issued to existing preferred stockholders. We received $4.3 million in
cash in exchange for the Notes bearing interest at 8% per annum and the Warrants to purchase approximately
285,000 shares of Series E (or an equal number of shares of common stock if converted after a qualified public
offering) for an exercise price of $4.50 per share. The difference between the conversion price and the fair market
value of the common stock on the commitment date (transaction date) resulted in a beneficial conversion feature
recorded on the convertible debt of $3.1 million. The Warrants were assigned an initial value of $1.2 million,
estimated using the Black-Scholes Model, and were classified as equity. The Warrants became exercisable upon
stockholder approval, which was obtained in August 2003, and would have expired in five years. The initial values
assigned to both the Notes and the Warrants were allocated based on the relative fair values of the Notes and
Warrants. The discount on the Notes for the beneficial conversion feature and Warrants were being amortized, using
the effective interest method, to interest expense over the stated term of the Note, which was six months.
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In connection with the line of credit facilities discussed below, on August 29, 2003 upon receipt of stockholder
approval of an amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizing shares of Series F preferred stock,
pursuant to agreements we entered into with the holders of the Notes and Warrants, the Notes and the accrued
interest thereon automatically converted into 978,000 shares of Series E preferred stock at a conversion price of
$4.50 per share and the Warrants were cancelled. As a result, we recorded a loss of $3.5 million, on the
extinguishment of the Notes and cancellation of the Warrants, in the accompanying statement of operations for
the year ended December 31, 2003.

In August 2003, we entered into two line of credit facilities for an aggregate of $8.0 million with a financial
institution. In connection with the line of credit facilities, we entered into an agreement with a stockholder, who is
also a member of the Board of Directors and acting as a guarantor on the line of credit facilities, to issue a warrant to
the guarantor. The warrant was to purchase 533,333 shares of Series F convertible preferred stock at an exercise
price of $4.50 per share, which, upon the closing of the initial public offering became exercisable for 266,666 shares
of common steck at an exercise price of $2.00 per share. As of December 31, 2006, this warrant remains
outstanding. The warrant expires in August 2008, During October and November 2003, we repaid all outstanding
debt under these two line of credit facilities. In November 2003, we terminated these two line of credit facilities,

NOTE 9 — COMMON STOCK

Our certificate of incorporation, as amended and restated, authorizes us to issue 65,000,000 shares of
$0.001 par value common stock. Certain shares issued are subject to a right of repurchase by us, subject to
vesting, which is generally over a four-year period from the issuance date until vesting is complete.

Since 1996, we have completed several rounds of private and public equity financing. In 2002, the sale of
Series E convertible preferred stock generated $20.7 million of cash proceeds. In April and May of 2003, we raised
$6.5 million through the sale of additional Series E convertible preferred stock, convertible notes (which converted
into Series E convertible preferred stock during the quarter ended September 30}, 2003) and warrants. '

In November 2003, we sold 4,179,860 shares of common stock in an initial public offering for aggregate gross
proceeds of $37.6 million. After deducting the underwriters’ commission and offering expenses, we received net
proceeds of $33.7 million.

In June 2004, we completed a follow-on offering in-which we sold 7,013,646 shares of common stock at a
public offering price of $8.50 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of $59.6 million. After deducting the
underwriters’ commission and offering expenses, we received net proceeds of approximately $55.7 million.

In December 2004, we completed a private placement in which we sold 4,250,000 shares of common stock at
an offering price of $14.25 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of $60.6 million. After deducting the. placement
agent’s fee and offering expenses, we received net proceeds of approximately $57.3 million.

In February 2006, we completed an underwritten public offering under our effective shelf registration
statement in which we sold 7,360,000 shares of common stock at a public offering price of $8.50 per share for
aggregate gross proceeds of $62.6 million. After deducting: the underwriters’ commission and estimated offering
expenses, we received net proceeds of approximately $58.4 million.

NOTE 10 — STOCK OPTION PLANS AND OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
1996 Stock Option Plan

The 1996 Stock Option Plan (the “1996 Plan™) was adopted in November 1996 and provides for the issuance of
stock options. The 1996 Plan terminated on October 31, 2006. The 1996 Plan authorized the issuance of up to
1,665,500 shares of common stock upon the exercise of options under the plan. Options to purchase an aggregate of
324,176 shares of common stock remained outstanding under the 1996 plan as of December 31, 2006.
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Stock options granted under the 1996 Plan were either incentive stock options or nonstatutory stock options.
Incentive stock options were granted to employees with exercise prices of no less than 100%, and nonstatutory
options were granted to employees, directors, or consultants at exercise prices of no less than 85%, of the fair value
of the common stock on the date of grant. If, at the time we granted a stock option, the optionee owned or was
deemed to own stock possessing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of our capital
stock, the option price was at least 110% of the fair value and was not exercisable more than five years after the date
of grant. Options were granted with vesting terms as determined by the Board of Directors, which was generally
four years, with 25% vesting upon the first anniversary of the grant date, and the balance vesting ratably each month
over a 36-month period. Except as noted above, options expire no more than 10 years after the date of grant or earlier
if employment is terminated.

Stock options granted under the 1996 Plan included a provision whereby the holder may elect at any time while
an employee, director, or consultant to exercise the option as to any part or all of the shares subject to the option prior
to the fuil vesting of the option. Any unvested shares so purchased are subject to repurchase by us at the option
exercise price. As of December 31, 2006, approximately 1,115 shares of common stock were subject to repurchase.

2003 Equity Incentive Plan

The 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Incentive Plan”) was adopted in August 2003 and became effective upon
the closing of our IPO. The Incentive Plan will terminate when our Board of Directors terminates the plan. The
Incentive Plan provides for the grant of nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock awards, stock appreciation
rights, phantom stock and other forms of equity compensation, which may be granted to employees, including
officers, non-employee directors and consultants. At Januvary 1, 2007, the Incentive Plan authorized the issuance of
up to 7,559,218 shares of common stock upon the exercise of options under the plan, which includes the increase of
1,802,634 shares on January 1, 2007 as described below. Under the terms of the Incentive Plan, authorized shares
are automatically increased annually on January 1st of each year until 2013, by 5% of the number of shares of
common stock outstanding on such date; however, our Board of Directors has the authority to designate a smaller
number of shares. Options to purchase an aggregate of 3,273,212 shares of common stock were outstanding under
the Incentive Plan as of December 31, 2006.

Nonstatutory options may be granted at exercise prices of no less than 85% of the fair market value of the
common stock, which is determined by reference to the closing sales price as quoted on the Nasdaq Global Market
on the last trading day prior to the date of grant. If, at the time we grant an option, the optionee owns or is deemed to
own stock possessing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of our capital stock, the
option price shall be at least 110% of the fair market value and shall not be exercisable more than five years after the
date of grant. Options granted generally vest over four years, with 25% vesting upon the first anniversary of the
grant date, and the balance vesting ratably each month over a 36 month period. Except as noted above, options
expire no more than 10 years after the date of grant or earlier if employment is terminated.

2003 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan

The 2003 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan (the “Directors’ Plan”) was adopted in August 2003
and became effective upon the closing of our IPO. The Directors’ Plan provides for the automatic grant of
nonstatutory stock options to purchase shares of common stock to our non-employee directors. At January 1, 2007,
the Directors’ Plan authorized the issuance of up to 432,333 shares of common stock upon exercise of options under
the plan, which includes the increase of 50,000 shares on January 1, 2007 as described below. Under the terms of the
Directors’ Plan, authorized shares are automatically increased annually on January 1st of each year until 2013, by
the number of shares of common stock subject to options granted during the prior calendar year; however, the Board
of Directors has the authority to designate a smaller number of shares. Options to purchase an aggregate of
273,000 shares of common stock were outstanding under the Directors’ Plan as of December 31, 2006.
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Upon completion of our initial public offering, each non-employee director was automatically granted an
option to purchase 25,000 shares of common stock, (“the initial grant”). Any new non-employee director thereafter
will automatically be granted the initial grant upon being elected to the board of directors. In addition, each non-
employee director will automatically be granted an option to purchase an additional 10,000 shares of common stock
on the day following our annual stockholders meeting, the annual grant. Each non-employee director who has been
adirector for less than 12 months will receive an annual grant that has been reduced pro rata for each quarter prior to
the date of grant during which such person did not serve as a non-employee director.

Stock options under the Directors’ Plan are granted at exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the
common stock, which is the closing sales price as quoted on the Nasdaq Global Market on the last trading day prior
to the date of grant. Initial grants and annual grants vest in 36 equal monthly installments over three years. No option
granted under the directors’ plan may be exercised after the expiration of 10 years from the date it was granted.

2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The 2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP") was adopted in August 2003 and became effective
upon the closing of our IPO. The Board of Directors may suspend or terminate the ESPP at any time. Unless
terminated earlier, the ESPP will terminate at the time that all of the shares of common stock reserved for issuance
under the plan have been issued under the terms of the plan. At January 1, 2007, the ESPP provided for the issuance
of 764,000 shares of common stock, which includes an increase of 166,000 shares on January 1, 2007 as described
below. Under the terms of the ESPP, authorized shares will be automatically increased on the first day of each fiscal
year until 2023, by the lesser of 166,666 shares or 1.5% of the number of shares of common stock outstanding on
that date; however, our Board of Directors has the authority to designate a smaller number of shares by which the
authorized number of shares of common stock will be increased on that date. The ESPP is intended to qualify as an
employee stock purchase plan within the meaning of Section 423 of the Code. As of December 31, 2006,
367,083 shares of common stock had been purchased under the ESPP.

The ESPP permits employees to purchase our common stock through payroll deductions of up to 15% of the
participant’s earnings, or through a single lump sum cash payment in the case of the first offering period, subjectto a
maximum annual contribution of $25,000. The first offering began on the effective date of the initial public offering
and ended approximately 24 months later in October 2005 with purchases occurring every six months. After the
initial 24-menth offering, the ESPP continued with successive six-month offering periods. In February 2007, the
Board amended the Offering under the ESPP (o provide for a 24-month offering period with purchases occurring
every six months. The price of common stock purchased under the ESPP is equal to the lower of 85% of the fair
market value of a share of our common stack at the beginning of the offering period or at the end of the offering
period.

401(k) Savings Plan

On January 1, 1998, we began a 401(k) savings plan (the “401(k) plan”). The 401(k) plan is a defined
contribution plan intended to qualify under Section 401(a) and 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. All of our
full-time and eligible part-time employees are eligible to participate pursuant to the terms of the 401(k) plan.
Contributions by us are discretionary, and we have not made any contributions for all periods presented.
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Stock-based Compensation

QOur stock option activity on a combined basis for all plans is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Options Outstanding

Weighted Average
Exercise Price per

Share

Number of

Shares
Options granted . .. . ........... JR 13
Balances at December 31,1996 .. ... ....... ... .. .. ... ..... i3
Options granted . . .. ...... e e e 159
Options exercised . ........ ...ttt (10)
Optionscanceled . . . ... .. it i i e e __(89)
Balances at December 31, 1997 . . . .. .. ... ... L. 73
Options granted . . . ...... .. ... e, IS B5
Optionscanceled . . ....... ... .. ... . ... .. . i .. _ 5
Balances at December 31,1998 .. . ... ... ... ... .. ... ... ... 153
Options granted . . . ... ... .. e e e 77
Options exercised ... ....... ... . ... . . i, 2)
Optionscanceled . . ....... .. .. oo _ 3
Balances at December 31,1999 . . . . . ... ... .. ... ... ... . ..., 225
Options granted . ... ... . ... . e e 213
Options exercised .. ... ... ... .. e (10)
Optionscanceled . . .. ... ... .. ... . . e (6)
Optionsexpired. . ...... ... .. i i __ (D
Balances at December 31,2000 ... ......................... 421
Options granted . . . .. . ... ... .. ... . 258
Options exercised ... ... ... ... . . e (365)
Optionscanceled . ... ... . ... .. ... .. .. . ... ... . ... .. ... (69)
Options expired . . ... ... ... e e (3
Balances at December 31,2001 . ........................... 211
Options granted . . . ... ... ... . .. e e 396
Options exercised .. ... ... ... ... ... .. (171)
Optionscanceled . . ......................... e (39)
Optionsexpired . . . ..., .t i i e _ @
Balances at December 31,2002 . ... ... ... ... ... ... ...... 395
Options granted . . . ... ... ... .. 767
Options exercised . ...... ... ... it ininannnn 99)
Optionscanceled . . ...... ... ... .. . i i, {99)
Optionsexpired . .. ... . i _ @
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$ 015

$ 015
$ 021
3015
$ 015

$ 028
$ 051
$ 0.50

$ 040
$ 0.60
$ 045
$ 047

$ 047
5 1.08
$ 0.21
$ 0.60
$ 0.60

$ 078
$1.20
$ 0.88
$ 0.66
$0.71

$1.18
$ 149
5119
5121
$1.20

5 1.48
b 4.28
$ 179
$ 1.95
$ 173
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Options Outstanding

Weighted Average
Number of  Exercise Price per

Shares Share
Balances at December 31,2003 . .. .. ... ... ... ... ... ... ... 962 $ 3.66
Options granted . . . .. .. .. 907 $10.26
Options exercised ....... ... ... ... i (89) $ 191
Options canceled . .. ... .t (198) $ 450
Oplions expired . . . .. ...t e (5) $12.26
Balances at December 31,2004 . ... ............ccvvurrr--. 1,577 $ 742
Options granted . . ... . ... i e e 1,498 $12.18
Options exercised . ... .. .. i e (148) $ 242
Options canceled . . ... ... .. ... e (243) $ 8.67
Balances at December 31,2005 . ... ............. ... ... ..... 2.684 $10.24
Options granted . ... .. ... .ot e e 1,670 $ 6.62
Options exercised .. ... .. ... . 47) $ 2.37
Options canceled . .. ... .. ... .. e {437) $ 996
Balances at December 31,2006 .. ......... ... ... .. .. ..... 3,870 $ 8.80

During the first quarter of fiscal 2006, we adopted the provisions of, and began to account for stock-based
compensation in accordance with, SFAS 123R. Under the fair value recognition provisions of this statement, stock-
based compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized an
expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. We
transitioned to SFAS 123R using the modified-prospective method, under which prior periods have not been revised
for comparative purposes. The valuation provisions of SFAS 123R apply to new grants and to grants that were
ouistanding as of the effective date and are subsequently modified. Compensation for grants that were outstanding,
as of the effective date will be recognized over the remaining service period using the compensation cost previously
estimated in our SFAS 123 pro forma disclosures.

Equity-based compensation that we amortized and expensed related to stock option and ESPP awards for the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were $5.2 million, $0.3 million and $1.0 million, respectively.

Stock-based compensation expense recognized during the period is based on the value of the portion of share-
based payment awards that is ultimately expected to vest during the period. Recognized stock-based compensation
expense includes compensation expense for share-based payment awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of
December 31, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the pro forma provisions of
SFAS 123 for options granted after our [PO. Compensation expense for the share-based payment awards granted
subsequent to December 31, 2005 are based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions
of SFAS 123R, The estimated fair value of our equity-based awards, less expected forteitures, is amortized over the
awards’ vesling periods on a straight-line basis. In our pro forma information required to be disclosed under
SFAS 123 for the periods prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for forfeitures as they occurred.

We currently use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options and ESPP
shares. The determination of the fair value of stock-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-
pricing model is affected by our stock price as well as by assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective
variables. These variables include our expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards, actual and
projected employee stock option exercise bebaviors, risk-free interest rate and expected dividends.
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Because there is insuffictent historical information available to estimate the expected term of the stock-based
awards, we adopted the simplified method for estimating the expected term pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 107 (“SAB 107"). On this basis, we estimated the expected term of options granted by taking the
average of the vesting terrn and the contractual term of the option. We estimate the volatility of our common stock
by using historical volatility, with an assessment of reasonableness through a review of the volatility of comparable
companies. We base the risk-free interest rate that we use in the option valuation model on U.S. Treasury zero-
coupon issues, with remaining terms similar to the expected term on the options, We do not anticipate paying any
cash dividends in the foreseeable future, and therefore, use an expected dividend yield of zero in the option
valuation model. We are required to estimate forfeitures at the time of grant and revise those estirnates in subsequent
periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. We use historical data to estimate pre-vesting option
forfeitures and record stock-based compensation expense only for those awards that are expected to vest. All stock-
based payment awards are amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards, which
are generally the vesting periods.

The determination of the value of each option and employee stock purchase right has been estimated at the date
of grant, using the Black-Scholes Model, assuming the following weighted-average assumptions:
Empleyee Stock

- Employee Stock Options Purchase Plan
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
Weighted-average per share estimated fair
value .. ... . o e $3.87 $12.13  $1026 $1.79 $6.65 $3.47
Expected term inyears. . .. ............. 6.25 4.00 4.00 0.49 0.77 0.79
Volatility .. ....... ... ... . .. .. 57% 65% 76% 61% 61% 64%
Risk-free interestrates . .. .............. 48% 384% 3.30% 4.75% 3.10% 133%

Total stock-based compensation (excluding the impact of pre-IPO options accounted for under
APB 25) detailed by classification recognized in our statement of operations related to the adoption of SFAS 123R
for the year ended December 31, 2006 is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended

December 31,
2006
Statement of Operations Classification
Research and development . . ... ... . ... .. . . .. . . . . e 52,093
Sales and marketing . . . .. .. .. ... .. 279
General and administration . .. ... ... ... . . i e e 2,811
Total . e e e e $5,183
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Total stock-based compensation recognized in our statements of operations related to the adoption of
SFAS 123R for the year ended December 31, 2006 is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended
December 31,
206
Increase in operating expenses due to adoption of SFAS 123R . .................. $5,183
Increase in loss from operations due to adoption of SFAS 123R ... ............... 5,183
Increase in net loss attributable to common stockholders due to adoption of
SFAS 123R . . e e e e e $5,183
Increase in basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders. . . $ 0.15

There was no impact on taxes and no impact on cash flow from the adoption of SFAS 123R in the year
December 31, 2006.

Periods prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for stock-based employee compensation arrangements in accordance
with provisions of APB 25 and complied with the disclosure provisions of SFAS 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, Transition and Disclosure.” Under APB 25, deferred stock-based
compensation is based on the difference, if any, on the date of grant, between the fair value of our common stock and
the exercise price of stock option grants to employees. Stock-based compensation expense was recognized under
APB 25 for options granted prior to the closing of our IPQO, based upon the intrinsic value.

During the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, we issued stock options under the plans at exercise
prices below the deemed fair value of our common stock at the date of grant. Accordingly, for stock options issued
to employees, we have recorded deferved stock-based compensation representing the difference between the
deemed value of the common stock for accounting purposes and the option price at the date of the option grant. This
deferred stock-based compensation is presented as a reduction of stockholders’ equity and is amortized to expense
over the vesting period, which is generally four years. Compensation expense is decreased in the period of forfeiture
for any accrued but unvested compensation arising from the early termination of an option holder’s services. For
stock options issued to non-employees, generally fur services, the estimated fair value of the options was
determined using the Black-Scholes Model. As the non-employee fulfils the terms of the option relating to the
continued service to us, we revalue the remaining unvested options, with the changes in fair value from period to
period being recognized through compensation expense.

On January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS 123R using the modified-prospective method, except for options
granted prior to our IPQ, for which the fair value was determined using the minimum value method. Estimated
compensation for non-vested grants that were outstanding as of the effective date will be recognized over the
remaining service period using the compensation cost previously estimated for our SFAS 123 pro forma disclosures
(excluding pre-IPO options). Recognized stock-based compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2006
includes compensation expense for share-based payment awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of
December 31, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the pro forma provisions
of SFAS 123 and compensation expense for the share-based payment awards granted subsequent to December 31,
2005 based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R (excluding pre-
IPO options). The stock-based compensation expense for the pre-IPO options continues to be recognized under
APB 25.

The modified prospective transition method of SFAS 123R requires the presentation of pro forma information
for periods presented prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R regarding net loss and net loss per share as if we had
accounted for our stock options under the fair value method of SFAS 123. If compensation expense had been
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determined based upon the fair value at the grant date for employee compensation arrangements, consistent with the
methodotogy prescribed under SFAS 123, our pro forma net loss and pro forma net loss per common share under
SFAS 123 for the years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004 would have been as shown in the
following table. For the purpose of this pro forma disclosure, the estimated value of the stock awards is recognized
on an accelerated basis over the vesting periods of the awards (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended Drecember 31,
2005 2004
Net loss attributable to common stockholders, asreported ... .......... .. $(30,424) $(27,026)
Add: Employee stock-based compensation included in reported net
CAIMIMES « o o v v v et v e e e et e e et a e e e e 162 980
Deduct: Employee total stock-based compensation determined under fair
value method . ... oot e e e (6,904) (3,616)
Adjusted net loss attributable to common stockholders. .. .. ... ... ..o L $(37,166) $(29,662)
Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:
ASTEpOred . . ... e $ (1.08) 3% (L.31)
Adjusted . . e $ (L3 § (143

Pro forma disclosures for the year ended December 31, 2006 are not presented because stock-based employee
compensation was accounted for under SFAS 123R s fair-value method during this period. Additionally, the stock-
based employee compensation determined under the fair-value method for the years ended December 31, 2005 and
December 31, 2004 have been adjusted to exclude the effect of the options granted prior to our IPO in October 2003,
as those options were valued for pro forma disclosure purposes using a minimum value method. The weighted-
average fair values of stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2005 was $12.18 per stock option.
For the year ended December 31, 2005, the total intrinsic value of options exercised during the period was
$0.8 million, and the total fair value of shares vested during the period was $2.1 million. The intrinsic value as of
December 31, 2005 is calculated as the difference between the market value as of December 31, 2005 of the shares
of common stock to be issued upon exercise of the stock option and the exercise price of the stock option, The
market value of a share of our common stock as of December 31, 2005 was $7.95 per share as reported by the
Nasdaq Global Market.

General Stock Option Information —

The following table sets forth the summary of option activity for the year ended December 31, 2006:

Options Number of Weighted
Available Options Average
for Grant  Qutstanding  Exercise Price

(In thousands)

Beginning of period. . . ... ... ... ... ... . L. **4 226 2,684 $10.24
Granted. , . ... ... e (1,670) 1,670 6.62
Exercised . ... ...t i e e —_ (47) 2.37
Canceled. . ... . i e 367 (367) 9.58
Expired. . ... .. .. ... ... .. 70 70) 11.92
Plan Shares Expired from 1996 Plan .................. (402) = —
Endofperiod ............. .. ... i 2,591 3,870 $ 8.80

Number of options vested or expected to vest as of December 31, 2006 was equal to approximately
3,423 thousand.
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The weighted average per share fair value of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2006 was
$6.62. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2006 was negligible. The
intrinsic value as of December 31, 2006 is calculated as the difference between the market value as of December 31,
2006 of the shares of common stock to be issued upon exercise of the stock option and the exercise price of the stock
option. The market value of a share of our common stock as of December 29, 2006 was $3.52 as reported by the
Nasdaq Global Market. The total fair value of shares vested during the year ended December 31, 2006 was
$1.0 million. The total fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31,
2004 was 32.1 million and $4.8 million, respectively.

** Includes 1.473 million shares of common stock automatically added to the Incentive Plan reserves on January 1,
2006 in accordance with the provisions of the Incentive Plan.

The following table sets forth the summary of our unvested shares under our stock option plans for the year
ended December 31, 2006:

Weighted
Number of Average
Unvested Grant-Date

Shares Fair Value
(In thousands)
“Unvested at December 31,2005 . . . ... .. .vvorre et 1,878 $11.04
Granted . ... ... e e e e 1,670 6.62
Vested . o e (825) 4.42
Forfeited . .. ... ... . .. .. _(367) 9.58
Unvested at December 31, 2006 . .. .......c0 it 2,356 8.44

As of December 31, 2006, there was approximately $5.1 miltion of total stock-based compensation expense,
after estimated forfeitures, related to unvested employee stock options, which is expected to be recognized over an
estimated weighted average amortization peried of 2.6 years. No amounts related to stock-based compensation
expense have been capitalized. The tax benefit, and the resulting effect on cash flows from operations and financial
activities, related to stock-based compensation expense were not recognized as we currently provide a full valuation
allowance for all of our deferred tax assets.
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Information regarding stock option awards outstanding at December 31, 2006 is summarized below:

Weighted
Average Weighted Aggregate
Number Remaining’ Average Intrinsic
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding  Contractual Life Exercise Price Value
. (In thousands)
$045— 292 633,830 8.02 years $ 2.50 $647
$ 297— 352 29,167 6.64 years 2.97 16
$353— 797 608,052 9.26 years 6.84 —
$ 8.00— 8.00 : 434,645 9.32 years 8.00 —
5 8.06 — 9.50 389,095 8.71 years 3.69 -—
$ 9.55— 997 461,233 7.49 years 9.81 —
$10.15—12.33 387.251 8.09 years 11.96 —
$12.50 — 12.50 587,133 8.25 years 12.50 —
$12.60 — 15.51 265,000 7.57 years 13.95 —
$15.87 — 15.87 75,000 8.02 years 15.87 —
$ 045—15.87 3,870,406 8.37 years 8.80 $663

The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding as of December 31, 2006 was approximately $0.7 million.

Information regarding stock option awards exercisable at December 31, 2006 is summarized below:

Number Weighted Aggregate

Vested and Average Intrinsic
Range of Exercise Prices Exercisable Exercise Price Value

(In thousands)

$045— 292 274,282 3 1.98 $422
$297— 352 12,500 2.97 7
$353— 197 72,056 7.20 —_
$ 8.00— 8.00 75,472 8.00 —
$ 8.06 — 9.50 113,450 8.92 —
$ 9.55— 997 301,802 9.81 —
$10.15—12.33 197,738 11.96 —
$12.50 — 12.50 249,556 12.50 —
512.60 — 15.51 180,312 13.54 —
$15.87 — 15.87 37,500 15.87 -
$ 045 —15.87 1,514,668 9.37 $429

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercisable as of December 31, 2006 was approximately $0.4 million,
The weighted average remaining contractual life of all options exercisable as of December 31, 2006 was 7,57 years.
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NOTE 11 — INCOME TAXES

For each of the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 our net losses were entirely attributable to
domestic operations. A reconciliation of income taxes at the statutory federal income tax rate to net income taxes
included in the accompanying statements of operations is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
"U.S. federal taxes (benefit) at statutory rate . ................ $(16,630)  $(10,344) $(9,189)
Unutilized net operating losses. . . ............ ... ........ 16,500 10,207 9,002
Stock-based compensation . . ... ... ... L _ 113 9% . 178
Other. . . 17 41 . 9
Total . ... oo [ 3 — § — 5 —

As of December 31, 2006, we have federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $161.2 million,
which expire beginning in the year 2011, if not utilized. We have state net operating losses carryforwards of
approximately $20.1 million which began to expire in 2007. We also have federal and state research and
development tax credit carryforwards of approximately $5.3 million and $5.7 million, respectively. The federal
research and development tax credits will begin to expire in the year 2011, and state research and development tax
credits have no expiration date. We also have a California Manufacturers’ Investment Credit of $0.1 million, which
began to expire in 2007.

Utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards and credits may be subject to a substantial anaual limitation
due to an ownership change as provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and similar state
provisions. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of net operating losses and credits before utilization.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounis used for income tax purposes. Significant
components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, ’

2006 2005
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards. ... ..., ... . i i, $ 56,009 § 40,294
Research credits .. . ... ... . o e e 9,170 6,821
Capitalized research . . ... ... ... . . . 7,836 4110
Reserves and accruals. . . . . ... . e . 2,238 823
Depreciation and amortization. .. .. ... ... .. e 7,067 1,029
Total deferred tax assels . . .. .. it 82,320 53,077
Valuation allowance . . ... ..t (82,3200 (53,077
Net deferred 12X assels - o .o vttt e e e s b — 3 —

Inctuded in the valuation allowance balance is $0.6 million related to the exercise of stock options that have not
been reflected as an expense for financial reporting purposes. Accordingly, any future reduction in the valuation
allowance relating to this amount will be credited directly to equity and not reflected as an income tax benefit in the
statement of operations.

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings. Management believes that, given our
historical cumulative losses and the uncertainty regarding future profitability, it is more likely than not that the
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deferred tax assets will not be utilized. Accordingly, a full valuation allowance has been recorded for all periods
presented. The valuation allowance increased by $29.2 million, $14.1 million and $12.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

NOTE 12 — STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

During 2006, we identified errors relating to classifications in the cash flows from the investing activities
section of our statements of cash flows for the years ending December 31, 2005 and 2004. The historical statements
of cash flows contained classification errors from incorrectly reporting purchases, sales and maturities of short-term
investments. These classification errors resulted in. previously reported purchases of investments being overstated,
with an equal and offsetting overstatement of sale and maturities, but had no impact to net cash flows from investing
activities. As a result, line items in cash flows from investing activities in the accompanying statements of cash
flows for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 have been adjusted from amounts previously reported to
reflect our correction of these errors. In addition, we adjusted the amount of capitalized building shells and related
interest previously reported in the supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities for the year
ended December 31, 2005. The effect was to increase the amount previously reported by $790,000.

The following tables provide a summary of the effects to the accompanying statements of cash flows for the
years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004 for the adjustments to cash flows from investing activities.

Statement of Cash Flows As Originally Effect of
Year Ended December 31, 2005 Reported As Adjusted Change

(In thousands)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of marketable securities . . ................ $(256,244)  $(145,107) $ 111,137
Sales of marketable securities .. .. ........... .. ..., 86,716 80,803 (5,913)
Maturities of marketable securities . .., ............. 184,095 78,871 (105,224)
Net cash used in investing activities .............. $ 14,567 $ 14567 § —
Statement of Cash Flows As Originally Effect of
Year Ended December 31, 2004 Reported As Adjusted Change

(In thousands)
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of marketable securities . . ................. $(159,772)  $(129,658) § 30,114
Sales of marketable securities. . . ........... .. -..... 22,173 12,731 (9,442)
Maturities of marketable securities . . ................ 81,083 60,411 (20,672}

Net cash used in investing activities ............... $ (56,516) § (56,516) $ —

NOTE 13 — QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following table presents certain unaudited quarterly financial information for the eight quarters ended
December 31, 2006. In management’s opinion, this information has been prepared on the same basis as the audited
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financial statements and includes all adjustments necessary to present fairly the unaudited quarterly results of
operations set forth herein,

First Second Third + Fourth
2006 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(In thousands, except per share data)
Netloss .......0 . o i $(10,862) $(11,810) $(11,940) $(14},3OO)
Basic and diluted net loss per share . . ........... $ (033 $ (033) $ (033 $ (040)
Shares used in computation of basic and diluted net
loss pershare. . ............. e 32,466 35,873 35,922 36,011
First Second Third Fourth
2005 ' Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
s {In thousands, except per share data)
Net1oSS . o 0o v e e e e $(6,996) $(7,532) $(7,133) $(8.763)
Basic and diluted net loss per share ............. . $ 025 $ @027 $ (025 §$ (03D
Shares used in computation of basic and diluted net
losspershare .. ... ... ... ... . .. i, 28,176 28,228 28,250 28,384
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), defines the term
“disclosure controls and procedures™ as those controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required
to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to the company’s management , including its principal executive and principal
financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
(“CEO™) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), we conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and
procedures, as defined under Rule 13a-15(e). In performing this evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that
our disclosure controls and procedures were effective, as of December 31, 2006. Management has concluded that
the financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K present fairly, in all material respects, our
financial position and results of operation and cash flows for the periods presented in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act). The Company’s internal
control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect
on the interim or annual consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies
or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our CEO and CFO our management assessed the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006. In making
this assessment, management used the criteria established in Inrernal Control — Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”).

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a
remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or
detected. In connection with the assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, the
Company’s management has concluded that the Company did maintain effective internal controi over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the COSO.
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Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm,
as stated in their attestation report which appears herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31,
2006 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.

Not applicable.

PART I11

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE,

Information required by this item concerning our executive officers, directors, audit committee and audit
committee financial expert will be contained under the captions “Executive Officers and Key Employees,”
“Election of Class [ Directors,” “Information Regarding the Board of Directors and Corporate Governance™
and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our definitive proxy statement with respect to
our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year
ended December 31, 2006 (the “Proxy Statement™), and is hereby incorporated by reference herein. Cerain
information required by this item concerning our executive officers is contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
under Part 1, Item 1. “Business — Executive Officers of the Registrant” and incorporated in this Item 10 by
reference.

In 2003, we adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (“Code™) that applies to all of our directors,
officers and employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting
officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. We have posted the text of our Code on our website at
www.genitope.com in connection with “Investor” materials. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under
Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of this Code by posting such
information on our website, at the address and location specified above. We may also file a Form 8-K with the SEC
to disclose this information. In addition, we intend to promptly disclose (1) the nature of any amendment to our
Code that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or
controller, or persons performing similar functions and (2) the nature of any waiver, including an implicit waiver,
from a provision of our Code that is granted to one of these specified officers, the name of such person who is
granted the waiver and the date of the waiver on our website in the future. You may also request a copy of the Code
by contacting our investor relations department at IR@genitope.com.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

Information required by this item will be contained in the Proxy Statement under the captions “Compensation
Discussion and Analysis,” “Election of Class [ Directors,” “Executive Compensation,” and “Compensation
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” and is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

Information required by this item will be contained in the Proxy Statement under the captions “Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information™ and is
hereby incorporated by reference herein.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE. ' ’

Information required by this item will be contained in the Proxy Statement under the captions “Transactions
with Related Persons™ and “Information Regarding the Board of Directors and Corporate Governance” is hereby
incorporated by reference herein.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES.

Information required by this item will be contained in the Proxy Statement under the caption “Principal
Accountant Fees and Services” and is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
(a) The following documents are being filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

(1) Financial Statements. The following financial statements of Genitope Corporation and the Reports
of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm and PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are included in Part II, Item 8:

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (Deloitte & Touche LLP) ............... 58
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP) .. ......... 60
Balance Sheets . . o ottt e e e 61
Statements of OPErations . .. ... .ttt e e e e e 62
Statements of Stockholders” Equity (Deficit) .. . ... ... ... .. . . 63
Statements of Cash Flows . .. . ... i e e e e 67
Notes to the Financial Statements . . . .. ... .. ... ... .. e 70

(2) Financial Statement Schedules. All financial statement schedules are omitted because the infor-
mation is inapplicable or presented in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

(3) Exhibits. The list of exhibits on the Index to Exhibits on pages 98 through 100 is incorporated
herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the
Registrant has duly caused this report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized, in the City of Fremont, State of California, on March 14, 2007.

GENITOPE CORPORATION

By:/s/ Dan W. Denney, Jr.

Dan W, Denney, Ir.
Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Know All Persons by these Presents, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and
appoints Dan W. Denney Jr., Ph.D. and John M. Vuko, and each of them, as his tree and lawful attorneys-in-fact
and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all
capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this report on Form 10-K, and
to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, full power and authority to do and perform
each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and
purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent,
or his substitutes or substitute, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report on Form 10-K has
been signed by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and of the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
f/s/ DAN W. DENNEY, JR. Chief Executive Officer and Director March 14, 2007
Dan W. Denney, Jr. (Principal Executive Officer)
/s JOHN M. VUKO Chief Financial Officer March 14, 2007
John M. Vako (Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer)

/s/ GORDON D. DENNEY Director March 14, 2007
Gordon D. Denney

/s/ GREGORY ENNIS Director March 14, 2007
Gregory Ennis

/s/ STANFORD C. FINNEY Director March 14, 2007
Stanford C. Finney

fs/ RONALD GOODE Director March 14, 2007
Ronald Goode

/si WILLIAM A. HASLER Director March 14, 2007
William A. Hasler
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Number

3.1
32
4.1
42

43
4.4
10.1

10.2*
10.3*

10.4*

10.5%
10.6
10.7

10.8
10.9
10.10

10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Genitope Corporation.(1)
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Genitope Corporation.(2)
Specimen Common Stock Certificate.(2)

Investor Rights Agreement, dated August 29, 2003, by and among Registrant and certain investors named
therein.(2)

Series F Warrant, dated August 29, 2003, between the Registrant and Stanford C. Finney.(2)
Reference is made to Exhibit 3.1 and Exhibit 3.2,

Form of Indemnity Agreement entered into by Registrant with each of its directors and certain executive
officers.(2)

1996 Stock Option Plan and form of related agreements.(2)

2003 Equity Incentive Plan and Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2003 Equity Incentive
Plan.(2)

2003 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan and Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement
under the 2003 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan.(2)

2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and Form of 2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plan Offering.
Sublease, dated August 3, 1999, between Regen Biologics, Inc. and the Registrant.(2)

Second Amendment to Sublease, dated October 1, 2000, between Regen Biologics, Inc. and the
Registrant.(2)

Third Amendment to Sublease, dated May 16, 2003, between Regen Biologics, Inc. and the Registrant.(2)
Lease, dated April 10, 1996, between Metropolitan Life Insurance Company and Regen Biologics, Inc.(2)
Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement, dated December 15, 2005, between the Registrant and
Comerica Bank.(3)

Security Agreement, dated December 15, 2003, between the Registrant and Comerica Bank.(3)
Lease, dated March 10, 2005, between Metropolitan Life Insurance Corporation and the Registrant.(4)
Sublease, dated as of June 22, 1997, between Genelabs Technologies, Inc. and the Registrant.(2)

Fourth Amendment to Sublease Agreement, dated November 30, 2002, between Genelabs Technologies,
Inc. and the Registrant.(2)

Industrial Net Lease, dated July 29, 1986, between Lincoln Property Company N.C., Inc. and Genelabs
Technologies, Inc.(2)

Lease Agreement, dated May 16, 2005, between the Registrant and John Arrillaga Survivor Trust and
Richard T. Peery Separate Property Trust for premises located at 6900 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont,
California.(5)

Construction Agreement, dated May 16, 2005, between the Registrant and John Arrillaga Survivor Trust
and Richard T. Peery Separate Property Trust for premises located at 6900 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont,
California.(5)

Lease Agreement, dated May 16, 2005, between the Registrant and John Arrillaga Survivor Trust and
Richard T. Peery Separate Property Trust for premises located at 6800 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont,
California.(5)

Construction Agreement, dated May 16, 2005, between the Registrant and John Arrillaga Survivor Trust

and Richard T. Peery Separate Property Trust for premises located at 6800 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont,
California.(5)

Standard Form of Agreement (AlA Document Al121) between Registrant and XL Construction
Corporation, dated January 17, 2006, along with the general conditions of the agreement for the
building located at 6800 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont, California.(6)

Standard Form of Agreement (AIA Document A121) between Registrant and XL Construction
Corporation, dated January 17, 2006, along with the general conditions of the agreement for the
building located at 6900 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont, California.{(6)

98




Exhibit
Number Description

10.2
10.2

2*  Summary of 2006 Management Incentive Compensation Plan.(7)
3* Compensation Arrangements for Non-Employee Directors of the Registrant.(8)

10.24* Compensation Information for Named Executive Officers.(7)

10.2

10.2

10.2

10.2

5  Underwnting Agreement, dated as of February 7, 2006, by and among the Registrant and WR
Hambrecht & Co., LLC, RBC Capital Markets, .Brean Murray Carret & Co., LLC and Punk, Ziegel
and Company.(9) .

6  Master Security Agreement dated as of October 31, 2006, by and among Registrant and General Electric
Capital Corporation.{10)

7  Promissory Note dated October 31, 2006 issued by Registrant to General Electric Capital
Corporation.(10)

8  Security Deposit Pledge Agreement, dated October 31, 2006, by and among Registrant and General
Electric Capital Corporation.(10) '

10.29  Fourth Amendment to Sublease dated May 25, 2006, between Regen Biologics, Inc. and Genitope

Corporation.(11)

10.30  Amendment No. | dated June 27, 2006, to the Standard Form of Agreement (AlA Document Al21)

10.3

10.3

10.3

10.3

23.1

24.1
311
31.2
321

*

1.

between Genitope Corporation and XL Construction Corporation, dated December 19, 2005 for the
building located at 6900 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont, California.(12)

1 Amendment No. 1 dated June 27, 2006, to the Standard Form of Agreement (AIA Document Al121)
between Genitope Corporation and XL Construction Corporation, dated December 19, 2005 for the
building located at 6800 Dumbarten Circle, Fremont, California.(12)

2 Promissory Note dated December 22, 2006 issued to General Electric Capital Corporation.(13)

3 Security Deposit Pledge Agreement dated December 22, 2006 by and among the Registrant and General
Electric Capital Corporation.(13)

4* Severance Agreement dated December 22, 2006 by and between the Registrant and Bonnie
Charpentier.(13)

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Power of Attorney (contained on signature page)

Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)

Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of Genitope Corporation, as
required by Rule [3a-14(b) or 15d-14(b) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States
Code (18 U.S.C.1350)

Management contract or compensatory plan.

Filed as an Exhibit to Genitope Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-128357), as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 16, 2005, and incorporated herein by
reference.

Filed as an Exhibit to Genitope Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-107719}, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 6, 2003, as amended, and incorporated herein by
reference.

Filed as an Exhibit to Genitope Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on December 19, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an Exhibit to Genitope Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 9, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an Exhibit to Genitope Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securittes and
Exchange Commission on August 8, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.
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10.

11.

13.

12.

Filed as an Exhibit to Genitope Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on January 20, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an Exhibit to Genitope Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 3, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.

. Filed as an Exhibit to Genitope Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on June 6, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an Exhibit to Genitope Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on February 7, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.,

Filed as an Exhibit to Genitope Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on November 3, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an Exhibit to Genitope Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 31, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an Exhibit to Genitope Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on July 3, 2006, and incorperated herein by reference.

Filed as an Exhibit to Genitope Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on December 29, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.
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STOCK PRICE PERFORMANCE GRAPH!

The following graph shows the total stockholder return of an investment of $100 in cash on October 30, 2003,
the date of the commencement of trading in the Company’s initial public offering for (i) the Company’s common
stock, (i1} the NASDAQ Composite Index, and (iii) the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index. All values assume
reinvestment of the full amount of all dividends and are calculated as of December 31 of each year. No dividends
have been declared on the Company’s Common Stock.

The stockholder return on the following graph below is not necessarily indicative of future performance, and
the Company does not make or endorse any predictions as to future stockholder returns.

COMPARISON OF 38 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Genitope Corporation, The NASDAQ Composite Index
And The NASDAQ Biotechnology Index
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* $100 invested on 10/30/03 in stock in index-including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.

'“The material in this section is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed “filed” with the SEC and is not
1o be incorporated by reference into any filing of Genitope under the Securittes Act of 1933, as amended, or
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespec-
tive of any general incorporation language in any such filing, except to the extent that Genitope specifically
incorporates it by reference into such filing”
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This onemus! report contains, “forwortHociing™ stotements, nchuding without Emitation, o statements relating o the progiess of out research, develogment a:d diniced programs, the potenia! of persoralized immumotheragy, the tanitg of the results of our pivezal Phase 3 ctnical trial, the tming of
submission of n Biolagix License Appfcaton fos My¥ax® parsoncized immurotheropy to the Food cnd Drug Admickstration, he develapment af o pipeins of navel thesapis, our trsntformation into u commecal enterpeise, the limizg o ¢ iofirston of MyVax® p [ thery
uuwnthuhnmmham’mwmwdmbp,:Iwmuunenrnfmmmlmnlmthodvmied.mw the timing f the fitng of en IND and the ccmmescement of cEnical tris, qad rhe potential fot MV personalized isunothercpy o be used wirh one of cur monaclonal ontbedies
provide o chemothercyy-hee regimen for the neatmeat of KHL. These forwordHooking siatements ore generaly identdied by words such o5 “bebeves,” “uricsates,” "plans,” “pxpects,” “w. " “intends” und other sy words v expressioes. These lowaHooking statemests e hesed vpon au
expectations. ForwnrHooking Tavolve risks ond Dwurmdmwﬁurunmnimts(w'dHfummr’dyhnmIhnsemuz';nztdi!lﬂhlmd-lwliwnmummurenﬂtafﬂme:hbmdwmms.ﬂﬁhm,wm&:mxﬁhrﬂn:admﬂu;r
timizg end restdss of ovr dnicol riaks, difficeities or detays in obtuining reguliory opocerval, manefocuing of MyVos® Persancized Immumathenyy, reZcctyal peeperty matters, comperition fiom afber phemaceusitol e bintechnelogy cempontes, the riks of groath ord dependence on key pen
and other ks detaed in oxr T5ng with the Securities ord Exchangs Commission, inchuding out Anrwol Report on Fom 10K Tor the ot ended Decerrbes 31, 2006, You aze costioned Aot fo place undue reforce o these forweriooking satemans, which speak ordy o of the date of this
forworteoking simtements cre guetfied in their entety by this crtionary statemert, ond Gerétope enderfokes oo obigation 1o revise of update o forwerdHooking statements to refledt events o ccumstances alter the date beveal.
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